
1

COUNCIL SUMMONS

To Members of the Metropolitan Borough Council

Dear Councillor

You are requested to attend a Meeting of the Sefton Metropolitan Borough Council to 

be held on Thursday 3rd March, 2022 at 6.30 pm at the Golden Miller Suite, 
Aintree Racecourse to transact the business set out on the agenda overleaf.

Yours faithfully,

Chief Executive

Town Hall,
Southport

Wednesday 23 February 2022

Please contact Paul Fraser, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
on 0151 934 2068 or e-mail paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk

See overleaf for COVID Guidance and the 
requirements in relation to Public Attendance.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



2

COVID GUIDANCE IN RELATION TO PUBLIC ATTENDANCE

In light of ongoing Covid-19 social distancing restrictions, there is limited 

capacity for members of the press and public to be present in the meeting 

room indicated on the front page of the agenda at any one time.  We 

would ask parties remain in the meeting room solely for the duration of 

consideration of the Committee report(s)  to which their interests relate.

We therefore request that if you wish to attend the Committee to please 

register in advance of the meeting via email to 

Debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk and paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk by no 

later than 12:00 (noon) on the day of the meeting.
 

Please include in your email –

 Your name;

 Your email address;

 Your Contact telephone number; and

 The details of the report in which you are interested.

In light of current social distancing requirements, access to the meeting 

room is limited.

We have been advised by Public Health that Members, officers and 
the public should carry out a lateral flow test before attending the 
meeting, and only attend if that test is negative. Provided you are not 
classed as exempt, it is requested that you wear a mask that covers 
both your nose and mouth.

mailto:Debbie.campbell@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk


3

A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting room, including from 
the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item 
of business in which he/she has an interest, except where 
he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a 
dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting room, including 
from the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an interest or whether 
the Member can remain in the meeting or remain in the 
meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

3.  Minutes of Previous Meeting
Minutes of the meeting held on 20 January 2022

(Pages 7 - 18)

4.  Mayor's Communications

Public Session

5.  Matters Raised by the Public
To deal with matters raised by members of the public 
resident within the Borough, of which notice has been given 
in accordance with the procedures relating to public 
questions, motions or petitions set out in Paragraph 36 to 47 
of the Council and Committee Procedure Rules in Chapter 4 
of the Council Constitution.

(Details of any petitions notified or questions submitted by 
members of the public will be circulated at the meeting).

Council Business Session

6.  Questions Raised by Members of the Council
To receive and consider questions to Cabinet Members, 
Chairs of Committees or Spokespersons for any of the Joint 



4

Authorities upon any matter within their portfolio/area of 
responsibility, of which notice has been given by Members of 
the Council in accordance with Paragraph 49 to 51 of the 
Council and Committee Procedure Rules, set out in Chapter 
4 of the Council Constitution.

7.  Annual Review of Asset Management Strategy and Asset 
Disposal Policy
Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

(Pages 19 - 
52)

8.  Prudential Indicators 2022/23
Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

(Pages 53 - 
66)

9.  Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022/23
Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

(Pages 67 - 
100)

10.  Capital Strategy 2022/23 to 2026/27
Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

(Pages 101 - 
118)

11.  Robustness of the 2022/23 Budget Estimates and the 
Adequacy of Reserves – Local Government Act 2003 - 
Section 25
Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

(Pages 119 - 
138)

12.  Revenue and Capital Budget Plan 2022/23 – 2024/25 and 
Council Tax 2022/23
Report of the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services

(Pages 139 - 
186)

13.  Adoption of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy and Business Plan
Report of the Head of Operational In-House Services

(Pages 187 - 
234)

14.  Membership of Committees 2021/22
To consider any changes to the Membership of any 
committees etc.

15.  Motion Submitted by Councillor Irving - Tree 
Preservation Orders - Removal of Trees for Financial 
Gain

(Pages 235 - 
236)



5

16.  Motion Submitted by Councillor Ian Maher - Merseyside 
Fire and Rescue Service

(Pages 237 - 
238)

17.  Motion Submitted by Councillor Thomas - Policy of 
Mandatory Disability Pay Gap Reporting

(Pages 239 - 
240)

18.  Motion Submitted by Councillor Pugh - Outcome of 
Levelling Up Bids

(Pages 241 - 
242)

19.  Motion Submitted by Councillor Hardy - Elections Bill (Pages 243 - 
244)

20.  Motion Submitted by Councillor Roscoe - The Real Truth 
Legacy Project and Hillsborough Day

(Pages 245 - 
246)

21.  Motion Submitted by Councillor Wilson - A Fair Deal for 
Lydiate, Maghull and Aintree - Return the Double Rating 
Rebate to the Town and Parish Councils

(Pages 247 - 
248)

22.  Motion Submitted by Councillor Carr - Worker's Rights - 
Licensed Private Hire Operator UBER

(Pages 249 - 
250)



This page is intentionally left blank



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL-IN”

68

COUNCIL

MEETING HELD AT THE GOLDEN MILLER SUITE, AINTREE 
RACECOURSE

ON  20 JANUARY 2022

PRESENT: The Mayor, Councillor Carragher (in the Chair)
Councillors Atkinson, Bradshaw, Brough, Cummins, 
Dowd, Doyle, Dutton, Evans, Fairclough, Grace, 
Hardy, Howard, Irving, Lappin, Ian Maher, Moncur, 
Myers, Prendergast, Pugh, Robinson, Roscoe, 
John Sayers, Shaw and Veidman

79. WELCOME 

The Mayor welcomed Members, Officers and Members of the Public to the 
Council Meeting at Aintree Racecourse.

The Mayor advised that following discussions with the Director of Public 
Health it was considered that the current scale of Covid-19 infection in 
Sefton justified the need to meet in a larger, easier to distance venue such 
as Aintree Racecourse.

Many Councillors had also expressed concern about their own personal 
safety and this had contributed to the decision to hold the meeting at 
Aintree Racecourse.  The Mayor stated that the Director of Public Health 
had advised her that:

 There still remained a high rate of infection in Sefton at circa 
1,000/100,000 and over 2500 still contracting Covid in the last 7 
days 

 There were approximately 250 Council and School staff absent 
from work because they had Covid. This dramatic increase in rates 
had been driven by the spread of the highly infectious Omicron 
variant; and that Omicronwas now the dominant strain of Covid-19

 Thankfully our vaccines were protecting us from severe Covid-19 
disease.  However, even vaccinated individuals could catch and 
transmit Covid-19; and the scale of infections meant that we were 
still sadly seeing admissions to hospital.

The Mayor continued that she appreciated that there had been some 
criticism about meetings being held at Aintree, but again the Council would 
be utilising Government funding for Covid-19 to pay for the room hire. On 
balance it was believed that we were protecting Councillors, staff and 
supporting the NHS and our communities by limiting the risks of spreading 
Covid-19 and she hoped that this decision was understood.

The Mayor indicated that in the usual way she would be obliged if 
Members would observe social distancing measures and should any 
Member or officer need to move away from their designated area she 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 20TH JANUARY, 2022

69

kindly requested that a face covering was worn; and that if a Member 
wished to speak could they please indicate in the normal way and a 
member of staff would bring a microphone to them. 

Finally, the Mayor advised that hand sanitizers were provided for use by 
attendees; and that she hoped that all attendees had taken a lateral flow 
test prior to their attendance at the Council Meeting and which had 
produced a negative result.  

80. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bennett, 
Blackburne, Brodie-Browne, Burns, Byrom, Carlin, Carr, Cluskey, 
Corcoran,  D’Albuquerque, Dodd, Friel, Halsall, Hansen, Jones, John 
Kelly, John Joseph Kelly, Sonya Kelly, Killen, Lewis, Christine Maher,  
McGinnity, McKinley, Morris,  Murphy, O’Brien, Page, Riley, Roche, 
Sathiy, Yvonne Sayers, Spencer, Thomas, Anne Thompson, Lynne 
Thompson, Tweed, Waterfield, Sir Ron Watson, Webster and Wilson.

The above Members had submitted their apologies for absence to reduce 
the number of Members at the Council meeting for safety reasons 
associated with the recent local increase in Covid-19 cases. A significantly 
reduced number of Council Members were therefore present at the 
meeting whilst maintaining political proportionality and quoracy rules. 

81. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

82. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED: 

That the minutes of the Council meeting held on 18 November 2021 be 
approved as a correct record.

83. MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS 

Mayor of Sefton’s Gala Charity Ball 2022

The Mayor reported that as Members may have seen on arrival this 
evening, tickets were now available from her office for her Charity Ball to 
be held on Saturday 26 March at the Bliss Hotel, Southport. The Mayor 
indicated that her charities this year were the Plaza Cinema, Sefton 
Children’s Trust and Home Start (Southport & Formby); that she was sure 
Members could all agree they were worthwhile causes to their 
communities; and that Members could all help the charities by attending 
her Ball. The Mayor concluded that there would be some fantastic 
entertainment, along with a raffle, auction and tombola; and that tickets 

Page 8

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 20TH JANUARY, 2022

70

cost £50.00 and could be obtained by emailing her my office at 
mayorsoffice@sefton.gov.uk to purchase them.

Mayor of Sefton’s Christmas Toy Appeal

The Mayor indicated that once again, the Christmas Toy Appeal was a 
huge success; that the generosity of Sefton residents never ceased to 
amaze her; and that this year an unprecedented amount of gifts and toys 
had been donated. The Mayor concluded by taking the opportunity to 
thank everyone who donated to the appeal to make sure that no Sefton 
child went without a gift at Christmas. The Mayor paid special thanks to 
Tracy McKeating, Team Manager Locality South, for her hard work, 
dedication and organisational skills to ensure that the Christmas Toy 
Appeal was a success. 

Mayor’s Lottery 

The Mayor reported that at each Council meeting she took the opportunity 
to remind members to sign up for the Mayor’s Lottery; that the Lottery cost 
£2 per month to enter and would be deducted directly from Members’ 
allowances; and that half of the proceeds from the lottery would go to her 
Charity Fund.

Altcar Training Camp

The Mayor reported that she attended a passing out parade at the Altcar 
Training Camp, Hightown on 27 November 2021.   

Golf Event

The Mayor thanked Councillor Paul Tweed and Councillor Brough for 
organising the Mayor’s Challenge Golf Tournament at Royal Birkdale Golf 
Club on 9 December 2021. The event was a great success and raised 
£550 for the Mayor’s Charity Fund. 

Holocaust Memorial Service 

The Mayor reported that 27 January 2022 marks the annual Holocaust 
Memorial Day; the international day to remember the millions of people 
murdered during the Holocaust and in genocides that followed. The Mayor 
advised that a Holocaust Memorial service would be held at Christ Church, 
Lord Street Southport on Sunday, 30 January 2022 commencing at 1.30 
p.m. and urged Councillors and members of the public to attend the event. 

84. MATTERS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC 

The Mayor reported that a public petition had been received containing 
752 signatures in relation to Stop the 5G Rollout in Sefton. The terms of 
the petition stated:

Page 9

Agenda Item 3

mailto:mayorsoffice@sefton.gov.uk


COUNCIL- THURSDAY 20TH JANUARY, 2022

71

“We the undersigned petition the council to Protect people's health 
by halting the installation of 5G antennas throughout the borough of 
Sefton
In a press release on 9 September 2021, the government announced that 
£4 million of public funds will be used to help mobile phone companies 
work together with local councils to use “curbside infrastructure”, such as 
lampposts and bus shelters, for 5G network equipment.

If Sefton Council takes part in this project, there will soon be 5G wireless 
antennas on lampposts throughout Sefton, beaming unprecedented levels 
of hazardous electromagnetic radiation (EMR) into our homes, workplaces 
and schools.

Shockingly, the industry has not produced a single study to show that 5G 
technology is safe. No risk assessment has been carried out on its effects 
on humans, wildlife or the environment. On the other hand, evidence from 
thousands of peer-reviewed studies already points to possible harms from 
existing sources of radiation, such as WiFi, 3G and 4G. Experts warn that 
the addition of 5G to the mix could have very serious and damaging 
consequences for human health.

EMR was classified as a possible human carcinogen in 2011 by the World 
Health Organisation International Agency for Research on Cancer. Since 
then, evidence of increased cancer risks has been strengthened by further 
human and animal studies.

Cancer rates have skyrocketed in recent years. The vast majority of 
people in Sefton, and indeed across the UK, will have an affected family 
member or friend…or will be a cancer sufferer or survivor themselves. 
Who knows to what extent existing radiation is driving the increase? Who 
knows how many more people could develop cancer as a result of 5G?

Other proven effects of EMR include damage to the reproductive system, 
learning and memory deficits, and neurological disorders.

Children are at greater risk of harm from EMR, because their brain tissues 
are more absorbent, their skulls are thinner, and they are physically 
smaller. Why then are 5G masts being erected near schools across the 
UK, including Sefton?

The 5G rollout is being challenged on the grounds of safety by scientists 
and lawyers across the world, including a legal team headed by Michael 
Mansfield QC here in the UK. In August 2021 in the USA, Robert F. 
Kennedy Jnr’s Children’s Health Defense and the Environmental Health 
Trust successfully sued the Federal Communications Commission for 
failing to ensure that its guidelines adequately protect against harmful 
effects of exposure to EMR.

Is a faster internet connection worth the potential serious harm that 5G 
could cause to people’s health? Have any of us ever been asked whether 
we think the risks are worth taking?

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 20TH JANUARY, 2022

72

As residents of Sefton, we demand an immediate halt to the 5G rollout 
across Sefton, to allow for thorough and comprehensive health and safety 
investigations and risk assessments to be carried out.

References:

Government press release (09/09/2021): ‘Street lamps and bus shelters to 
help boost 5G roll out in £4 million trial’
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/street-lamps-and-bus-shelters-to-
help-boost-5g-roll-out-in-4-million-trial

World Health Organisation International Agency for Research on Cancer 
(2011): ‘IARC classifies radiofrequency electromagnetic fields as possibly 
carcinogenic to humans’, Press Release No 208
https://www.iarc.who.int/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/pr208_E.pdf

Lloyd Morgan, L et al (2014): ‘Why children absorb more microwave 
radiation than adults: The consequences’, Journal of Microscopy and 
Ultrastructure
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2213879X14000583

Legal case challenging the UK Government over its failure to take notice 
of the health risks and public concerns relating to 5G.
https://actionagainst5g.org/

Legal case against 5G in USA: Environmental Health Trust, et al, 
Petitioners, v Federal Communications Commission and United States of 
America, Respondents
https://www.cadc.uscourts.gov/internet/opinions.nsf/FB976465BF00F8BD
85258730004EFDF7/$file/20-1025-1910111.pdf.”

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, the Lead Petitioner was 
advised of her right to make representations to the Council, not lasting 
more than 5 minutes.  Ms. Allman addressed the Council for 5 minutes.

The Cabinet Member for Planning and Building Control, Councillor 
Veidman responded to the petition and made the following points:

Planning Services took the lead on telecoms proposals in terms of 
regulation, which was essentially making decisions on the acceptability of 
proposed schemes that required formal planning approval. However, most 
telecoms proposals either fell within the remit of “permitted development” 
and did not require planning approval, or presented very limited 
opportunity to prevent prior approval schemes, which must be assessed in 
very tight timescales. For this reason, they were delegated to the Chief 
Planning Officer. 

Regarding health concerns and the planning process health concerns with 
new electronic communication systems was not new, and whilst there was 
a view from some parts of the community that felt they presented a danger 
to health, the Government had maintained a consistent line on such 
matters, which was that the International Commission Guidelines on non-

Page 11

Agenda Item 3

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/street-lamps-and-bus-shelters-to-help-boost-5g-roll-out-in-4-million-trial
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/street-lamps-and-bus-shelters-to-help-boost-5g-roll-out-in-4-million-trial
https://www.iarc.who.int/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/pr208_E.pdf
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2213879X14000583
https://actionagainst5g.org/
https://www.cadc.uscourts.gov/internet/opinions.nsf/FB976465BF00F8BD85258730004EFDF7/$file/20-1025-1910111.pdf
https://www.cadc.uscourts.gov/internet/opinions.nsf/FB976465BF00F8BD85258730004EFDF7/$file/20-1025-1910111.pdf


COUNCIL- THURSDAY 20TH JANUARY, 2022

73

ionising radiation protection did not support the view that such equipment 
was a danger to health. 

In respect of Planning Policy, planning decisions must be based on 
planning policy, and the documents the Council used in this respect were 
the Local Plan (2017) and the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). The latter is most recent of the two, with the last update in 2021, 
and its content were a significant material consideration in the planning 
process. Telecom masts/equipment etc were addressed in Section 10 
“Supporting High Quality Communication” in paras 114 to 118. The key 
messages are:

 Councils should support next generation mobile technology (such 
as 5G)

 Councils should not impose a ban on new electronic communication 
development

 Councils must determine planning applications on planning grounds 
only; and 

 Councils should not seek to set health safeguards different from the 
International Commission Guidelines for public exposure. 

Members then debated the petition.

Thereafter, it was moved by Councillor Veidman, seconded by Councillor 
Ian Maher and 

RESOLVED: That:

(1) the Chief Planning Officer be requested to write to Government to 
request that they issue clearer guidance to telecoms operators and 
providers to ensure that they carry out adequate consultation with 
communities on proposals and seek to ensure that they share 
apparatus wherever possible, design schemes so as to make them 
less intrusive and avoid concentrations of equipment; 

(2) the Director of Public Health be requested to review the published 
information on the health effects of 5G technology and provide a 
report on the health risks associated with such technology; and

(3) Ms. Joanne Allman, the lead petitioner, be thanked for submitting 
and presenting the petition to the Council. 

85. QUESTIONS RAISED BY MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 

The Mayor indicated that as she had mentioned earlier, for safety reasons 
associated with the recent local increase in Covid-19 cases, there was a 
reduced number of Members in attendance at this meeting of the Council 
whilst still maintaining political proportionality and quoracy rules; and 
stated that following consultation with Party Group leaders it had been 
agreed that due to the reduction in the numbers of Members present that 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 20TH JANUARY, 2022

74

no questions would be submitted by Members to this meeting of the 
Council. 

86. HIGH NEEDS FUNDING ALLOCATIONS 

Further to Minute No. 75 of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 2 
December 2021 the Council considered the report of the Executive 
Director of Children’s Social Care and Education in relation to High Needs 
Funding Allocations.  The report set out that Sefton High Needs Block - 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funding closed with a financial deficit of 
£8.2m at the end of 2020/21 and that it was estimated to overspend by 
more than £1.8m in 2021/22 increasing the overall deficit to more than 
£10m at the end of 2021/22

The report detailed that the Government had changed the financial rules 
regarding the treatment of any financial deficit on the HN (DSG) Block in 
2020/21 making it no longer possible for the Council to offset any DSG 
deficit against Council Reserves and so reducing the financial risk to the 
Council’s current Medium Term Financial Plan. The report stated that, the 
continued increase in demand for High Needs support and the anticipated 
increase to the deficit on the HN Block over the next few years was still of 
serious concern as there was no clarity from the Government over how 
future / accumulated  DSG deficits would be resolved.

The report further set out that the current funding model within the council 
that was used to support High Needs placements had not been reviewed 
and placement costs had not been uplifted since 2013/14. The financial 
forecasts for the 5 in-house Special Schools indicated that they will all face 
significant financial hardship over the next three years unless the existing 
funding values were increased. This would lead to Special Schools having 
to make significant financial savings in spending commitments reducing 
the number of places they could provide for children with SEND which in 
turn would mean more reliance in expensive Out of Borough placements 
for children increasing the cost pressures facing the High Needs Block 
further.

The report set out that through the current High Needs review, a key 
feature was to develop a new funding model for HN placements that was 
transparent, right-sized Special School budgets and provided stability for 
in-house placements. The new funding model had been produced in order 
that it could  address the key actions required within the review however 
the cost of implementing the new funding model would increase the 
projected High Needs Block deficit by up to £2m per annum. 

It was moved by Councillor Roscoe, seconded by Councillor Fairclough
and

RESOLVED: That

(1) the current / projected High Needs Block DSG deficit position be 
noted; 

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 20TH JANUARY, 2022

75

(2) the uplift in funding to Special Schools and other SEND Resource
Bases in Sefton and the impact that this will have on the forecast 
deficit on the HN Block in the medium term be approved;

(3) the Executive Director of Children’s Social Care and Education be 
requested to submit a report to the Cabinet meeting to be held on 3 
February 2022 on the future high needs funding allocation and the 
latest advice on funding methodology and the treatment of deficits 
held by Councils; 
 

(4) the Executive Director of Children’s Social Care and Education be 
requested to submit quarterly reports to Cabinet and Council as 
required on the latest position with regards to the high needs budget 
and the development of further provision within the Borough; and

(5) following engagement with the relevant Government Departments
that a financial plan be developed to mitigate against the risk 
exposure currently faced and that this be agreed with the Councils 
External Auditor.

87. COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME, COUNCIL TAX BASE 
2022/23 

Further to Minute No. 89 of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 6 January 
2022 the Council considered the report of the Executive Director of 
Corporate Resources and Customer Services that provided details of the 
review of the local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2021/22 and 
recommending that there was no change to the scheme for 2022/23 for 
working age claimants; and that provided an updated Council Tax Base for 
Sefton Council and each Parish area for 2022/23.

It was moved by Councillor Lappin, seconded by Councillor Fairclough
and

RESOLVED: That

(1) the contents of the review of the Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 
the current financial year, 2021/22 be noted; 

(2) that no changes be made to the existing Scheme for working age 
claimants for 2022/23; and 

(3) the relevant 2022/23 Council Tax Base for Sefton Council and each 
Parish Area as set out in Annex A to the report be approved.

88. SUSTAINABLE WARMTH FUNDING 2022-2023 

Further to Minute No 86 of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 6 January 
2022 the Council considered the report of the Executive Director of 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 20TH JANUARY, 2022

76

Corporate Resources and Customer Services advising that as part of a 
competitive bidding process co-ordinated through the Combined Authority, 
Sefton Council had been awarded £3,374,297 of grant funding to retrofit 
307 poorly insulated homes for low income Sefton residents; and that the 
funding had come from the Department of Business Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS) as part of the government’s post Covid-19 response and 
supporting the UK Net Zero Carbon by 2050 target.

The report also sought approval to accept this funding to ensure that 
Sefton could benefit from almost £3.4 million, 100% grant funding. 
Spending this funding was time critical to ensure residents received the 
benefits and that no proportion of the funding was returned due to slippage 
in delivery. The programme was due to be delivered between January 
2022 and 31 March 2023.

Due to the level of the grant funding, authority to accept the funding as 
well as secure permission to procure and award works was required from 
Council.

The funding was a continuation of the Green Homes Grant (GHG) Local 
Delivery Scheme (LAD) phase 2 but had been renamed as Sustainable 
Warmth.  

It was moved by Councillor Lappin, seconded by Councillor Fairclough
and

RESOLVED:

That a supplementary capital estimate of £2.89m fully funded by grant 
funding in respect of the Sustainable Warmth initiative be approved.

89. PAY POLICY 2022 - 2023 

Further to Minute No. 8 of the meeting of the Pay and Grading Committee 
of 12 January 2022 the Council considered the report of the Executive 
Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services that 
recommended a Pay Policy for the Council as required by the Localism 
Act 2011.

It was moved by Councillor Lappin, seconded by Councillor Fairclough
and

RESOLVED: That

(1) the proposed Pay Policy as contained un the report be approved; 

(2) that any changes to the Pay Policy required due to legislation be 
delegated to the Pay and Grading Committee; and

(3) if future proposals in respect of exit pay cap legislation or special 
severance payments contain discretions then these be considered 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 20TH JANUARY, 2022

77

by the Pay and Grading Committee to provide a recommendation 
for submission to Full Council.

90. CABINET MEMBER PORTFOLIOS 

The Council considered the report of the Executive Director of Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services that detailed a review of Cabinet 
Member responsibilities that had been undertaken to ensure it reflected 
current practice within the Council and to ensure the Constitution was 
accurate.

It was moved by Councillor Ian Maher, seconded by Councillor Fairclough
and

RESOLVED:

That the revised terms of reference for Cabinet Member portfolios as 
detailed in the report be noted and the Constitution be amended 
accordingly.

91. PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS – 2022/23 MUNICIPAL YEAR 

Further to Minute No. 77 of the meeting od the Cabinet held on 2 
December 2021 the Council considered the report of the Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer that sought approval of the Programme of Meetings for 
the 2022/23 Municipal Year.

It was moved by Councillor Ian Maher, seconded by Councillor Fairclough
and

RESOLVED: That

(1) the Programme of Meetings for the Council, Member Briefing 
Sessions; Regulatory Committees; and Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees for 2022/23 as set out in Annexes B and C of the report 
be approved; and

(2) the Programme of Meetings for the Cabinet, Public Engagement 
and
Consultation Panel, Sefton Safer Communities Partnership and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board for 2022/23 as set out in Annexes A 
and D of the report be noted.

92. MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES 2021/22 

Planning Committee

The Mayor stated that at the last Council meeting she reported that 
Councillor Pugh had resigned his seat and Membership on the Planning 
Committee and that no other member from the Liberal Democrat and 
Progressive Alliance Group wished to take his place; and that she had 

Page 16

Agenda Item 3



COUNCIL- THURSDAY 20TH JANUARY, 2022

78

further reported that at this meeting of the Council she would seek 
nominations from other Groups to appoint to the vacant position on the 
Planning Committee.

The Mayor indicated that she had been advised that Councillors Anne 
Thompson and Bennett had sought appointment to the Planning 
Committee.  

In accordance with Rule 98 of Chapter 4 of the Constitution (Full Council) 
a vote was taken when there appeared:

For Councillor Anne Thompson    21
For Councillor Bennett  4

and it was 

RESOLVED:

That Councillor Anne Thompson be appointed as a member of the 
Planning Committee 

Consequent upon the appointment of Councillor Anne Thompson as a 
member of the Planning Committee the Mayor reported that she had been 
advised by the Labour Group Whip of the following changes to the 
membership of the Planning Committee 

 Councillor Murphy to be the Substitute Member for Councillor Anne 
Thompson

 Councillor Halsall to be the Substitute Member for Councillor 
Corcoran

RESOLVED: 

That the changes to the Planning Committee as detailed above be 
approved. 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Adult Social Care and Health)

The Mayor also reported that she had been advised that Mr. Roger 
Hutchings had resigned as a Healthwatch representative on the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee (Adult Social Care and Health); and that 
Healthwatch Sefton wished to nominate Diane Blair as his replacement. 

RESOLVED: 

That Diane Blair be appointed as the Healthwatch Sefton representative 
on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Adult Social Care and Health).

Page 17

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
(Regulatory, 
Compliance and 
Corporate Services) 

Cabinet 

Council 

Date of 
Meeting:

8 February 2022

10 February 2022

3 March 2022
Subject: Annual Review of Asset Management Strategy and Asset 

Disposal Policy 

Report of:       Executive Director 
Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards 
Affected:

All Wards

Portfolio: Cabinet Member – Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The strategy and policy set’s out the vision and aspirations for the effective 
management of the Council’s corporate asset portfolio and the role it plays in 
supporting and shaping the Council’s agenda for the 2030 vision.

Aside from its staff the Council's next biggest resource is its land and property 
therefore it is vital that this resource is managed and used effectively and efficiently to 
ensure that the Council derives maximum benefit from its assets in support of its 
strategic aims and priorities. 

The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy will provide a framework for 
the planning, prioritisation, management and funding of the Councils asset base.

This is a statutory document that the Council is required to have in place and will be 
reviewed on an annual basis.

Recommendations:

Cabinet is asked to:  

1. Recommend that Council approve the updated Asset Management Strategy 
2. Recommend that Council approve the updated Asset Disposal Policy. 

Council is recommended to

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



1. Approve the Asset Management Strategy.
2. Approve the Asset Disposal Policy  

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy are key documents for Sefton 
Council which sets out key parameters in respect of the delivery of an efficient and 
effective property portfolio. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

To be assessed at programme and individual project level. 

 (B) Capital Costs

To be assessed at programme and individual project level. 

Implications of the Proposals:

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out as follows:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy outlines the governance and 
framework for future property decisions.  Proposals may have an impact on physical 
assets and/or ongoing revenue income and expenditure and these will be assessed 
both at a programme and individual project level.

Legal Implications:
To be considered on a case by case basis.

Equality Implications:
To be considered on a case by case basis. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: 
The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy will enable the Council to 
continue to seek to protect the most vulnerable within available resources.

Page 20

Agenda Item 7



Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy demonstrates a clear 
commitment to working with partners, communities and local businesses to reduce the 
reliance on the public sector.  

Commission, broker and provide core services: 
The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy recognises that where it is 
necessary to do so, the Council will continue to be a provider of those core services that 
the community expects to see delivered with accessible links. 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy will see the Council continue 
to demonstrate strong and effective leadership building on its proven track record of 
engagement, consultation, listening and considering feedback in the decision-making 
process.  

Drivers of change and reform: 
The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy demonstrates the Council 
playing a key role in leading and driving change and reform to improve outcomes for 
Sefton residents and continuously improve the Borough.  

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:  
The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy clearly articulates the 
Council’s approach to investing and change in order to achieve financial sustainability 
and the ambitions of Sefton 2030.  

Greater income for social investment: 
The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy recognises the Council’s 
commitment to developing a commercial nature, looking at what it can do either by itself 
or with others to generate income and profit that can be reinvested into delivering social 
purpose.

Cleaner Greener: 
The Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy recognises the Council’s 
commitment to work with others to maintain Sefton’s natural beauty and ensure that its 
many assets provide a contribution to Sefton’s economy, people’s wellbeing and the 
achievement of the 2030 Vision.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

Executive Director Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6681/22) is the 
author of the report and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4881/22) has been 
consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Page 21

Agenda Item 7



N/A

Contact Officers: Stephan Van Arendsen
Tel: 0151 934 4082
Email: Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

1. Asset Management Strategy – Appendix 1. 
2. Asset Disposal Policy – Appendix 2. 

Background Papers:

N/A

1. Introduction

1.1 In-order to effectively manage a property portfolio, it is critical that all authorities 
have an Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy approved and in 
place for the forthcoming financial year.

1.2 The Council has therefore sought to develop an Asset Management Strategy & 
Asset Disposal Policy for guidance.

2. Content

2.1 The content of the Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy are 
defined, however it is recognised that each individual authorities final document 
will reflect its own individual circumstances. As such the document aims to provide 
information and guidance on how decisions will be made and what considerations 
will be taken into account in the management of assets within Sefton. These 
documents are to be read in conjunction with delivery plans and any other plans 
derived from this. 

2.2   Both the Asset Management Strategy & Asset Disposal Policy were last presented 
as part of the budget reporting in February 2019 with annual reviews having been 
undertaken each year subsequently with no material changes. Whilst the 
documents in this year’s annual review remain largely unchanged with only minor 
changes, it is considered timely to present the full documents for approval once 
again. The amendments included in the documents include but are not limited to; 

 The reference around European Commission’s State Aid rules now being the UK’s 
Subsidy Control rules. 

 The reference around European Commission’s OJEU notice now being the UK’s 
Contract Notice under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (as amended).  

 Expansion of the detail in relation to approval route/levels; and
 Inclusion of the councils proposed approach to Residential Ground Rents and 

Chief Rents 

Page 22

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk


           The documents will continue to be updated annually with material changes being 
represented further.

2.3 As a result the revised and updated Asset Management Strategy and Asset 
Disposal Policy are attached as appendices to this covering report for approval.

Separate Document 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Asset Management Strategy

Revision B – 03/02/20

Revision C - 28/01/21

Revision D – 06/01/22

Next review due on 06/01/23 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



   A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R A T E G Y

1

Table of Contents

1. Introduction..........................................................................................................................................3

2. Aims of the Strategy .............................................................................................................................3

3. Types of Assets .....................................................................................................................................4

4. Approach to the Strategy......................................................................................................................4

5. Governance ..........................................................................................................................................5

6. Key Challenges......................................................................................................................................5

7. Investment Priorities.............................................................................................................................8

8. Funding Options ...................................................................................................................................9

9. Key Strategy & Policy Documents........................................................................................................10

10. Review..............................................................................................................................................10

11. Summary ..........................................................................................................................................10

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



   A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R A T E G Y

2

1. Introduction
This Strategy sets out the vision and aspirations for the effective management of the Council’s corporate asset 
portfolio and the role it plays in supporting and shaping the Council’s agenda for the 2030 vision.

Aside from its staff the Council's next biggest resource is its land and property therefore it is vital that this resource is 
managed and used effectively and efficiently to ensure that the Council derives maximum benefit from its assets in 
support of its strategic aims and priorities. 

The continued pressure on Local Authority finances makes it more critical that the Council has a robust strategic 
approach to ensure the correct decisions are taken regarding its property asset base. In moving forward there will 
need to be an increased emphasis on challenging and justifying why assets are being retained, whilst looking at other 
alternative options for asset use and service delivery to maintain front line services within the stringent budgetary 
framework which Local Authorities are required to operate within.

The Asset Management Strategy (the Strategy) will provide a framework for the planning, prioritisation, 
management and funding of the Councils asset base.

The Plan supports and informs the Council's Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP).

2. Aims of the Strategy
The key aims of the Asset Management strategy are to;

 Enhance the opportunities for communities to access the Council’s services in either our own or partner 
buildings;

 Maximise the use of space within buildings by enabling better and innovative ways of working;

 Ensure that buildings meet all Health and Safety requirements and other legislative standards; 

 Provide a clear context within which the Council's property assets can be managed to ensure that all asset 
based investment is targeted towards meeting the Council's priorities and/or legislative requirements;

 Maximise the use of revenue resources by establishing effective arrangements for the management of 
Council assets and expenditure including focused benchmarking and performance analysis to achieve Value 
for Money (increase granularity of reporting down to m2 rate of assets to inform robust decisions);

 Establish a corporate approach to the management and release of capital from the Council's existing asset 
base.

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



   A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R A T E G Y

3

3. Types of Assets
The use and management of the Authority's assets can play a fundamental role in delivery of corporate and local 
priorities, as well as shape and influence the quality of life and place for local people and businesses. The property 
asset base divides into two key categories;

 Operational Properties — Owned or leased buildings that are required to enable the delivery of services. 
These are typically the main administrative buildings, but also encompass specialised facilities such as 
Schools and Care homes.

 Non-operational Properties — Also known as the investment portfolio, these assets are held because they 
generate an income return or present an opportunity for capital gain through redevelopment. Traditionally, 
the portfolio was a legacy of previous and often longstanding land ownerships that have come together with 
the merger of the composite authorities that now make up Sefton Council and are not typical of most 
commercial investment portfolios that are a consequence of conscious decisions to invest and hold property 
as an investment asset. The portfolio includes properties subject to restrictive covenants.

There are a small number of assets where there is a cross over between both categories. 

4. Approach to the Strategy

It is critical that the assets the Council retains are fit for purpose, provide value for money and meet/support both 
business and community needs. Decisions to invest and improve the asset base are made on the same robust and 
transparent basis. 

The Council will adopt a formal Corporate Landlord Approach to drive a planned process to review and challenge the 
use and retention of assets, providing a transparent framework for investment and disinvestment decisions in the 
asset base.

The Council will also endeavour, through its programme of capital investment, to maintain its assets to a standard 
such that they remain fit for purpose, enabling continuity of service delivery to meet corporate priorities. In 
particular, it will carry out regular surveys of its stock of buildings and structures to ascertain their state of repair and 
any remedial works which may be necessary

In addition, the Plan will be influenced by the results of any service reviews which have been carried out by the 
Council, either as part of the budget preparation, one-off exercises or in support of the Sefton 2030 Vision. Where 
these reviews identify areas of service which are to be restructured or discontinued, this may give rise to surplus 
assets. Each asset in the potential list of disposals will have different characteristics and the approach to evaluating 
whether disposal remains the best option and then identifying the objectives to be achieved for each will vary.  A full 

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



   A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R A T E G Y

4

appraisal will therefore be required with Member engagement to understand and agree what these objectives are 
that will in turn allow the Council to understand and then maximise its financial return. In addition to a potential 
capital receipt, other benefits will naturally be borne out of a disposal, one being a reduced revenue burden.

An ongoing review of the Council's accommodation provision will continually look at opportunities to rationalise 
occupation and release surplus accommodation from the Council's buildings.

This will include identifying opportunities for shared use of Council facilities to enable the efficient provision of key 
services as well as potential co-locations with other public and private sector partners via the ‘One Public Estate’ 
agenda. 

The Council’s approach to the retention of assets is based around the ability to clearly demonstrate that they;

 Support and meet the Corporate objectives of the Council;

 Contribute to the effective delivery of business provision (i.e. the condition and performance of the asset 
does not impede service delivery);

 Provide a strategic landholding in key locations in the borough;  

 Provide value for money (in respect of their current or future investment, capital value, revenue generation 
and/or ability to influence regeneration).

Where assets do not satisfy the above criteria consideration will be given to the asset either being better utilised to 
free up accommodation elsewhere, or disposed of. 

The disposal process, including the rationale for using a particular method of disposal is set out in the Asset Disposal 
Policy.

5. Governance
The Council's governance arrangements are established and set out in the Council's Constitution and Financial 
Procedure Regulations. Responsibility for the  Asset Management Strategy rests with the Council.

6. Key Challenges
In developing a rolling plan, the Council will need to have a flexible approach to take account and accommodate a 
variety of factors and challenges which will impact on the future of the asset base. In summary these include:-

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



   A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R A T E G Y

5

National level
The ongoing pressures on Local Government funding will produce a year on year reduction in available revenue and 
traditional forms of grant funding. This has placed increased pressure on how the Council uses and manages its 
assets in support of service delivery.

In addition, there is the impact of key Legislation. These include;

 The Localism Act 2011

 Disposal and Appropriation of School Land — Changes in Legislation (Education Act 2011 and new 
Schedule 1 to the Academies Act 2010)

Corporate Level

Asset and Property Maximisation

The Council will consider the property/assets opportunities arising from all projects within its Framework for Change 
programme. It will look to maximise opportunities to improve operational efficiency, reduce revenue costs and 
maximise the capital and income potential.

This will inform asset related decisions, and maximise capital receipt/revenue saving opportunities arising from;

 The reduction in the Council’s size and consequential physical space requirements as a direct consequence 
of austerity and funding cuts;

 The reduction in physical space requirements as a result of service re-design;

 The reduction in space made possible by the adoption of ‘new ways of working’ with improved ICT systems 
and infrastructure; and

 The need to do something very different to maximize our assets.

Property is part of the infrastructure that helps to support the delivery of transformational change. It enables the 
organisation to provide a wider contribution to the overall aspirations of the Council’s Regeneration ambitions.

Agile Working

Sefton has begun to adopt an agile working and place based working collaterally. It enables the Council to work 
more closely with customers and other public-sector partner organisations with the added benefit of maximising 
asset use within a reduced building footprint across the portfolio.

Page 30

Agenda Item 7



   A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R A T E G Y

6

In the medium-term, and after significant engagement with partners, the opportunities to co-locate services will 
become essential in-order to create lean and efficient services for residents and businesses.

Property as Assets for Reform

Property and assets underpin the continual reform of public services. They are a catalyst for change and provide 
opportunities for cashable savings and efficiencies to be made.

The Council’s built assets also enable development opportunities and help create jobs in the Borough, significantly 
contributing towards cultural change, reform and delivery of the “Local Plan” growth drivers.

In this context Sefton’s longer term ambitions will be to sponsor and lead significant economic growth. As parcels of 
land are identified for investment by the private and third sector, this will provide either equity or capital to the 
Council in addition to improving the long term financial base given the business rates or Council tax potential.

Reducing the Level of Maintenance Backlog

The objective of the Strategy is that property assets should make a positive contribution either to direct service 
delivery or to other social and economic objectives of the Council.

In-order to ensure consistency when prioritising levels of expenditure to tackle backlog maintenance relating to 
individual assets, a prioritisation method has been established. This firstly ensures Health and Safety and 
wind/watertight requirements are met. The desire is to maintain Council operational property portfolio to a 
‘satisfactory’ condition ensuring that limited funding is expended in buildings with the greatest need.

Condition Surveys are to be carried out on a 5-yearly cycle with interim monitoring/updates. The method adopted 
will assist in categorising individual assets as follows;

A. Good – Performing well and operating efficiently.

B. Satisfactory – Performing adequately but showing minor deterioration.

C. Poor – Showing major defects and/or not operating adequately.

D. Bad – Economic life expired and/or risk of failure.

The Council is to aspire to a ‘B’ rating and above. Assets either meeting or exceeding this level will be considered to 
meet the service delivery standard. These ratings will also help to inform options appraisals linked to the overall 
asset strategy. 

A programme of condition surveys has identified significant backlog maintenance and future capital allocations will 
support the completion of the most pressing works. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



   A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R A T E G Y

7

The Council will continue to fund essential backlog maintenance and day to day maintenance where it resolves a 
health and safety hazard or could remove an impediment to the delivery of front line services.

It should be noted that resources are in place in-order to ensure that all operational and non-operational buildings 
comply with Statutory requirements.

7. Investment Priorities
Ongoing Review and Maintenance
An ongoing review of both the operational and non-operational property portfolios will be undertaken to identify;

 The level of required maintenance (as assessed from the condition surveys);

 Including works needed in respect of Statutory requirements, for instance, accessibility, asbestos, Legionella, 
environmental sustainability, etc;

 Areas of proposed capital investment, including enhancement, replacement and shared use of facilities and 
provision of accommodation focused on the Council's core freehold buildings;

 Financial and opportunity savings realised through rationalisation and the level of anticipated receipts which 
could be relied upon (given the current and projected market conditions);

 the level of resources secured and/or potentially available to support future investment.

 Energy efficiencies through both day to day management and invest to save opportunities. 

A financial lifecycle summary of the capital funding requirement between current and future asset needs will be 
produced and then updated on a periodic basis.

Asset Review
An Asset Review has commenced within the Council.  This has initially focussed on 200 assets (2018) and a rolling 
review will continue each year. Assets will be evaluated and categorised in to one of the areas below;

 Inform the development and subsequent delivery of an Investment Strategy;

 Understand the commercial value of those assets in variable scenarios;

 Define options for future consideration which might be;

- Assets held for operational purposes
- Assets held for heritage reasons or other designated reasons
- Assets held to be developed or re-purposed
- Asset to be disposed of to create a capital receipt

Page 32

Agenda Item 7



   A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R A T E G Y

8

A review of all income generating assets not currently within the existing ‘property budget / investment portfolio’ 
structure will be conducted to ensure all incomes are captured and recorded, potentially moving under the Strategic 
Investment approach for consideration.

Delivery of Key Strategic Priorities
Building upon the momentum generated in previous years in regenerating key areas within the Borough, the Council 
is committed to use its asset base to deliver the following key strategic priorities. As part of that process it will seek 
to align funding opportunities to those initiatives, including the allocation of specific land sites and land receipts to 
support the following aspects of the Framework for Change 2020;

 Demand Management

 Council of 2023

 Growth & Strategic Investment

New Investment in Assets 

In addition to the current asset portfolio, strategic acquisitions and development will also be considered where it 
aligns with the Council’s core purpose. 

In terms of new capital bids for investment in property assets (current or proposed acquisitions), these will be 
submitted in accordance with the Council's governance process.

8. Funding Options
If the Council is to continue to invest in its property asset base it will need to consider alternative and innovative 
solutions to supplement more traditional funding sources as part of its resourcing strategy. All appropriate options 
will be explored as part of the individual Business Case:

9. Key Strategy and Policy Documents
This Strategy acts as an overarching document that sets the framework in which the Council's key, property asset-
based strategies, policies and procedures are developed, operated and reviewed.

The disposal process, including the rationale for using a particular method of disposal is set out in the Asset Disposal 
Policy.

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



   A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R A T E G Y

9

10. Review
The Strategy will be reviewed annually, adapting to the review of the Council's strategic objectives, changes in policy, 
professional practice and changes in the economy and property markets. It does not need to be redrafted annually if 
the existing documentation remains current.

The Strategy will be read in conjunction with the Asset Management Delivery Plan. This will be an evolving document 
issued to Council Members through both informal and formal forums. 

11. Summary
This Asset Management Strategy demonstrates and sets the framework which enables the Council to build a long-
term asset management programme to ensure the efficient and effective use of assets to support the achievement 
of the Council's corporate priorities. This will help shape the future of Sefton and support the Communities within by 
aligning with the Councils core purpose as follows; 

 Protect the most vulnerable: i.e. those people who have complex care needs with no capacity to care for 
themselves and no other networks to support them. For those who are the most vulnerable we will have a 
helping role to play, we will challenge others to ensure we all protect the most vulnerable and where we 
need to, we will intervene to help improve lives

 Facilitate confident and resilient communities: the Council will be less about doing things to and for 
residents and communities and more about creating the capacity and motivation for people to get involved, 

do it for themselves and help one another. We will create an environment in which residents are less reliant 
on public sector support and which have well developed and effective social support

 Commission, broker and provide core services: the Council will directly deliver fewer services but will act as 
a broker and commissioner of services which meet the defined needs of communities, are person-centred 
and localised where possible. We will deliver services which can’t be duplicated elsewhere or where we add 
value.

 Place-leadership and influencer: making sure what we and what others do are in the best interests of Sefton 
and its residents and has a contributing role to the 2030 vision of the Borough. This includes strong 
leadership and influencing partner organisations to work towards common goals and building pride in the 
borough.

 Drivers of change and reform: the Council will play a key role in leading change and reform to improve 
outcomes for Sefton residents and continuously improve the borough

Page 34

Agenda Item 7



   A S S E T  M A N A G E M E N T  S T R A T E G Y

10

 Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: that is, people having the level of money they need to take care 
of themselves and their family; creating the conditions where relatively low unemployment and high income 
prevail, leading to high purchasing power; and having enough money to invest in infrastructure.

 Generate income for social reinvestment: the Council will develop a commercial nature and look to what it 
can do either by itself or with others to generate income and profit that can be reinvested into delivering 
social purpose.

 Cleaner and Greener: the Council will work with others to maintain Sefton’s natural beauty and ensure that 
its many assets provide a contribution to Sefton’s economy, peoples wellbeing and the achievement of the 
2030 Vision.

Page 35

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Asset Disposal Policy

Revision B – 03/02/20

Revision C - 28/01/21

Revision D – 06/01/22

Next review due on 06/01/23 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

1

Table of Contents

1. Introduction..........................................................................................................................................4
Purpose ...............................................................................................................................................................4

Objectives ...........................................................................................................................................................4

Community Right to Bid.......................................................................................................................................5

Scope of this Document.......................................................................................................................................5

Other Development Initiatives ............................................................................................................................5

Document Structure ............................................................................................................................................6

2. The Council’s Property Asset Base .........................................................................................................6
Background .........................................................................................................................................................6

Definitions...........................................................................................................................................................7

More Information................................................................................................................................................7

3. Asset Disposal & Development Principles..............................................................................................7
Value for Money..................................................................................................................................................7

Working with Local Plans.....................................................................................................................................8

Supporting Economic Development and Regeneration ........................................................................................8

Promoting Development and Avoiding Residual Liabilities...................................................................................8

Partner Selection.................................................................................................................................................8

Community Led Approaches ................................................................................................................................9

Self-build ...........................................................................................................................................................10

Disposal Process ................................................................................................................................................10

Disposals for Less Than Best Consideration........................................................................................................11

4. Key Development Sites........................................................................................................................12
Options for Use and Planning ............................................................................................................................12

Investment Prior to Disposal..............................................................................................................................13

Disposal Routes .................................................................................................................................................13

Disposal Terms ..................................................................................................................................................13

Overage.............................................................................................................................................................14

Form of Contract ...............................................................................................................................................14

5. Other Land and Property Assets ..........................................................................................................15
Market Sale Assets ............................................................................................................................................15

6. Disposal Programme...........................................................................................................................16

7. Policy Review......................................................................................................................................17

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

2

1. Introduction 
Purpose 
Access to a supply of development opportunities is a vital ingredient in successful economic growth.  A key role for 
the Council is to work with Government, other public bodies, the private sector and the Voluntary sector to unlock 
and accelerate the release of surplus public land and assets for the creation of new homes and employment 
opportunities. As part of this agenda we have been considering how we can best use the Council’s own land holdings 
and property assets. 

The Council’s property assets can play a significant role in helping our communities achieve their ambitions, 
generate economic growth and realise a contribution to the Council’s financial needs. To provide some clarity on the 
processes, this Policy sets out how we wish to take forward the identification and disposal of our surplus land and 
property assets. 

The Government has set out its objective to achieve strong, sustainable and balanced economic growth. It has 
stressed the importance of land and housing supply and included a commitment to accelerate the release of public 
sector land to encourage new homes and jobs. Government Departments that hold land have been instructed to 
publish their release programmes and be held to account for delivery of new homes and jobs created as a result.  
The Council will seek to play its part and aims to lead by example including through the publication of this Disposal 
Policy. 

This is Sefton Council’s established formal Asset Disposal Policy which is an active publication that will be refreshed 
on an annual basis. It aims to: 

 set out our broad objectives in relation to how we use our property assets; 

 summarise the Council’s property asset base; 

 set out the principles we use when making disposal decisions; and 

 identify a list of sites and other property assets that are available for disposal. 

Objectives 
Recognising that land and property is a key enabler to promote economic, housing and community activity in the 
Borough , the Council has three key objectives in relation to our property and landholdings: 

being transparent about our property assets and our disposal principles and selling them in a way that creates a 
level playing field for potential end users to access sites when they are brought to market; 

o not holding land or buildings longer than necessary – making sure they are disposed of to 
support local growth, 

o that they are transferred to end users as quickly as possible,

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

3

o carrying out disposals on terms that promote development, economic activity and growth. 
 In disposing of assets, the Council will be guided by its obligation to secure value for money. Disposals are 

expected to be at market value predicated on the nature of the asset and any agreed mix of uses, however 
disposal at less than best consideration may be considered in exceptional circumstances in accordance with 
legislation 

 We expect to use our land and property assets effectively and in particular, to support the delivery of a 
range of housing to meet local needs. Such opportunities will be determined on a case by case basis taking 
account of the nature and location of the site. 

Community Right to Bid 
Under the Localism Act 2011 the Council is one of the public bodies covered by the Community Right to Bid (CRTB) 
under which any properly defined and recognised organisation can ask the Council to list a specified land or property 
asset (in public or private ownership) as an Asset of Community Value. Should that asset then be sold on the open 
market there is the opportunity for the qualifying community group to bid for it within a prescribed timeframe and 
set of Regulations.  

The Council currently maintains and publishes two lists; a list, scheduling assets that have been successfully 
nominated as Assets of Community Value and one showing unsuccessful nomination. Each request to nominate will 
be considered on its own merit in accordance with the Regulations established by the Act. We hope that the disposal 
principles and information about how we identify and dispose of assets contained within this document will help to 
provide context for any CRTB applicants relating to Council owned assets. 

Scope of this Document 
Although the Council has always worked in line with industry and professional best practice, this document formally 
documents the relevant process and practice. It is intended to monitor the effects of the Policy and procedures with 
a view to carrying out a periodic review which takes account of any material changes in law, best practice and 
significant changes in the property market. 

This policy focuses on disposal to end users (those who would carry out the development or long-term 
management/ownership of the asset). This Policy does not consider how any capital receipts will be used as this area 
is governed by the Council’s Capital Strategy.

Other Development Initiatives 
It is clear that all public landowners have been asked to accelerate land release to support economic activity and 
housing growth. The Council is effectively seeking to accelerate its efforts to this end with the publication of this 
Policy and is also working with public and private sector partners to explore the synergies available from the 
combining of adjacent land sites to create viable development opportunities. 

Page 40

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

4

Document Structure 
The remainder of this document is set out as follows: 

 Information about Council’s landholdings; 

 Core principles in disposal and development; 

 Key development sites; 

 Other land and assets – surplus operational assets and non-development assets; and

 Indicative schedule of sites available for disposal. 

2. The Council’s Property Asset Base 
 

Background 
The Council’s property portfolio covers a wide range of assets and liabilities. The original reason for the Council (or 
its predecessors) to own the land will have arisen from; accumulation following the merger of the composite 
Authorities that now comprise the Council; because the Council (and its predecessors) were considered best placed 
to manage the risks associated with these buildings and landholdings; or to holistically plan and manage 
development opportunities, such as infrastructure and expansion of settlements to enable economic growth. 

There is a concentration of assets in the main urban centres, but that aside there is no consistent pattern in terms of 
land distribution or type of site since the Council’s inherited land and asset holdings are a reflection of the history of 
the Council and its predecessor bodies. The main categories of assets and in some cases liabilities are: 

 The Council’s operational property portfolio, including the Town Halls and other administrative buildings, 
Schools, Parks and Green Spaces and other specialist facilities;

 Various land and property interests across the Borough;

 The residue of the commercial ground rent portfolio (after disposal of the Industrial ground rents in 
2007/2008); 

 The residential ground rent portfolio (Including Chief Rents).

 The investment portfolio

The breakdown of the portfolio as at the time of the publication of the policy document is as follows;

 £248.110m - Other Land and Buildings 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

5

 £8.008m – Surplus Assets  

 £53.110m – Investment Properties  

The portfolio is a dynamic entity and these values will change over time as assets are reclassified, acquired or more 
likely disposed of.  

Definitions
In the remainder of this document we define the asset and landholdings as follows: 

 Key Development Sites: sites suitable for development and identified as being of strategic priority. These 
may have either a positive or negative value in isolation so consideration will be given to packaging to create 
viable proposals to bring forward development.

 Market Sale Assets: other assets with a positive value which are not expected to play a strategically 
important role going forward (this includes smaller land sites, surplus operational properties and elements 
of the non-operational portfolio including the residential ground and chief rents). 

 

More Information 
A list of the Council’s property assets is published on the Transparency Section of the Council’s website under Land 
and Property Assets.

3. Asset Disposal & Development Principles  

This section of the Policy sets out the key principles the Council will use when considering disposals and 
development across all the categories of land referred to in the previous section. Their application needs to be 
considered on an asset by asset basis and will reflect local market conditions and any specific proposals for the use 
of the asset. 

Value for Money 
 As a rule, the Council will seek to achieve a best consideration outcome given any agreed mix of uses. In exceptional 
or compelling circumstances, the Council may agree to dispose at less than best consideration however this is 
unlikely to occur when the proposed transaction is set in a purely commercial context.

Where the Council is one of a number of landowners participating in a development scheme, we will work with them 
where possible, including to optimise the mix of uses and to get the best deal for the public sector as a whole. 

Page 42

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

6

Working with Local Plans 
The Council’s approach to the maximisation of outcomes from the development and disposal of land will be 
determined by local Planning policies. Where sites have a planning allocation, we will work within that, unless it is 
agreed that a revised approach is appropriate.  Where there is uncertainty, the Council will work with its partners to 
consider options for use taking account of wider policies and objectives and site viability. 

Supporting Economic Development and Regeneration 
 The Council does not intend to hold assets longer than necessary.  In considering the timing and nature of the 
disposal the Council will seek to ensure that its asset disposals complement the objectives for the economic 
development and regeneration of an area. 

Factors that could influence the timing of disposal include: 

 Strategic objectives for the area – for example if a major regeneration scheme is planned, the Council would 
not release its assets to market in advance of the wider scheme without appropriate contractual conditions;

 Local market and competing supply – the Council would not want to ‘flood the market’ if other land is 
already in the market and undeveloped; and 

 Market appetite – where appropriate, the Council will carry out de-risking activities to improve the 
attractiveness of a site to potential purchasers and speed up its development once sold. 

Promoting Development and Avoiding Residual Liabilities
In disposing of sites in areas where market conditions are difficult, the Council will consider a flexible approach that 
will incentivise development. We will do that on our own land and encourage our partners to do the same. 

When disposing of sites the Council will aim to achieve a clear, sustainable exit having secured the desired uses and 
achieved financial completion.  The Council will seek to avoid residual liabilities. The principal circumstance where 
the Council would anticipate an ongoing role post development and financial completion is through longer term joint 
ventures or Local Asset Backed Vehicles. 

Partner Selection 
When disposing of developable land, the Council will seek to ensure that the purpose for which it is being developed 
meets the needs of the Council and the local community (using the planning system as the primary means to achieve 
this objective).  The partner selection process should be transparent and identify the best placed organisation to 
develop the agreed use based on value for money and deliverability of proposals – both the construction phase and 
long-term management. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

7

Given the inherent variability of each asset, each disposal is unique and whilst we set out below some of the core 
principles influencing the choice of disposal route, the Council will consider each case on its merits. 

Disposals can be progressed by two broad methods: 

 Competitively – there is a general presumption that such competitive disposals will be openly advertised and 
can include tender and auction; and 

 Non-competitively – sales by private treaty or negotiated disposals. 

The guidance for Local Government bodies is that a competitive process should be the norm and that disposal by 
private treaty is the exception.  To go down the negotiated disposal route there is a requirement to demonstrate 
that a non-competitive disposal will result in a better overall outcome for the public sector.  This could include 
compelling practical reasons relating to the nature of the site and/or the identified party’s status as a special or 
unique purchaser capable of extracting the full development potential (in terms of value, quality or outputs as 
appropriate). 

There are two options in respect of competitive disposals: 
 

 Single Stage Disposal - For simple sales or sales requiring a quick process then a single stage process is 
possible with interested parties 

 Multi Stage Disposal – For larger, more complex propositions, the alternative is to adopt a multi-stage 
process with the first stage being a quick and efficient process to enable short-listing of the interested 
parties. 

The Council will continue to adopt a case by case assessment relating to whether disposal opportunities have 
characteristics which raise the potential for the opportunity to be considered as a Procurement of Works.  This 
technical assessment in conjunction with the view of local stakeholders and consideration of challenge risk will 
inform the case by case assessment.  The incorporation of the EU Procurement Directive into English Law establishes 
that property transactions are outside the scope of the Regulations however this position becomes less clear when a 
simple sale is not adopted and where there is potential for the disposal objective to fall within the Works and 
Services requirements. 

Community Led Approaches 

The Council is committed to ensuring a level playing field in its partner selection, including community-led 
approaches.  A community-led approach could compete on an even footing in a competitive market, either 
operating on its own or through partnership with a more experienced developer, Registered Provider or other 
private or public-sector partner.  There is no defined set of circumstances in which a community-led approach 
should or should not work however there are some factors which are particularly beneficial to the success of the 
model: 

Page 44

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

8

 Local member support and / or a positive relationship between the group and the local Ward Members; 

 A lead VCF organisation or other public body with time and resource to commit to enabling the community 
to come together and deliver the scheme; 

 A shared commitment to a community led approach from all partners involved in the project; 

 Availability of external expertise with experience in the sector; 

 Strong and coherent community groups with a clear shared vision; and 

 A Business Plan that clearly sets out a financially sustainable approach to the long-term management of the 
asset. 

Self-build 
Where Council owned plots have been identified as suitable for self-build, the approach to disposal will depend on 
the nature of the site. Individual plots may be sold directly to market, e.g. Auction or through local advertisement. 
Small sites may be sold to organisations that can help facilitate bringing forward self-build schemes for self-builders 
or groups of self-builders. These plots are likely to be single infill plots, or small sites that can accommodate a small 
number of plots, rather than allocations within larger sites.  The Council will explore any statutory obligation to 
secure self-build plots within larger third-party developments.

The Council has established a ‘register of interest’ for people who may seek a self-build or custom build solution. The 
Council may need to consider introducing a further Policy to decide whether to sell sites/plots by way of an open 
market disposal for best price, or whether it may wish to prioritise which households may be given first/priority 
refusal for sites/plots.

Disposal Process
The main stages in the disposal process are as follows; 

 Operational property closed, declared surplus to operational requirements and available for disposal by 
relevant Cabinet Member

 Non-operational property declared available for disposal by Cabinet Member Regulatory, Compliance and 
Corporate Services. 

 Pre-disposal actions and activity (planning briefs or outline planning consent, disposal terms, method of 
disposal, etc) agreed by relevant Officers and implemented.

 The disposal will usually be handled by the Council’s property team unless it is of a specialist nature that 
requires external expertise or resource

 In the case of open market disposals, the asset will be fully marketed using the Internet and more traditional 
advertising methods.

 The disposal process will take into account any moratorium periods under Community Right to Bid

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

9

 All offers will be considered for compliance with tender conditions and undergo a value for money 
assessment, initially by the relevant Council officials, before being reported as follows

o Value: < £100,000 – Decision delegated to Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services

o Value: £100,001 to £500,000 – Decision made by Cabinet Member Regulatory, Compliance and 
Corporate Services

o Value: > £500,001 – Decision made by Cabinet.

 If a disposal is made by way of a Lease rather than freehold transfer then authority for the grant of such 
Leases shall be dealt with as set out in the Constitution. Leases for a term of up to 20 years are delegated to 
the Executive Director/Section 151 Officer. Leases over 20 years in length are delegated to the Cabinet 
Member Regulatory Compliance and Corporate Services and the Executive Director/Section 151 Officer.

 After publication of the decision and progression through the call-in process (if instigated) the decision will 
be implemented, and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer instructed to deal with the requisite legal 
documentation and Conveyance/Lease.

 Progress of disposal activity monitored by the Cabinet Member Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Disposals for Less Than Best Consideration
Local Authorities were given power under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972  (as amended)  to dispose 
of land in any manner they wished, the only constraint being that, except in the case of Leases for less than seven 
years, the sale had to be for the best consideration reasonably obtainable.  Any other disposal at less than best 
consideration requires the approval of the Secretary of State.

Section 123 applies to land held for most Local Authority functions, but notable exceptions are disposals of land held 
for housing purposes within the HRA or otherwise let on secure tenancies (governed by the Housing Acts), and for 
Planning purposes (governed by Planning legislation).  Until recently the 1998 General Disposal Consents enabled 
disposals at an undervalue in certain limited circumstances, e.g. disposals to a named charity. 

It is Government policy that Local Authorities should dispose of surplus land wherever possible. Generally, it is 
expected that land should be sold for the best consideration reasonably obtainable.  However, the Government 
recognises that there may be circumstances where an Authority considers it appropriate to dispose of land at an 
undervalue.  However, when disposing of land at an undervalue, Authorities must remain aware of the need to fulfil 
their fiduciary duty in a way which is accountable to local people. Other specific consents/processes may be required 
for disposal of land held for particular purposes (e.g. charitable land, schools, allotment land or open spaces). 

The General Disposal Consent (England) 2003 provides a general consent removing the requirement for Local 
Authorities to seek specific approval from the Secretary of State for a wide range of disposals at less than best 
consideration. Authorities are granted consent in circumstances where the undervalue does not exceed £2 million 
and where the disposing Authority considers the disposal is likely to contribute to the achievement of the promotion 
or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of the whole or any part of its area or all or any 
persons resident or present in its area.  It will be for the Council to decide whether any particular disposal meets 
these criteria or continues to require specific consent under the 1972 Act.  

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

10

All disposals need to comply with the UK’s Subsidy Control Rules. When disposing of land at less than best 
consideration, Authorities are providing a subsidy to the owner, developer and/or occupier of the land.  Where this 
occurs, Authorities must ensure that the nature and amount of the subsidy complies with the UK’s Subsidy Control 
Rules.  Failure to do so would render the aid unlawful. 

In Sefton, sales of land or property at an undervalue have only taken place on an exceptional basis and it is not 
envisaged that this approach will alter.  

4. Key Development Sites 
Options for Use and Planning
Key sites will be identified through a periodic asset review. Thereafter, the Council may choose to agree a Planning 
Brief with the Planning Service or in some circumstances seeking an outline consent if that process would resolve 
significant uncertainty about the use. Having achieved sufficient certainty, the Council would seek to dispose of the 
site and transfer the majority of the planning process to the developer, to allow them to bring their scheme through 
the local Planning process. 

Where assets are not yet allocated the Council will work with the Planning Service through the statutory Planning 
process so that appropriate sites can be brought forward in due course with suitable infrastructure. The Council’s 
Planning policies will set out the requirements for sustainability and other elements of design and build quality on 
each site. If the Planning Department propose specific standards which relate solely to the Council’s land holdings, 
we would seek further discussions around project viability.

Sites will predominantly be disposed of on a best consideration basis unless the provision of affordable housing has 
been prioritised in excess of the proportion required by current Planning policies, subject to viability. 

The Council will normally dispose of sites via open market means and invite bids, however the Council is not bound 
to accept the highest financial bid. It may decide to accept a lower financial bid from a Registered Provider or 
equivalent, where they would seek to use a site to provide affordable housing, and the Council deems that the 
requirement for affordable housing outweighs the financial offer. Likewise, the Council may limit the disposal of a 
site to offers from Registered Providers or equivalent only, where the Council is pro-actively seeking to secure the 
provision of affordable housing, or specialist housing to meet specific needs. Development briefs will be used to set 
out Council’s specific requirements. 

Investment Prior to Disposal 
The Council may invest to de-risk the site prior to disposal. As a principle, the Council proposes to undertake the 
minimum necessary pre-disposal work. Often for key development sites there will be some complexity relating to 
planning, title, site conditions or environmental status. As many as possible of the investigations relating to such 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

11

matters should be transferred to the purchaser however when the return on investment can be demonstrated and 
the site de-risked further work will be carried out. 

 In order to promote development and reflect market risk, larger sites may need to be sub-divided into manageable 
development parcels and disposed in phases. If some primary infrastructure is required to achieve that division into 
phases, the Council will need to consider how it can be funded, given Local Government expenditure constraints. 
Wherever possible, the Council will look to development partners to provide this infrastructure and use land value 
and adaptable payment terms to support this, (e.g. an Open Book approach with the provision of infrastructure 
reflected in the land value paid). 

The Council will consider undertaking infrastructure works which would help bring forward self-build schemes and 
sites. The ability of the Council will be dependent on availability of funding to carry out such work.

Disposal Routes
Key development sites will generally be disposed of through a multi-stage disposal or inline with UK’s Contract 
Notice under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (as amended). We will generally dispose of strategic land on a 
single site basis. Smaller development sites may be best disposed of as a package of more than one site. In some 
cases, the best value for money route may be though a joint venture or Local Asset Backed Vehicle. 

Joint ventures would normally be considered in the case of substantial or complex sites (with an expected 
construction phase of over four years) and an Options Appraisal would be carried out prior to selecting the preferred 
route. If local partners have developed or are developing a joint venture vehicle, the case for linking to or investing 
the Council’s assets in that vehicle would be considered on a case by case basis and be subject to State Aid and tax 
considerations.

The Council may also develop its own internal mechanisms to develop housing on land in its ownership through its’ 
Housing Development Company. In this case the Council may choose not to expose the site to the market.

Disposal Terms
The terms of disposal will be considered on a case by case basis and reflect the development economics of a 
particular site and the risks associated with its development. In deciding which of the following broad sets of terms 
to use, the Council will seek to maximise the rate of development on a site (given the local market) whilst ensuring 
value for money. The decision on terms will focus on the optimal risk transfer to balance those objectives. 

In some situations, the terms will be set before the disposal process starts, in other cases the disposal process will be 
used to test different terms to assess which offers the best value for money for that site. For smaller, self-contained 
sites where infrastructure costs are low and / or sites where demand is strong, an upfront payment may be 
appropriate as the sole basis of going to market. 

For other sites, we would typically ask bidders to respond on one or more of three principal bases: 

 upfront payment with overage clauses included; 

Page 48

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

12

 payment on milestones, for example at agreement of building lease, start on site, completion of phase (with 
overage), subject to a longstop date; and 

 percentage share of sales values as units are sold, subject to a longstop date with a specified payment sum 
at that date. 

Generally we would look to dispose of sites or phases at a scale where the repayment period would be up to five 
years, but an extended period would be considered if the specific circumstances direct that the extended time 
period would deliver a better outcome for the Council. Where payment is in the form of a percentage of receipts 
(the third option above), the longstop date should be within a five-year period, but with the ability to extend if 
circumstances dictate. 

Bids will be compared on consistent basis which may include a discounted cash flow analysis. 

When the Council disposes of its own land for residential development purposes, it will include provisions that 
require developers to sell houses on a freehold basis. This provision will still apply if the developer subsequently 
disposes of the land to another company. 

For Council assets the Council expects a purchaser/developer to use the in house Building Control section for any 
Building Regulation applications and Approvals.

Overage
Overage is usually defined as a method to capture, “an element of improved development value where there is a 
general uplift in the market or where the market value of the end development is not known at the time”. The 
Council will seek to use overage alongside the base payment to capture value increases that were unexpected or 
uncertain at the time of disposal. This includes the situation where the market value at the end of the development 
exceeds that anticipated at the time of the disposal which may be as a result of increased house prices, and/or 
improved house numbers from a subsequent planning permission, amongst other things. Overage will be applied to 
all sites with an expected value in excess of £0.25m and other sites where it is considered appropriate (e.g. large, low 
value sites in an uncertain market or sites where a change in planning is possible). 

Contracts will also include provision for claw back, including in the circumstances where the scheme is in material 
breach and forfeiture provisions are triggered requiring the claw back of the undeveloped land. 

Form of Contract 
In most circumstances where development outputs are expected, the Council’s preferred disposal approach will be 
by way of Building Lease (or Licence). They will provide the Council with the ongoing legal interest in the land 
through to development completion thereby providing adequate protection in respect of any imposed conditions or 
any deferred payment arrangements.

Building Leases provide the following benefits;

 Building Leases are registrable legal interests and as such are preferred by the funders of developers. They 
are capable of being charged thus providing security to the funding process.

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

13

 Building Leases also afford funders adequate step in rights should a developer default.

 The Council will seek to adopt a fairly standardised format which will provide a consistency of approach to 
the market and should ensure disposal and transactional costs are kept to a minimum.

 The freehold may transfer to the developer or end purchasers after development completion/financial close, 
e.g. to a purchaser of an individual plot from a developer on completion of the sale.

The Council may also use a reversion clause in isolation or in conjunction with other control mechanisms to ensure 
that a preferred scheme is delivered.

5. Other Land and Property Assets 
 

Market Sale Assets 
Market sale assets are those which have not been identified as making a strategic contribution to the Councils 
business and social objectives. These assets will generally be much smaller or less valuable than the strategic sites 
and / or their end use may already be clearly defined (e.g. agricultural land with little chance of achieving planning 
permission for development to enhance value). 

The nature of these assets and the Council’s requirement to reduce its financial commitment to the asset base 
means that we will move to disengage from these sites in as straightforward a manner as possible. 

The Council will continue to engage positively to requests from existing tenants wishing to acquire the freehold of 
their property particularly where the transfer will support further investment and job creation. The principal 
considerations are as follows;

 For market sale assets a Development Brief would not usually be required. Subject to case by case 
consideration, the transaction is more likely to be a straight disposal than procurement. 

 Freehold transfer would normally be used with the purchaser expected to invest or build out in accordance 
with Planning and Building Regulations approvals. Market sale assets will usually be disposed of using an 
upfront payment at freehold transfer. 

 The Council will not hold these market sale assets longer than necessary. The prioritisation of selection of 
assets for disposal will be influenced by holding costs and income generated. The Council will seek to 
disengage early from assets with highest holding costs but may need to consider the timing of disposal of 
certain assets if their receipt or income is needed to balance the costs of other sites. 

 Claw back provisions may be included for change of use from a prescribed purpose. 

 For surplus parts of highways, grass verges, etc, we would generally seek to dispose on a freehold basis with 
a claw back condition in case of change of use. Disposal to private owners of adjacent properties may be 
considered if there is a clear indication that the transfer will not be contentious in the locality and they are 

Page 50

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

14

the only purchaser. Relevant Cabinet Members are to be briefed on these disposals and in agreement along 
with the consultation of Ward Councillors.

 For open space, there may be a range of potential recipients including the local Registered Provider and / or 
an associated community and not for profit organisations.  In such cases, the Council would seek to transfer 
the land to such a body (preferably in perpetuity) with a clear specification of the level of ongoing 
management required, which will be tested for value for money and affordability. Such disposal would have 
due consideration to the relevant procurement rules and legislative requirements such as advertisement of 
Public Open Space Notices

Such Transfers will have the benefit to the Council of reducing holding and management costs as well as ensuring 
that assets are managed sustainably in the future.

6. Disposal Programme 
The Council will publish a list of the sites that it expects to bring forward for disposal over a rolling period. These will 
be subject to review and due diligence and in practice it is likely that there will be additions and substitutions, but 
the purpose of publishing this information is to provide a transparent approach concerning potential disposals.

It will include a number of sites where disposal is being pursued on the basis of a review of Council assets based on 
the following criteria: 

 Identification of strategic holdings; 

 Development synergies; 

 Demand from tenants or third-party interests; 

 Reduction of holding costs

The listed sites are expected to be disposed over the relevant timeframe in accordance with the principles set out in 
this document with the aim of the realisation of capital receipts. 

As set out in this document, sites will be disposed of or developers procured as appropriate. Opportunities will be 
advertised in due course as individual assets and sites are put forward in line with the agreed disposal programme. 

Residential Ground Rents and Chief Rents Portfolio

The Council has a significant ground rent and chief rent portfolio arising from its freehold ownership of a number of 
residential properties throughout the Borough let on a leasehold basis, the majority of which are reserved on 999 
years Leases, with a small number of 99 years Leases. Whilst currently the Council disposes of its’ freehold 
reversionary interests and/or chief rents following receipt of a letter or e-mail from a residential occupier, moving 
forward, the Council intends on taking a proactive approach by writing out to said occupiers giving them the 
opportunity to purchase the freehold of the property in which they reside. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



  A S S E T  D I S P O S A L  P O L I C Y

15

The Council has an obligation to obtain best consideration for its assets under Section 123 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 so therefore the above approach will be in line with this.

7. Policy Review
This policy will be reviewed on a periodic basis to ensure that it takes account of any changes in professional and 
industry best practice and provides the Council with a fit for purpose means to review and rationalise the property 
asset base. 

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



Report to: Cabinet 

Council

Date of Meeting: 10 February 2022

3 March 2022

Subject: Prudential Indicators 2022/23

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: All Wards

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities was introduced 
following the Local Government Act 2003.  It details a number of measures / limits / 
parameters (Prudential Indicators) that are required to be set each financial year.  The 
approval of these limits will provide a benchmark to measure actual performance against, 
to help ensure that the Council complies with relevant legislation, is acting prudently and 
that its capital expenditure proposals are affordable.

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is recommended to:
1) Recommend to Council that the Prudential Indicators (as detailed in the 

report) are set as the basis for compliance with The Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities;

2) Note that the relevant Prudential Indicators will be revised as required and 
that any changes will be brought to Cabinet and then to Council for 
approval;

3) Note that the estimates of capital expenditure may change as grant 
allocations are received; and

4) Recommend to Council that authority is delegated to the Executive Director 
for Corporate Resources and Customer Services in conjunction with the 
Cabinet Member – Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services to 
manage the Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for external debt as 
detailed in Section 5 of the report.

Council is recommended to:
1) Approve the Prudential Indicators (as detailed in the report) as the basis for 

compliance with The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities;

2) Note that relevant Prudential Indicators will be revised as required and that 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



any changes will be brought to Cabinet and then to Council for approval;
3) Note that the estimates of capital expenditure may change as grant 

allocations are received; and
4) Delegate authority to the Executive Director for Corporate Resources and 

Customer Services in conjunction with the Cabinet Member – Regulatory, 
Compliance and Corporate Services to manage the Authorised Limit and 
Operational Boundary for external debt as detailed in Section 5 of the report.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To enable the Council to effectively manage its Capital Financing activities and comply 
with the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. The prudential 
indicators for the forthcoming and following years must be set before the beginning of the 
forthcoming year.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

None

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

n/a

(B) Capital Costs

n/a

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
The prudential indicators will allow for capital spending obligations to be managed 
within the budget for 2022/23.

Legal Implications: None.

Equality Implications: None.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

N

The setting of the Prudential Indicators will have no direct impact on the Council’s 
Climate Emergency.

Page 54

Agenda Item 8



Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: n/a
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: n/a
Commission, broker and provide core services: n/a
Place – leadership and influencer: Support strategic planning and promote innovative, 
affordable and sustainable capital investment projects through application of the CIPFA 
Prudential Code.

Drivers of change and reform: n/a 
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: Support Capital Investment by measuring 
the impact and affordability of decisions over the medium-term financial planning 
horizon.

Greater income for social investment: n/a
Cleaner Greener: n/a

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director for Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6683/22) is 
the author of the report. 

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4883/22) has been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

None.

Implementation Date for the Decision

With immediate effect.

Contact Officer: Graham Hussey  
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4100
Email Address: Graham.Hussey@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

Appendix A – Summary of Prudential Indicators.

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 55

Agenda Item 8



1. Introduction

1.1. The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (The 
Prudential Code) was introduced following the Local Government Act 2003. It 
details a number of measures/limits/parameters (Prudential Indicators) that are 
required to be set each financial year.  The approval of these limits will ensure 
that the Council complies with the relevant legislation, is acting prudently and that 
its capital expenditure proposals are affordable.

1.2. The Council has adopted CIPFA’s 2017 Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities. CIPFA published a revised Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management and a revised Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities in December 2021. The new codes take effect immediately, except 
that authorities may defer introducing revised reporting requirements until 
2023/24. Sefton will therefore adopt the revised reporting requirements when 
setting its prudential indictors for 2023/24 to allow time for proper scrutiny and 
consultation with treasury management advisers to take place.

1.3. The Council is required to approve Prudential Indicators for the following items:

(i) Capital Expenditure (Section 2);
(ii) Financing Costs/Net Revenue Stream (Section 3);
(iii) Capital Financing Requirement (Section 4);
(iv) External Debt (Section 5-8);
(v) Treasury Management Indicators (Section 9).

1.4. The above indicators are presented in the following paragraphs and summarised 
at Appendix A.

2. Prudential Indicator – Capital Expenditure

2.1. This indicator details the overall total planned capital expenditure of the Council 
and therefore reflects the Council’s Capital Programme.  

2.2. The actual capital expenditure that was incurred in 2020/21 is shown below and 
the estimated current and future years capital programme are recommended for 
approval:

Capital Expenditure   
      

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£m £m £m £m £m

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

TOTAL 26.203 43.542 47.015 23.311 20.566

2.3. The estimated levels of expenditure above represent those elements approved 
by Council and which have been included within the Capital Programme.

2.4. The increase in capital expenditure during 2021/22 and 2022/23 represents 
additional allocations added as part of the traditional capital programme and new 

Page 56

Agenda Item 8



schemes included in the Council’s Strategic Investment Programme. Due to the 
size and complexity of the Council’s capital programme, some schemes may also 
be rescheduled from previous years and thus increase the overall estimate of 
expenditure. The majority of the additional expenditure will be funded from 
external grants, contributions and capital receipts. This may change as grant 
allocations and additional capital schemes are made known to the Council and 
are approved for inclusion within the Capital Programme.

2.5. There are several Town Deal proposals currently being progressed that may 
impact upon the estimates of capital expenditure presented in this report, the 
most significant of which being a new Marine Lake Events Centre and adjacent 
water and light show in Southport. In June 2021 Cabinet agreed to progress with 
plans for this project. The Town Deal Board have allocated £33.3m of capital 
funding to the to the scheme and The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
supports the principle of allocating up to £20m to the events centre subject to a 
satisfactory business case being approved. The project is currently in the pre-
development phase but as this and other Town Deal projects are developed to 
final business case and the full amount of funding is drawn down, revised 
estimates of capital expenditure (and any other prudential indicators that may be 
affected) will to be presented to Cabinet and Council for approval.

3. Prudential Indicator – Financing Costs/Net Revenue Stream

3.1. This indicator measures the total capital financing costs of capital expenditure as 
a proportion of the total level of income from Government Grants, local Council 
Tax and Business Rates payers. This measure demonstrates the affordability of 
capital plans by comparing the cost of borrowing undertaken to fund the capital 
programme (in previous years and for planned expenditure in future years) to the 
net revenue available to the Council in each of those years.

3.2. Actual figures for 2020/21 and estimates of the ratio for 2021/22 and future years 
are:

Financing Costs / Net Revenue Stream   
     

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£m £m £m £m £m

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Ratio 4.2% 4.1% 3.8% 3.6% 3.4%

3.3. The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and proposals 
contained in the capital programme and new borrowing requirements in the 
Capital Programme. These borrowing requirements include projects and schemes 
that generate savings and income streams to the Council that support repayment 
schedules.

3.4. The higher level of financing costs during 2020/21 and 2021/22 is the result of an 
upfront payment to Merseyside Pension Fund (£43.623m) which is funded by 
borrowing.

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



3.5. The Merseyside Pension Fund offered the Council the opportunity to prepay (in 
April 2020) a proportion of the total expected contributions for the three-year 
valuation period at a discount. The Council has previously taken a similar 
opportunity at the start of the last two valuation periods. Officers discussed the 
proposal with both the Merseyside Pension Fund and the Council’s external 
auditors. 

3.6. The borrowing is being repaid across the three years of the valuation period, 
funded by the Council making significantly reduced payments to the Merseyside 
Pension Fund each month during the period.  After allowing for these borrowing 
costs, as stated, this will generate a significant net saving to the Council.  

4. Prudential Indicator – Capital Finance Requirement

4.3. The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) indicator reflects the Authority’s 
underlying need to borrow for a capital purpose.  This is based on historic capital 
financing decisions and a calculation of future years planned capital expenditure 
requirements. 

4.4. Actual 2020/21 and estimated year-end Capital Financing Requirements for 
current and future years are set out in the table below:

Capital Financing Requirement
   

31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24 31/03/25
£m £m £m £m £m

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

CFR 230.150 233.590 235.437 232.448 229.218
      

5. Prudential Indicator – Borrowing Limits

5.1. External borrowing undertaken by the Council arises as a consequence of all the 
financial transactions of the Authority, both capital and revenue, and not simply 
those arising from capital spending. The Council manages its Treasury 
Management position in terms of its external borrowings and investments in 
accordance with its approved Treasury Management Strategy and Policy 
Statements. These documents are presented for approval elsewhere on this 
agenda.

5.2. The Operational Boundary

5.2.1. The Operational Boundary sets a limit on the total amount of long-term borrowing 
that the Council can undertake.  It reflects the Authority’s current commitments, 
existing capital expenditure plans, and is consistent with approved Treasury 
Management Policy Statement and practices.  The figures are based on prudent 
estimates.

5.2.2. In respect of the Operational Boundary, it is recommended that the Council 
approves the following limits for the next three financial years.  These limits 
separately identify borrowing from other long-term liabilities arising from finance 

Page 58

Agenda Item 8



leases, PFIs and the transferred debt from the now defunct Merseyside Residuary 
Body.

Operational Boundary     
     

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£m £m £m £m

Borrowing 200.000 198.000 192.000 196,000
Other Long-Term Liabilities 8.000 7.000 6.000 5,000

TOTAL 208.000 205.000 198.000 201.000

5.2.3. The Council is asked to approve these limits and to delegate authority to the 
Executive Director for Corporate Resources and Customer Services in conjunction 
with the Cabinet Member – Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services to 
manage the movement between the separately agreed limits for borrowing and 
other long-term liabilities within the total limit for any individual year.

5.3. The Authorised Limit

5.3.1. The Authorised Limit sets a boundary on the amount of borrowing (both short and 
long-term) that the Council undertakes. It uses the Operational Boundary as its 
base but also includes additional headroom to allow, for example, for exceptional 
cash movements.  Under the terms of section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 
2003, the Council is legally obliged to determine and review how much it can 
afford to borrow i.e. the Authorised Limit.  The Authorised Limit determined for 
2022/23 will be the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1).

5.3.2. The Council is asked to delegate authority to the Executive Director for Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services in conjunction with the Cabinet Member – 
Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services to manage the movement 
between the separately agreed limits for borrowing and other long-term liabilities 
within the total limit for any individual year.  Any such changes will be presented to 
Cabinet and Council for approval at the next available meeting. The Authorised 
Limit for external debt is as follows:

Authorised Limit     
     

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£m £m £m £m

Borrowing 215.000 213.000 207.000 211.000
Other Long Term Liabilities 8.000 7.000 6.000 5.000

TOTAL 223.000 220.000 213.000 216.000

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



6. Prudential Indicator – Actual External Debt

6.1. The Prudential Code requires that in setting indicators for 2022/23, the Council 
reports its actual levels of external debt as at 31st March 2021. The Council’s 
actual external debt at 31st March 2021 was:

31/03/2021
£m

Borrowing 187.434
Other Long Term Liabilities 8.357

TOTAL 195.791

7. Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

7.1. This prudential indicator is used to ensure that the authority does not borrow in 
advance of need. If the authority borrowed in advance of need then the net 
position would be negative – i.e. borrowing greater than the CFR. 

7.2. The chart below illustrates that the Council is not intending to borrow in advance 
of need, and that there is a significant level of “under borrowing”.

7.3. The higher level of gross debt shown during 2020/21 represents an upfront 
payment to Merseyside Pension Fund funded by borrowing. As mentioned in 
paragraph 3.6 (above) this will generate a significant saving to the Council whilst 
still maintaining the under borrowing position.

7.4. The estimates of gross debt for 2021/22 to 2024/25 include replacement 
borrowing for maturing loans and borrowing for schemes previously approved by 
Council for inclusion in the Capital Programme.

196
175 166 158 159

2020/21
Actual

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

2023/24
Estimate

2024/25
Estimate

0

50

100

150

200

250
230 234 235 232 229

Gross Debt

CFR

Gross Debt and the CFR

£m

Page 60

Agenda Item 8



8. Liability Benchmark

8.1. As mentioned in paragraph 1.2 (above), CIPFA has issued revised codes of 
practice on Treasury Management and the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities. One of the proposed changes to the Treasury Management 
code is the introduction of a liability benchmark that can be compared to the local 
authority’s borrowing strategy and can be calculated to show the lowest risk level 
of borrowing.

8.2. CIPFA has indicated that authorities may defer the introduction of revised 
reporting requirements until 2023/24. Sefton has however, on the 
recommendation of CIPFA and following advice from its treasury management 
advisers, chosen to adopt a liability benchmark from 2022/23 onwards as best 
practice and to ensure a prudent borrowing strategy is maintained.

8.3. The chart below shows the liability benchmark that has been calculated for 2021 
and future years:

8.4. The following explanations are provided to assist with understanding the chart:

i. Grey shaded area – represents the Council’s current fixed term loans for 2021 
and future years. The amounts shown do not include any new borrowing for 
schemes included in the capital programme or replacement borrowing for 
maturing loans, hence the line reduces over time as existing loans are paid 
off.

ii. Solid blue line – an estimate of Loans Capital Financing Requirement (the 
CFR less any other long-term debt liabilities), this being the required level to 
fund the capital programme.

2021 2026 2031 2036 2041 2046
0

50

100

150

200

250
Fixed-term Loans

Loans CFR

Liability Benchmark (year-end)

Liability Benchmark 2021 to 2046

£m

Page 61

Agenda Item 8



iii. Solid red line – a forecast of the year end liability benchmark representing the 
lowest amount of borrowing that should be undertaken to maintain the 
Council’s liquidity and minimise credit risk.

8.5. Where the liability benchmark exceeds the amount of fixed term loans then this 
indicates a borrowing requirement for the local authority. As can be seen above, 
Sefton has a borrowing requirement from 2022 onwards. This borrowing 
requirement arises as historic loans are paid off and the level of forecast reserves 
and balances diminishes over time.

8.6. It is anticipated that the above borrowing requirement is manageable within the 
current borrowing strategy. As mentioned in paragraph 7.2 (above), the Council is 
significantly under-borrowed and may reverse this position at any time by 
borrowing from the PWLB. Replacement loans from the PWLB will also be taken 
at lower rates than historic loans that were taken out when rates were higher and 
therefore interest payments on these loans will be lower.

9. Prudential Indicators – Treasury Management

9.1. The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management 
in Public Services.  The annual Policy and Strategy Documents establish the 
following debt maturity profiles and an upper limit for investments made by the 
Council for more than 365 days:

9.2. Debt Maturity Profile

9.2.1. A debt maturity profile is detailed in the following tables i.e. the amount of 
borrowing that is maturing in each period as a percentage of total projected 
borrowing:

   
Debt Maturity   

 
Upper 
Limit

Lower 
Limit

Under 12 months 35% 0%
12 months and within 24 months 40% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 50% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 50% 0%
10 years and within 15 years 75% 0%
15 years and above 90% 25%
   

9.3. Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer Than 365 Days

9.3.1. An upper limit on the value of principal sums invested for periods over 365 days 
(investments as approved in the annual Treasury Management Policy and 
Strategy Documents) is set as a percentage of total investments. This limit is set 
to contain the authority’s exposure to the possibility of loss that might arise as a 
result of having to seek early repayment of principal sums invested.

Page 62

Agenda Item 8



Principal Sums Invested for Longer Than 365 Days

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Upper Limit £15m £15m £10m £10m
    

9.3.2. This limit will be kept under review to take advantage of any opportunities in the 
current money market.

10. Monitoring Prudential Indicators

10.1. Having established the Prudential Indicators, the Executive Director for Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services will monitor them during the year and report on 
actual performance to the Audit & Governance Committee on a quarterly basis. 
An outturn report of performance against the Prudential Indicators will be 
presented to both Cabinet and Council following the financial year end.

Page 63

Agenda Item 8



Summary of Prudential Indicators Appendix A

Capital Expenditure   
      

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£m £m £m £m £m

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

TOTAL 26.203 43.542 47.015 23.311 20.566

Financing Costs / Net Revenue Stream   
     

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£m £m £m £m £m

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Ratio 4.2% 4.1% 3.8% 3.6% 3.4%

Capital Financing Requirement
   

31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24 31/03/25
£m £m £m £m £m

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

CFR 230.150 233.590 235.437 232.448 229.218
      

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement

 

2020/21
£m

Actual

2021/22
£m

Estimate

2022/23
£m

Estimate

2023/24
£m

Estimate

2024/25
£m

Estimate

CFR 230.150 233.590 235.437 232.448 229.218
Gross Debt 195.791 174.620 166.419 158.359 159.355
 
Under / (Over) Borrowing 34.360 58.970 69.018 74.089 69.863

Liability Benchmark 2021 to 2025
Projections in £millions

31st March: 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

Loans Capital Financing Requirement * 221.8 225.7 228.1 225.6 223.1

External Borrowing ** 187.4 167.2 133.7 121.8 113.8

Liability Benchmark (year-end) 125.7 187.7 196.0 199.6 198.0

   
      * CFR excluding other long-term debt liabilities
    ** Excluding new borrowing and other long-term debt liabilities.

Page 64

Agenda Item 8



Operational Boundary     
     

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£m £m £m £m

Borrowing 200.000 198.000 192.000 196,000
Other Long-Term Liabilities 8.000 7.000 6.000 5,000

TOTAL 208.000 205.000 198.000 201.000

Authorised Limit     
     

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£m £m £m £m

Borrowing 215.000 213.000 207.000 211.000
Other Long Term Liabilities 8.000 7.000 6.000 5.000

TOTAL 223.000 220.000 213.000 216.000

   
Debt Maturity   

 
Upper 
Limit

Lower 
Limit

Under 12 months 35% 0%
12 months and within 24 months 40% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 50% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 50% 0%
10 years and within 15 years 75% 0%
15 years and above 90% 25%
   

Principal Sums Invested for Longer Than 365 Days

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Upper Limit £15m £15m £10m £10m
    

Page 65

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet 

Council

Date of Meeting: 10 February 2022

3 March 2022

Subject: Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022/23

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: All Wards

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

This report sets out the following proposed policy and strategy documents: 

a) Treasury Management Policy (Appendix A)
b) Treasury Management Strategy (Appendix B)
c) Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement (Appendix C).

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is recommended to:
1) Recommend to Council that the Treasury Management Policy Document for 

2022/23 be agreed;
2) Recommend to Council that the Treasury Management Strategy Document for 

2022/23 be agreed; 
3) Recommend to Council that the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy 

Statement 2022/23 be agreed.

Council is recommended to:
1) Approve the Treasury Management Policy Document for 2022/23;
2) Approve the Treasury Management Strategy Document for 2022/23; 
3) Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2022/23.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Council has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management in the 
Public Services. The Code requires that the Council sets a policy and strategy for the 
effective operation of the Council’s Treasury Management function during the 
financial year.  This will ensure that cash flow is adequately planned, surplus monies 
are invested commensurate with the Council’s risk appetite whilst providing 

Page 67

Agenda Item 9



adequate portfolio liquidity, and that the borrowing needs of the Council are properly 
managed to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:

 None

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs 

All financial implications arising from this report are contained within the 
Councils overall revenue budget 

(B) Capital Costs

All financial implications arising from this report are contained within the 
Councils overall capital budget

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
The policy and strategy will allow for the Council’s investment income and the 
financing costs for the Capital Programme to be managed within the budget for 
2022/23. 

Legal Implications:
None.

Equality Implications:
None.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

N

The Council will during 2022/23, invest its reserves and balances overnight with either 
banks or money market funds in order to maintain high security and liquidity of such 
balances. 

It may also have the opportunity to invest in longer term financial instruments or 
investment funds for which there may be a chance to consider the impact on the 
Council’s Climate Emergency motion. In the event that the Council has more surplus 
balances available in future that may lead to longer term investing, the Council will 
take account of the climate emergency when discussing the options available with its 
Treasury Management Advisors.

Page 68

Agenda Item 9



Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: n/a

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: n/a

Commission, broker and provide core services: n/a

Place – leadership and influencer: Support strategic planning and promote 
innovative, affordable and sustainable capital investment projects through 
application of the CIPFA Prudential Code.

Drivers of change and reform: The Treasury Management function ensures that 
cash flow is adequately planned, and cash is available when needed by the Council 
for improvements to the borough through its service provision and the Capital 
Programme.

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:  Pursuit of optimum performance on 
investments activities, minimising the cost of borrowing, the effective consideration / 
management of associated risks which continues to contribute to a balanced budget 
for the Council.

Greater income for social investment: n/a

Cleaner Greener: n/a

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6685/22) 
is the author of the report.

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4885/22) has been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

The Council’s external Treasury Management Advisors, Arlingclose Ltd, have 
provided advice with regards to the Treasury Management Policy and Strategy.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the Call-In period for this committee.

Contact Officer: Graham Hussey  
Telephone Number: 0151 934 4100
Email Address: Graham.Hussey@sefton.gov.uk

Page 69

Agenda Item 9



Appendices:

Appendix A – Treasury Management Policy 2022/23
Appendix B – Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23
Appendix C – Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement 2022/23

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 70

Agenda Item 9



1. Background

1.1. The Council has adopted CIPFA’s 2017 Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management in the Public Services which recommends the production of 
annual Treasury Management Policy and Strategy documents.

1.2. In addition, the Council has adopted and incorporated into both documents: 

a) The requirements of the 2017 Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities; and 

b) An Investment Strategy produced in line with the Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) Statutory Guidance on 
Local Government Investments 2018. This sets out the manner in which 
the Council will manage its investments, giving priority to the security and 
liquidity of those investments.

1.3. CIPFA published a revised Code of Practice on Treasury Management and a 
revised Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities in December 
2021. The new codes take effect immediately, except that authorities may 
defer introducing revised reporting requirements until 2023/24. Sefton will 
therefore adopt the revised reporting requirements in the 2023/24 Treasury 
Management Policy and Strategy documents to allow time for proper scrutiny 
and consultation with treasury management advisers to take place.

2. Treasury Management Policy and Strategy Documents

2.1. The Code requires the Council to produce:

a) A Treasury Management Policy Document – which outlines the broad 
policies, objectives and approach to risk management of its treasury 
management activities;

b) A Treasury Management Strategy Document – This sets out specific 
treasury activities which will be undertaken in compliance with the Policy in 
2022/23; and

c) Suitable Treasury Management Practices, setting out the manner in which 
the organisation will seek to achieve these policies and objectives, 
prescribing how it will manage and control those activities.

The content of the Policy Statement and the Treasury Management Practices 
will follow the recommendations contained in sections 6 and 7 of the Treasury 
Management Code. The Treasury Management Practices will incorporate the 
changes to the 2017 Code pertaining to the management and reporting of 
non-treasury management investment activity. Any further amendment to 
reflect the particular circumstances of the Council will not result in the Council 
materially deviating from the Code’s key principles.

2.2. The proposed Policy and Strategy Documents are attached at Appendix A 
and B respectively.  

Page 71

Agenda Item 9



2.3. In view of the complex nature of Treasury Management, update reports will be 
presented to the Audit and Governance Committee at each cycle and a mid-
year report will also be presented to Cabinet and Council. An annual outturn 
report will also be presented to Audit and Governance Committee and both 
Cabinet and Council.

3. Financial Procedure Rules – Banking Arrangements

3.1. The Treasury Management Policy Document at Appendix A delegates 
certain responsibilities to the Executive Director for Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services, including all executive decisions on borrowing, investment 
or financing, in line with the Constitution of the Council.

4. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement

4.1. Local Authorities have a statutory requirement to set aside each year part of 
their revenues as a provision for the repayment of debt, called the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP). The provision is in respect of capital expenditure 
incurred in previous years and financed by borrowing.

4.2. Regulations 27 and 28 in the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 [SI 3146, as amended] require local 
authorities to make a prudent amount of minimum revenue provision (MRP).

4.3. The statutory requirement to make an MRP charge does not apply to the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA).

4.4. The MRP regulations were revised by the Local Authorities (Capital Finance 
and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/414]. 
These regulations were complimented by the publication of guidance on 
determining the “prudent” level of MRP, to which authorities are required to 
have regard. The 2008 regulations and associated guidance allowed local 
authorities more flexibility in calculating their MRP annual charge.

4.5. Authorities are required to prepare an annual statement of their MRP policy 
for submission to their full Council before the start of each financial year. The 
aim is to give elected Members the opportunity to scrutinise the proposed 
application of the MRP guidance.

4.6. Revised guidance was published in February 2012 and again in February 
2018. Changes made in the 2018 Guidance have been set out in the MRP 
policy statement.

4.7. In November 2021, the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) published a consultation seeking views on proposed 
changes to the (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 
to better enforce the duty of local authorities to make prudent Minimum 
Revenue Provision each year. The proposed changes seek to (1) stop local 
authorities using capital receipts in lieu of a prudential charge to revenue, and 
(2) to ensure that they make an MRP charge in respect of borrowing 

Page 72

Agenda Item 9



associated with investment assets or capital loans. These changes are not 
intended to have any impact on the Housing Revenue Account, or on treasury 
management activities that do not score as capital spend. The proposed 
changes will come into effect from 1 April 2023, and therefore do not require 
any amendments to the MRP policy for 2022/23.

4.8. The proposed MRP Policy Statement is set out in Appendix C.

Page 73

Agenda Item 9



Appendix A

Corporate Resources and Customer Services

Treasury Management Policy
2022/23

Page 74

Agenda Item 9



1. Treasury Management Policy

1.1. The Council defines Treasury Management as:

The management of the Authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows; its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control 
of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.

1.2. The Council’s Statement of Treasury Management Policy is:

a) Effective Treasury Management is acknowledged as providing support 
towards the achievement of the Council’s business and service objectives.  
It is therefore committed to the principles of achieving best value in 
Treasury Management, and to employing suitable performance 
measurement techniques, within the context of effective risk management.

b) The successful identification, monitoring and control of risk are regarded 
as the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of the Council’s Treasury 
Management activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and 
reporting of Treasury Management activities will focus on their risk 
implications for the organisation.

1.3. A dedicated team of three officers carries out the day-to-day treasury 
management activities. Two of the officers are qualified accountants, and one 
is a qualified accounting technician. The Service Manager – Treasury & 
Capital has obtained the CIPFA/Association of Corporate Treasurers 
sponsored qualification Certificate in International Treasury Management – 
Public Finance, which is aimed at giving a solid grounding in treasury 
management and which is tailored to the public sector.

1.4. Members should receive training in the Treasury Management function in 
order to assist in the understanding of this complex area. This will be 
addressed via the provision of regular reporting to Cabinet and the Audit and 
Governance Committee. Also, specific training and information on Treasury 
Management is available to all councillors on an annual basis. This is 
provided from the Authority’s external advisors.

2. Policy on the use of external service providers

2.1. Following the completion of a successful tender exercise in September 2020, 
the Council has engaged Arlingclose Ltd. as its treasury consultants from 1st 
October 2020 to 30th September 2023, with a further option of a one-year 
extension.

2.2. The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
rests with the Council at all times. However, access to external treasury 
consultants provides access to specialist skills, knowledge, and advice. The 
Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by 
which their value will be assessed are properly documented and subjected to 
regular review. 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



3. Treasury Management Strategy 

3.1. The Annual Strategy Document sets out in detail how the Treasury 
Management Activities are to be undertaken in a particular financial year to 
comply with the Council’s Policy. The strategy for 2022/23 is attached at 
Appendix B.

4. Delegated Powers

4.1. The Executive Director for Corporate Resources and Customer Services, 
under the Council’s Constitution, is given the following authority:

a) All money in the hands of the Council shall be aggregated for the 
purposes of Treasury Management and shall be under the control of the 
Executive Director for Corporate Resources and Customer Services, the 
Officer designated for the purposes of Section 151 of the Local 
Government Act, 1972;

b) All executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be 
delegated to the Executive Director for Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services (or in their absence the Deputy Section 151 Officer) 
who shall be required to act in accordance with the Council’s Treasury 
Policy, Treasury Management Practices and CIPFA’s Standard of 
Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

5. Reporting Requirements/Responsibilities

5.1. Cabinet and Council will:

a) Approve, prior to each financial year, the Treasury Management Policy 
and Strategy Documents;

b) Monitor these documents and approve any in-year amendments 
necessary to facilitate continued effective Treasury Management activity; 
and

c) Receive a mid-year report on Treasury Management activity during the 
financial year and an annual outturn report following each financial year.

5.2. Audit and Governance Committee will:

a) Monitor performance on at least a quarterly basis to ensure continued 
scrutiny of Treasury Management activity;

b) Receive an annual outturn report on Treasury Management activity 
following each financial year; and

c) Will be responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of treasury management 
policies.

5.3. The Executive Director for Corporate Resources and Customer Services will:

Page 76

Agenda Item 9



a) Draft and submit to Cabinet and Council prior to each financial year, the 
Treasury Management Policy and Strategy Documents;

b) Implement and monitor these documents resubmitting any necessary in-
year revisions/amendments (at least on a quarterly basis) to Cabinet and 
Council for approval;

c) Draft and submit a mid-year report during the financial year and an annual 
outturn report on Treasury Management activity to Cabinet and Council 
following each financial year-end;

d) Draft and submit an annual outturn report (and quarterly performance 
reports) on Treasury Management activity to the Audit & Governance 
Committee following each financial year-end;

e) Maintain suitable Treasury Management Practices (TMP), setting out the 
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve its objectives.  The 
TMP’s will also prescribe how the treasury activities will be managed and 
controlled;

f) Be responsible for the execution and administration of treasury 
management decisions; and

g) Act in accordance with the Council’s Policy Statement and Treasury 
Management Practices, and also in accordance with CIPFA’s Standard of 
Professional Practice on Treasury Management.

6. Borrowing and investments

6.1. The Council’s borrowing will be affordable, sustainable and prudent and 
consideration will be given to the management of interest rate risk and 
refinancing risk. The source from which the borrowing is taken, and the type of 
borrowing should allow the Council transparency and control over its debt. 

6.2. The Council’s primary objective in relation to investments remains the security 
and liquidity of capital. The yield earned on investments remains important but 
is a secondary consideration.  

Page 77

Agenda Item 9



Appendix B

Corporate Resources and Customer Services

Treasury Management Strategy
2022/23

Page 78

Agenda Item 9



1. Introduction

1.1. The Treasury Management Strategy Document sets out in detail how the 
Treasury Management Activities are to be undertaken in a particular financial 
year to comply with the Council’s Treasury Management Policy. 

1.2. The Strategy has been produced to incorporate the requirements of the 
CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 2017 and the Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance 2017. 

2. Treasury Management Strategy 2022/23

2.1. The Strategy for 2022/23 covers:

a) Treasury Limits in force which will limit the borrowing activity of the 
Council (2.2);

b) Prudential Indicators 2022/23 to 2024/25 (2.3);
c) Credit Risk (2.4);
d)  Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (MIFID II) (2.5);
e) Interest Rates (2.6);
f) Exchange Rates (2.7);
g) Capital Borrowing (2.8 & 2.9);
h) Debt Rescheduling opportunities (2.10);
i) Municipal Bond Agency (2.11);
j) Borrowing in advance of need (2.122);
k) The Use of Financial Instruments for the Management of Risks (2.133);
l) Investment Strategy (2.144);
m) Non-Treasury Investments (2.15);
n) Ethical Investing (2.14.146);
o) The Climate Emergency (2.17):
p) Member and Officer Training (2.18).

2.2. Treasury Limits for 2022/23

The Treasury Limits set by Council in respect of its borrowing activities are:

Affordable Borrowing Limit Maximum £220m

It is a statutory duty under S.3 of the Local Government Act 2003 and 
supporting regulations, for the Council to determine and keep under review 
how much it can afford to borrow.  The amount so determined is termed the 
‘Affordable Borrowing Limit’. The Affordable Borrowing Limit takes into 
account the Council’s current debt, an assessment of external borrowing to 
fund the Capital Programme in 2022/23, the need to fund capital expenditure 
previously met from internal funding, and cash flow requirements.   

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



Short-term Borrowing Limit Maximum £30m

The Short–Term Borrowing limit takes into account an assessment of any 
potential short-term financing the Council may need (e.g. bank overdraft, 
short-term funding in anticipation of grant receipts).  Short-Term Borrowing is 
defined as being for less than 12 months.

2.3. Prudential Indicators

The following prudential indicators are considered relevant by CIPFA for 
setting an integrated Treasury Management Strategy:

2.3.1. Debt Maturity Indicators

These indicators are designed to be a control over an authority having large 
concentrations of debt needing to be replaced at times of high interest rates.  
The control is based on the production of a debt maturity profile, which 
measures the amount of borrowing that will mature in each period as a 
percentage of total projected borrowing.  Any borrowing decision and related 
maturity dates will be taken by the Council mindful of maturity profile limits set 
out below to ensure large concentrations of debt do not fall due for repayment 
in any one future financial year. The profile reflects borrowing advice provided 
by Arlingclose, the Council‘s Treasury Management Advisors. 

Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
During 2022/23

Upper Limit
%

Lower Limit
%

Under 12 months
12 months and within 24 months
24 months and within 5 years
5 years and within 10 years
10 years and within 15 years
15 years and above

35%
40%
50%
50%
75%
90%

  0%
  0%
  0%
  0%
  0%
25%

The table above shows, for each maturity period, the minimum and maximum 
amount of debt that the Council can hold as a percentage of its total external 
debt. For example, when deciding to take out a loan that is due to mature 
within the next 24 months, the Council must ensure that this does not take the 
total amount of debt due to be repaid to more than 40% of all Council debt.

2.3.2. Principal sums invested for periods longer than 365 days

An upper limit is set on the value of principal sums invested for periods over 
365 days for that year. This limit is set to contain the Authority’s exposure to 
the possibility of loss that might arise as a result of having to seek early 
repayment of principal sums invested.

The limits set for 2022/23 and the next two years are shown below:

Page 80

Agenda Item 9



Principal Sums Invested for Longer Than 365 Days

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25

Upper Limit £15m £10m £10m
    

2.4. Credit risk

All investments involve a degree of risk. In order to mitigate these risks, the 
Council will consider the credit ratings supplied by the three main credit rating 
agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s as part of the process to 
determine the list of counterparties where the level of risk is acceptable. As 
part of this process advice from Arlingclose will also be considered in terms of 
asset class, maximum duration, and level of investment. 

Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service and the 
Council will also consider alternative assessments of credit strength, and 
information on corporate developments and of market sentiment towards 
counterparties. The following key tools are used to assess credit risk:

 Published credit ratings of the financial institution;

 Sovereign support mechanisms;

 Credit default swaps (where quoted);

 Share prices (where available);

 Economic fundamentals, such as a country’s net debt as a 
percentage of its GDP;

 Corporate developments, news, articles, markets sentiment and 
momentum;

 Background research in the financial press

 Discussion with our treasury consultants

 Internal discussion with the Executive Director for Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services.

The Council will only invest with institutions of high credit quality that meet the 
following criteria:

i. are UK based; and/or
ii. are non-UK and domiciled in a country which has a minimum 

sovereign Long-Term rating of AA-
iii. have a minimum long-term rating of A- (or equivalent).

A further explanation of credit ratings can be found at Appendix B3.

Page 81

Agenda Item 9



The Council maintains a full record of each investment decision taken, each of 
which is authorised by an appropriate level of signatory.

2.5. MIFID II

2.5.1. From 3rd January 2018, the Financial Conduct Authority was obligated to 
treat all Local Authorities as “retail clients” under European Union legislation 
(MiFID II). The client status of the Local Authority relates to its knowledge and 
experience with regards to the use of regulated investment products and the 
decision-making processes it has in place for making such investments. The 
directive is focused on products such as Certificates of Deposit, Gilts, 
Corporate Bonds and investment funds, including Money Market Funds.

2.5.2. The Council will opt up to “professional status” with its providers of financial 
services including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers. Given the 
size and range of the Authority’s treasury management activities, this 
represents the most appropriate status and will allow access to the above 
products as an investment option as they are not available to retail clients.

2.6. Interest Rates

2.6.1. Arlingclose provide regular forecasts of interest rates to assist decisions in 
respect of:

a) Capital Borrowings (2.8);
b) Debt Rescheduling opportunities (2.1010);
c) Temporary borrowing for cash flow; and
d) Investments strategy (2.144).

2.6.2. Appendix B2 gives details of Arlingclose’s central view regarding interest rate 
forecasts.

2.6.3. Interest rate exposure is principally managed by monitoring interest rate risk. 
An internal view of the likely path of interest rates is formulated and this is 
considered along with the cash flow for the Council and any future 
requirements for potential borrowing such as to fund the Capital Programme. 
This then forms the basis of when to borrow, whether to borrow short or long 
term, and whether at fixed or variable rates. The maturity date for any loan is 
then set after a review of the Council’s debt maturity profile to ensure a 
smooth maturity profile. Any plans for borrowing are discussed with our 
treasury consultants at regular strategy meetings to ensure the most 
advantageous position.

2.6.4. The current borrowing portfolio position is monitored via the borrowing 
charges incurred by the Council, which are monitored on a monthly basis. 

2.6.5. The advice from Arlingclose takes into account financial activity both in the UK 
and world economies and the impact of major national and international 
events.  It is essential that borrowing and investment decisions are taken 
mindful of independent forecasts as to interest rate movements. The Council 
will continue to take account of the advice of treasury management advisors.

Page 82

Agenda Item 9



2.7. Exchange Rate Risk Management

2.7.1. The Council has a minimal exposure to exchange rate risk as it has no 
powers to enter into loans or investments in foreign currency for treasury 
management purposes.

2.7.2. The Council will manage its exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates so as 
to minimise any detrimental impact on its budgeted income and expenditure 
levels.

2.8. Capital Borrowing Strategy

2.8.1. The Authority’s current debt portfolio is presented below: 

Debt Portfolio 31/12/2021

Average Interest Rate

Debt Outstanding – Fixed Rate
PWLB
Other Long-Term Liabilities

Total Debt

3.74%

£m
169.849

8.138
_________

177.987

2.8.2. Other long-term liabilities shown above represent transferred debt from the 
Merseyside Residuary Body (£1.969m) and finance lease liabilities (£6.169m). 

2.8.3. The Council will raise its required finance, following advice from treasury 
management advisors, from the following sources:

 HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility
 An institution approved for investments (see 2.14 below)
 Banks or building societies authorised to operate in the UK
 UK public sector bodies
 UK public and private sector pension funds (with the exception of 

Merseyside Pension Fund)
 Capital market bond investors
 UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies 

created to enable local authority bond issues.

2.8.4. In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are 
not borrowing, but may be classed as other debt liabilities:

 Leasing
 Hire purchase
 Private Finance Initiative 
 Sale and leaseback.

2.8.5. The Council’s forecast borrowing requirement for 2022/23 is as follows:

Page 83

Agenda Item 9



Borrowing Requirement Estimate £m
New Borrowing 
Replacement Borrowing
Total Borrowing

6.244
20.000
26.244

 
2.8.6. The new borrowing represents the unsupported borrowing as required by the 

Capital Programme in 2022/23 and replacement borrowing for existing loans 
that will mature in year. As further explained in 2.8.9. (below), the Council is 
internally borrowed and may also take additional borrowing if required, in 
order to reverse this position.

2.8.7. The Arlingclose forecast for interest rates is set out at Appendix B1. This 
would suggest that the following strategy is followed:

i. The cheapest borrowing will be internal borrowing, which involves 
reducing cash balances and foregoing interest earned at the current 
historically low rates. Consideration will always be given to long term 
borrowing rates and the possibility of rates rising, which could mean 
borrowing at future higher rates which could erode the advantages of 
internal borrowing

ii. Temporary borrowing from money markets or other local authorities.

2.8.8. The authority borrows from the PWLB in order to fund part of the Capital 
Programme, the maximum that the Council can borrow being the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR) which measures the amount of capital 
spending that has not yet been financed by capital receipts, capital grants or 
contributions from revenue income. It measures the underlying need to 
borrow for a capital purpose.
 

2.8.9. PWLB borrowing as at 31st December 2021, plus other long-term liabilities, is 
£178m, as against an estimated CFR of £234m for 2021/22. This means that 
the Council is in a position to borrow a further £56m which would take the 
current borrowing level to the level of the CFR. This strategy is described as 
being internally borrowed which has the advantage of reducing exposure to 
interest rate and credit risk.  To be internally borrowed is a conscious decision 
to use cash balances to fund capital expenditure, rather than borrow from the 
PWLB. This position can be reversed at any time by borrowing from the 
PWLB, or any other appropriate organisation.

2.8.10. As the Bank of England and the UK Government continue to react to the 
ongoing Coronavirus pandemic, 2022/23 is expected to experience a 
continuation of a relatively low base rate. Hence, internal borrowing is a 
sensible option where interest rates on deposits are much lower than the 
current PWLB borrowing rates, but this will be reviewed should interest rates 
change significantly.

2.8.11. However, as noted in 2.8.7. (above), savings have to be weighed against the 
potential for incurring long term extra costs by delaying unavoidable new 
borrowing until later years when PWLB rates are forecast to be higher. This 
issue will be left under review and discussions with treasury management 

Page 84

Agenda Item 9



advisors will be ongoing to ascertain the optimum time for undertaking future 
borrowing.

2.8.12. Against this background, caution will be adopted in undertaking borrowing in 
2022/23. The Executive Director for Corporate Resources and Customer 
Services will monitor the interest rate market and following advice from 
Arlingclose, adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances during 
the year.

2.9. Public Works Loans Board Rates

2.9.1. The PWLB offers its local authority borrowing facility at a fixed rate above the 
Government’s cost of borrowing and this has historically been the most 
efficient manner of borrowing for councils. The PWLB will not however, lend to 
any authority that plans to buy investment assets primarily for yield anywhere 
in their capital plans. The Council intends to avoid this activity in order to 
retain its access to PWLB loans.

2.9.2. PWLB borrowing rates will be used when assessing the cost, viability, and 
affordability of capital schemes when those schemes are being financed from 
borrowing. The authority will also consider a wider evaluation of funding 
options from other sources as identified in paragraph 2.8.3 (above).

2.9.3. The authority may also consider arranging forward starting loans, where the 
interest rate is fixed in advance, but the cash is received in later years. This 
would enable certainty of cost to be achieved without suffering a cost of carry 
in the intervening period.

2.10. Debt Rescheduling Opportunities

2.10.1. The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a 
premium or receive a discount according to a set formula based on current 
interest rates. Other lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature 
redemption terms. The Council may take advantage of this and replace some 
loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, where this is 
expected to lead to an overall cost saving or a reduction in risk.

2.10.2. The lower interest rate environment and changes in the rules regarding the 
premature repayment of PWLB loans has adversely affected the scope to 
undertake meaningful debt restructuring in recent years. The situation will be 
monitored however, and the Council as in previous years will consider the 
option of debt restructuring all or part of the debt portfolio during 2022/23, 
should the financial circumstances allow, for example, by using capital 
receipts from asset disposals to repay debt.

2.11. Use of the UK Municipal Bond Agency

2.11.1. The UK Municipal Bonds Agency (MBA) was established in 2014 by the Local 
Government Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It issues bonds on 
the capital markets and lends the proceeds to local authorities.  

Page 85

Agenda Item 9



2.11.2. The MBA will be a more complicated source of finance than the PWLB for two 
reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond investors with 
a guarantee to refund their investment in the event that the agency is unable 
to for any reason; and there will be a lead time of several months between 
committing to borrow and knowing the interest rate payable. Any decision to 
borrow from the Agency will therefore be subject to specialist external advice 
and a separate report will be brought to Cabinet and full Council.

2.12. Borrowing in advance of need

2.12.1. The Council will not borrow more than, or in advance of, its needs purely to 
profit from the investment income made on the extra sums borrowed. Any 
decision to borrow in advance of need will be considered carefully to ensure 
value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the 
security of such funds.

2.12.2. In determining whether to borrow in advance of need the Council will: -

 Ensure that there is a direct link between the Capital Programme and 
maturity profile of the existing debt portfolio which supports the need to 
borrow in advance of need;

 Ensure that the revenue implications of such borrowing have been 
considered in respect of future plans and budgets; and

 Consider the merits of other forms of funding.

2.12.3. The total amount borrowed will not exceed the authorised borrowing limit of 
£220m. The maximum period between borrowing and expenditure is expected 
to be two years, although the Authority is not required to link loans with 
particular items of expenditure.

2.13. The Use of Financial Instruments for the Management of Risks

2.13.1. Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded 
into loans and investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate 
collars and forward deals) and to reduce costs or increase income at the 
expense of greater risk (e.g. Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) loans – 
typically a very long-term loan (40-70 years) and callable deposits). The 
general power of competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 removes 
much of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial 
derivatives (i.e. those that are not embedded into a loan or investment). The 
CIPFA Code requires councils to clearly detail their policy on the use of 
derivatives in the annual strategy.

2.13.2. The Council’s policy on such items is that it will only use standalone financial 
derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, futures and options) where they can be 
clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of the financial risks that the 
Council is exposed to. Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to 
derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the 
overall level of risk. Embedded derivatives will not be subject to this policy, 
although the risks they present will be managed in line with the overall 
treasury risk management strategy.

Page 86

Agenda Item 9



2.13.3. Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that 
meets the approved investment criteria. The current value of any amount due 
from a derivative counterparty will count against the counterparty credit limit 
and the relevant foreign country limit.

2.13.4. The Council will only use derivatives after seeking expertise, a legal opinion 
and ensuring officers and members have the appropriate training for their use. 
At the present time, no such arrangements are in place.

2.14. Investment Strategy

2.14.1. The Council manages the investment of its surplus funds internally and 
operates in accordance with the Statutory Guidance on Local Government 
Investments issued by MHCLG, the CIPFA Treasury Management in Public 
Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 and the 
CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Guidance Notes 2018 for 
Local Authorities. Surplus funds are invested on a daily basis ensuring 
security, followed by portfolio liquidity.

2.14.2. The Council’s investment priorities are, in order of priority:

1. The security of capital

2. The liquidity of capital

3. Yield that can be generated.

2.14.3. The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security of principal sums invested and 
portfolio liquidity, whilst ensuring that robust due diligence procedures cover 
all external investments.

2.14.4. The Council’s investment portfolio as at 31st December 2021 is set out below:

Investments Portfolio £m
Bank Deposits 
Money Market Funds
CCLA Property Fund
Total

 12.64
 73.00
   5.00
 90.64

2.14.5. The Authority may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types 
in the table below, subject to the maximum limits shown:

Sector Time limit Counterparty 
limit Sector limit

The UK Government 50 years Unlimited Unlimited

Local authorities & other 
government entities 25 years £15m Unlimited

Secured investments 25 years £15m Unlimited

Banks (unsecured) 12 months £10m Unlimited

Page 87

Agenda Item 9



Building societies 
(unsecured) 12 months £10m £15m

Registered providers 
(unsecured) 5 years £10m £15m

Money market funds n/a £15m Unlimited

Strategic pooled funds
e.g. Property Funds n/a £10m £15m

Other investments 5 years £5m £10m

2.14.6. The risk of exposure to an individual counterparty as a proportion of the 
Council’s total investment portfolio will also be considered so that access to 
cash is maintained in the event of operational difficulties at any one provider. 
Operational limits expressed as a percentage of total investments held, may 
therefore be used for investments in addition to the above maximum limits 
and will be applied to counterparties that are lent to in the short term or for 
daily liquidity. The following table outlines the operational limits that will be 
applied:

Sector Counterparty 
limit

Local authorities & other government entities 10%

Banks (unsecured) 5%

Building societies (unsecured) 5%

Money market funds 10%

2.14.7. Advice from our Treasury Management Advisors will also be considered in 
determining whether shorter maximum investment periods or operational 
limits for the amount invested is more appropriate during the year.

2.14.8. The Council banks with National Westminster Bank, which is part of the 
Royal Bank of Scotland Group. It is currently a part government-owned 
institution. At the present time, it meets the minimum credit criteria of A- (or 
equivalent) long term. There may be occasions however, when the bank’s 
rating may temporarily fall below these minimum criteria to a BBB rating.  
The Bank will continue to be used for short term liquidity requirements 
(overnight and weekend investments) to ensure business continuity when no 
other options are available.

2.14.9. The current list of countries approved for investment is shown below; this 
takes account of the most up-to-date credit ratings available in respect of the 
countries named. It should be noted that a maximum limit of £10m will be 
applied when investing in any one country outside of the UK. The investment 
counterparties within each country will also be subject to the limits identified 
above and will be monitored to ensure they continue to meet the 
requirements for high credit quality.  In the event of a change in credit rating 
or outlook, the Council, with advice from treasury management advisors, will 
evaluate its significance and determine whether to include (subject to 
Council approval) or remove a country from the approval list:

Page 88

Agenda Item 9



Rating Country
AAA  Australia

 Denmark
 Germany
 Netherlands
 Norway
 Singapore
 Sweden
 Switzerland
 USA

AA+  Austria
 Canada
 Finland

AA  France

AA-  United Kingdom

2.14.10. The Bank of England Base Rate has remained low at 0.25%. Arlingclose’s 
projection is for this to rise to 0.50% by March 2022 and remain unchanged 
thereafter (Appendix B1). The COVID-19 pandemic however, has increased 
the risk that the Bank of England may set its Bank Rate at or below zero, 
which is likely to feed through to negative interest rates on all low risk, short-
term investment options. Since investments cannot pay negative income, 
negative rates will be applied by reducing the value of investments. In this 
event, security will be measured as receiving the contractually agreed 
amount at maturity, even though this may be less than the amount originally 
invested.

2.14.11. In order to pursue the strategy of maximising returns from surplus funds at 
an acceptable level of security and portfolio liquidity, the following Brokers 
will be utilised for investments of over one month:

ii) BGC Brokers LP;
iii) Tradition UK Limited;
iv) Tullet Prebon Limited.

There are 3 brokers within this list, however as with previous years, this is to 
provide maximum protection to the Council. It is unlikely that these 
institutions will all be utilised during the financial year.

2.14.12. It is not proposed to make any investments in 2022/23 that do not comply 
with the above strategy, however, should the situation change, the Executive 
Director for Corporate Resources and Customer Services will report to 
Cabinet requesting appropriate approval to amend the strategy before any 
such investments are made.

2.14.13. If any of the Council’s investments appear at risk of loss due to default (i.e. 
this is a credit related loss, and not one resulting from a fall in price due to 
movements in interest rates) the Council will make an assessment of 
whether a revenue provision of an appropriate amount is required.

Page 89

Agenda Item 9



2.14.14. Performance monitoring will be reported to the Audit and Governance 
Committee on a quarterly basis, with mid-year reports and outturn reports 
also presented to Cabinet and Council.

2.15. Non-Treasury Investments: Loans

2.15.1. The Council will invest its money to support local public services and stimulate 
local economic growth by providing loans to its subsidiaries. These types of 
investments are classified as non-treasury investments, further detail of which 
can be found in the Capital Strategy included in the agenda for this meeting.

2.15.2. Cabinet as the shareholder has agreed the provision of a peak debt facility to 
Sandway Homes Limited that is due to reach £8.3m before reducing to £3.7m 
by the end of 2022/23.  As this sum is drawn down as per the agreed loan 
agreement, the Council will if required provide for this sum via the Public 
Works Loan Board. These sums are included in the prudential indicators for 
2022/23 included on this agenda.

2.15.3. A similar arrangement exists for the wholly owned hospitality company, Sefton 
Hospitality Operations Limited for whom a lower debt facility of £0.5m has 
been provided.

2.16. Ethical Investment Principles 

2.16.1. Where the Council deposits surplus balances overnight or for a short-term, 
investments will be made with financial institutions in a responsible manner 
(aligned to the overarching core principles/Councils core values) where 
possible and in accordance with advice from its Treasury Management 
Advisor. In the event that the Council has surplus balances that it can invest 
for the longer term (e.g. terms over 1 year) it will exclude direct investment in 
financial products that do not contribute positively to society and the 
environment. This will include the principle that investment in specific financial 
products whose performance is driven by off-shore trading, financial 
malpractice, debt swops, short selling, the arms trade and tobacco industry 
will be avoided. The same rigorous criteria will be used to assess whether 
investment in certain countries will be contrary to Sefton’s core values. 

2.16.2. It is recommended that the Executive Director for Corporate Resources and 
Customer Services, assess whether investment in certain countries will be 
contrary to Sefton’s core values, give consideration to the exclusion of those 
countries on the EU list of non-cooperative tax jurisdictions (the black list and 
grey list), which aims to tackle external risks of tax abuse and unfair tax 
competition, within the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy.

2.17. The Climate Emergency

2.17.1. At Full Council in July 2019 a climate emergency was declared by the 
Council. One of the aspects within this motion was that the Council should 
review the impact that some of its strategies including its Treasury 
Management Strategy could have on the successful delivery of the motion. 

Page 90

Agenda Item 9



2.17.2. In recent years, the Council has seen its level of reserves and balances 
(excluding emergency Covid funding) reduce and as a result where in 
previous years, it would have invested these surplus resources in longer term 
financial instruments or investment funds that may have had an impact on the 
Council’s motion, it now deposits these lower value residual funds overnight 
with either banks or money market funds.

2.17.3. As a result of this, at this stage it is not considered that the Council’s 
investment activity needs to be taken into account when considering its 
response to the climate emergency. In the event that the council has more 
surplus balances available during the year that may lead to longer term 
investing, the council will take full account of the climate emergency when 
discussing the options available with the Treasury Management Advisors. 

2.18. Member and Officer training 

2.18.1. CIPFA’s Code of Practice requires the Executive Director for Corporate 
Resources and Customer Services to ensure that all Members tasked with 
treasury management responsibilities, including scrutiny of the treasury 
management function, receive appropriate training relevant to their needs and 
understand fully their roles and responsibilities.

2.18.2. In order to address this, the Service Manager – Treasury & Capital has 
obtained the CIPFA/Association of Corporate Treasurers sponsored 
qualification Certificate in International Treasury Management – Public 
Finance, which is aimed at giving a solid grounding in treasury management 
and which is tailored to the public sector. Training will be provided for 
Members of the Audit & Governance Committee and it is intended for such 
training to occur at least annually.

Page 91

Agenda Item 9



 Appendix B1
INTEREST RATE FORECAST

Arlingclose Interest Rate Forecast as at December 2021

The Council has appointed Arlingclose as its treasury advisor and part of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on 
interest rates. The following table gives their central view:

P
age 92

A
genda Item

 9



Appendix B2

Arlingclose Economic and Interest Rate Forecast (Commentary) 

Underlying assumptions: 
 The global recovery from the pandemic has entered a more challenging phase. The resurgence in 

demand has led to the expected rise in inflationary pressure, but disrupted factors of supply are 
amplifying the effects, increasing the likelihood of lower growth rates ahead. The advent of the 
Omicron variant of coronavirus is affecting activity and is also a reminder of the potential downside 
risks.

 Despite relatively buoyant activity survey data, official GDP data indicates that growth was 
weakening into Q4 2021. Other data, however, suggested continued momentum, particularly for 
November. Retail sales volumes rose 1.4%, PMIs increased, and the labour market continued to 
strengthen. The end of furlough did not appear to have had a significant impact on unemployment. 
Wage growth is elevated.

 The CPI inflation rate rose to 5.1% for November and will rise higher in the near term. While the 
transitory factors affecting inflation are expected to unwind over time, policymakers’ concern is 
persistent medium term price pressure. 

 These factors prompted the MPC to raise Bank Rate to 0.25% at the December meeting. Short 
term interest rate expectations remain elevated.

 The outlook, however, appears weaker. Household spending faces pressures from a combination 
of higher prices and tax rises. In the immediate term, the Omicron variant has already affected 
growth – Q4 and Q1 activity could be weak at best.

 Longer-term government bond yields remain relatively low despite the more hawkish signals from 
the BoE and the Federal Reserve. Investors are concerned that significant policy tightening in the 
near term will slow growth and prompt the need for looser policy later. Geo-political and 
coronavirus risks are also driving safe haven buying. The result is a much flatter yield curve, as 
short-term yields rise even as long-term yields fall. 

 The rise in Bank Rate despite the Omicron variant signals that the MPC will act to bring inflation 
down whatever the environment. It has also made clear its intentions to tighten policy further. 
While the economic outlook will be challenging, the signals from policymakers suggest their 
preference is to tighten policy unless data indicates a more severe slowdown.

Forecast: 
 The MPC will want to build on the strong message it delivered this month by tightening policy 

despite Omicron uncertainty.
 Arlingclose therefore expects Bank Rate to rise to 0.50% in Q1 2022, but then remain there. Risks 

to the forecast are initially weighted to the upside, but becoming more balanced over time. The 
Arlingclose central forecast remains below the market forward curve.

 Gilt yields will remain broadly flat from current levels. Yields have fallen sharply at the longer end 
of the yield curve, but expectations of a rise in Bank Rate have maintained short term gilt yields at 
higher levels.

 Easing expectations for Bank Rate over time could prompt the yield curve to steepen, as investors 
build in higher inflation expectations.

 The risks around the gilt yield forecasts vary. The risk for short and medium term yields is initially 
on the upside but shifts lower later. The risk for long-term yields is weighted to the upside.

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



Appendix B3

CREDIT RATING EXPLANATION

The following is an explanation of the ratings applied by Fitch. 

Short term rating
This places greater emphasis on the liquidity necessary to meet financial commitments.

F1 highest credit quality (+ denotes exceptionally strong)
F2 good credit quality
F3 fair credit quality.

Long term rating

AAA highest credit quality – lowest expectation of credit risk and exceptionally strong 
capacity to pay financial commitments

AA very high credit quality – very low credit risk and very strong capacity to pay 
financial commitments

A high credit quality – low credit risk and considered to have strong capacity to pay 
financial commitments, but may be vulnerable.

Viability rating
This assesses how a bank would be viewed if it were entirely independent and could not 
rely on external support.

aaa highest fundamental credit quality
aa very high fundamental credit quality
a high fundamental credit quality
bbb good fundamental credit quality
bb speculative fundamental credit quality
b highly speculative fundamental credit quality
ccc substantial fundamental risk
cc very high levels of fundamental credit risk
c exceptionally high levels of fundamental credit risk 
f failed.

Support rating
Judgement of a potential supporter’s (either sovereign state of parent) propensity to 
support the bank and its ability to support it.

1 extremely high probability of external support
2 extremely high probability of external support
3 moderate probability
4 limited probability
5 cannot rely on support.

Page 94

Agenda Item 9



Appendix C

Corporate Resources and Customer Services

Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement
 2022/23

Page 95

Agenda Item 9



1.  Background

1.1. Local Authorities have a statutory requirement to set aside each year part of their 
revenues as a provision for the repayment of debt, called the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP). The provision is in respect of capital expenditure incurred in 
previous years and financed by borrowing.

1.2. Previously the Council was required to follow a prescriptive MRP calculation as set 
out in former regulations 27, 28 and 29 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance 
and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 [SI 2003/3146, as amended]. This 
system was revised by the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 [SI 2008/414]. 

1.3. As part of those regulations the Government issued guidance recommending local 
authorities to prepare an annual statement of its strategic policy on the MRP, to be 
approved by the full council. The guidance requires each authority to determine its 
own MRP within the given framework and that the amount of MRP charged is a 
prudent amount. 

1.4. The broad aim of a prudent amount is to ensure that the debt is repaid over a 
period that is either reasonably commensurate with the period over which the 
capital expenditure provides benefit, or, in the case of borrowing supported by 
formula grant, reasonably commensurate with the period implicit in the 
determination of that grant. 

2. Strategic Options 

2.1. The Council is free to determine its own method for calculating a prudent provision, 
but the guidance includes four options for calculating MRP. The Council can 
choose from or use a combination of the available options. The options are as 
follows: 

Option 1 – Regulatory Method 

2.2. This provides for local authorities to continue to calculate MRP in line with the 
minimum existing statutory charge of 4% of outstanding debt related to supported 
borrowing only, less an adjustment that ensures consistency with previous capital 
regulatory regimes no longer in force. This option is available for all capital 
expenditure incurred prior to 1 April 2008. 

Option 2 – Capital Financing Requirement Method 

2.3. This is very like the regulatory method, but it does not take account of the 
adjustment that ensures authorities do not pay more MRP than under the previous 
capital regulatory regimes. For most authorities, this method may not be 
appropriate as it would result in a higher level of provision than option 1. 

Page 96

Agenda Item 9



Option 3 – Asset Life Method 

2.4. This method is appropriate for calculating MRP in relation to debt incurred as 
unsupported borrowing (also known as prudential borrowing) and must be used for 
revenue expenditure capitalised by direction or regulation (such as that for equal 
pay). Under this option there are two methods available:

i. Equal instalment method. This generates a series of equal annual amounts 
over the life of each asset that is financed by borrowing, with the life determined 
upon acquisition. This means that the charge to revenue closely matches the 
period of economic benefit of the asset.

ii. Annuity method. This method links the MRP to the flow of benefits from an 
asset where the benefit is expected to increase in later years. 

2.5. Under this option authorities should consider the type of assets that they finance 
through prudential borrowing, as the type of asset may have a significant impact on 
the level of MRP and the method used to calculate the MRP. 

Finance Leases and PFI 

2.6. The guidance indicates that for finance leases and on balance sheet PFI contracts, 
the MRP requirement is met by making a charge equal to the element of the 
finance lease rental that goes to write down the balance sheet liability under proper 
accounting practices. This is in effect a modified version of the annuity method of 
Option 3. 

Option 4 – Depreciation Method 

2.7. This method is appropriate for calculating MRP in relation to debt incurred as 
unsupported (prudential) borrowing. Under this method, MRP is equal to the 
amount of depreciation charged on assets funded from unsupported borrowing. 
This method may cause volatility in the annual charge for MRP because assets are 
revalued on a periodic basis, giving rise to significant changes in the amount of 
depreciation charged. Given this potential adverse impact on future budgets this 
option is not considered viable. 

Use of Capital Receipts 

2.8. In addition to the four options listed above, the Local Authorities (Capital Finance 
and Accounting) Regulations 2003 [SI 2003/3146] allow local authorities to use 
capital receipts to meet “any liability in respect of credit arrangements, other than 
any liability which, in accordance with proper practices, must be charged to a 
revenue account”.
 

2.9. For both finance leases and PFI contracts, proper accounting practices require that 
the element of the annual rental relating to the repayment of the liability is used to 
write down that liability on the balance sheet and is not charged to revenue. It 
therefore follows that local authorities are permitted to apply capital receipts to fund 
the principal element of the annual rental of a finance lease or on balance sheet 
PFI contract. 

Page 97

Agenda Item 9



3. MRP Statutory Guidance (February 2018)

3.1. In February 2018, the Government issued revised statutory guidance on the 
minimum revenue provision.

3.2. The key changes to the guidance included:

 The definition of ‘Prudent Provision’ used in the guidance was updated so that the 
broad aim of prudent provision is to require local authorities to put aside revenue 
over time to cover their Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).

 Where a local authority changes the method(s) that it uses to calculate MRP, it 
should explain in its Statement, why the change will better allow it to make 
prudent provision.

 The calculation of MRP under the new method(s) should be based on the residual 
CFR at the point the change in method is made (i.e. it should not be applied 
retrospectively). Changing the method used to calculate MRP can never give rise 
to an overpayment in respect of previous years, and should not result in a local 
authority making a reduced charge or a charge of £nil for the accounting period in 
which the change is made, or in any subsequent period, on the grounds that it 
needs to recover overpayments of MRP relating to previous years.

 A charge to a revenue account for MRP cannot be a negative charge.

 If a local authority chooses to offset a previous year’s overpayment, they should 
disclose this fact and any remaining cumulative overpayment of MRP in the 
Statement presented to full council.

 Where a local authority uses MRP options 3 or 4 or where it uses another 
methodology that has the useful life of assets as a component to the calculation, it 
should normally not exceed a maximum useful life of 50 years. Local authorities 
can exceed this maximum in two scenarios:

i. where a local authority has an opinion from an appropriately qualified 
professional advisor that an asset will deliver service functionality for more 
than 50 years it can use the life suggested by its professional advisor; and

ii. for a lease or PFI asset, where the length of the lease/PFI contract exceeds 
50 years. In this case the length of the lease/PFI contract should be used.

Page 98

Agenda Item 9



4. MRP Policy for 2022/23

4.1. The recommended MRP policy is summarised below:

Category Basis of MRP Calculation

Supported borrowing Annuity Basis - Calculated over 50 years 
(commencing from 1 April 2015)

Unsupported (prudential) borrowing Annuity Basis - Calculated using (Option 
3) the estimated life method

PFI and Leasing Arrangements Basis of MRP Calculation

On balance sheet PFI contracts MRP charge to be equal to the principal 
element of the annual rental

On balance sheet leasing arrangements 
(finance leases)

MRP charge to be equal to the principal 
element of the annual rental

4.2. Standard asset lives to be applied to calculate the MRP charge for unsupported 
(prudential) borrowing:

Intangibles (Software) 3 Years
Vehicles, Plant & Equipment 5 to 10 Years
Revenue Expenditure Funded for Capital Under Statute – 
Capitalised Redundancy Costs

20 Years

Revenue Expenditure Funded for Capital Under Statute - Other 25 Years
Community Assets (Parks, Gardens etc.) 25 Years
Land 50 Years
Buildings – Scheme Value under £250,000 25 Years
Buildings – New Build (Value over £249,999) Building Life per 
Buildings – Acquisitions (Value over £249,999)  Asset Register *  
Buildings – Refurbishment / Remodelling (Value over £249,999) 30 Years
Buildings – New Strand Shopping Centre 25 Years
Infrastructure- Capitalised Highways Maintenance 10 Years
Infrastructure- Other 40 Years

* The building life used in the MRP calculation will be subject to a maximum of 50 years.

4.3. The Executive Director for Corporate Resources and Customer Services will retain 
discretion to use alternative lives for assets (capital schemes) that have 
characteristics that mean using the standard life would not be considered 
appropriate. It is anticipated that this will only apply in very limited circumstances.

4.4. Assets acquired with the intention of onward sale which will not be used in the 
delivery of services will not generally attract MRP as in these events the capital 
receipts generated by the loan and sale will be set aside to repay debt.

Page 99

Agenda Item 9



4.5. Loans made to third parties to enable them to incur capital expenditure are repaid 
by the borrower and so MRP provision does not need to be made by the Council 
from Council Tax.

4.6. Commencement of MRP Charges

Provision for debt under Option 3 (Asset Life Method) will normally commence in 
the financial year following the one in which the expenditure is incurred. However, 
the MRP guidance highlights an important exception to this rule. In the case of the 
provision of a new asset, MRP would not have to be charged until the asset came 
into service and would begin in the financial year following the one in which the 
asset became operational. This delay would be perhaps 2 or 3 years in the case of 
major projects, or possibly longer for some complex infrastructure schemes. 

4.7. Use of Capital Receipts to Reduce MRP Charges

Any proposal to use capital receipts to reduce future MRP charges will be 
presented for approval in-line with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules prior to 
the application of the capital receipts.

4.8. Housing Revenue Account

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is not subject to a statutory requirement to 
make a minimum revenue provision. As a result, the MRP policy set out above only 
applies to borrowing to fund none HRA assets. However, the Council may make an 
annual voluntary provision for debt repayment in the HRA. The level of provision (if 
any) will be determined annually as part of the closure of the HRA.

Page 100

Agenda Item 9



Report to: Cabinet 

Council

Date of Meeting: 10 February 2022

3 March 2022
Subject: Capital Strategy 2022/23 to 2026/27

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: All Wards

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

The Capital Strategy sets out the long-term context in which capital expenditure, 
borrowing and investment decisions are made and considers the impact of these 
decisions on the priorities within the Council’s Core Purpose and Framework for Change 
Programme and the promises made in the 2030 Vision for Sefton.

At the heart of the Capital Strategy is the Council’s core objective to continue deliver 
financial sustainability.  As such a flexible capital investment programme is more 
important than ever as a method to stimulate and enable economic growth and strategic 
investment, ensuring best use of existing assets and of generating future income 
streams to pay for and deliver day to day services.   

Recommendation(s):

Cabinet is asked to:

Recommend that Council approve the Capital Strategy as set out in Appendix A.

Council is recommended to:

Approve the Capital Strategy as set out in Appendix A.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Capital Strategy is a key policy document for Sefton Council and follows guidance 
issued in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2017 Edition).  

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

None

Page 101

Agenda Item 10



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
N/A

(B) Capital Costs
N/A

Implications of the Proposals:

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out as follows:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
The Capital Strategy outlines the governance and framework for future capital 
investment decisions.  Proposals may have an impact on physical assets and/or 
ongoing revenue income and expenditure, and this will be assessed during the 
approval process.

Legal Implications:
The Council’s decision-making processes resulting in the implementation of any 
capital programme must be transparent.

Equality Implications:
N/A

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

There are no direct climate change implications from the proposals set out in this 
report.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: 
The Capital Strategy will enable the Council to continue to seek to protect the most 
vulnerable within available resources.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: 
The Capital Strategy demonstrates a clear commitment to early intervention and 
prevention and working with partners, communities and local businesses to reduce 
the reliance on the public sector.  

Page 102

Agenda Item 10



Commission, broker and provide core services: 
The Capital Strategy recognises that where it is necessary to do so, the Council will 
continue to be a provider of those core services that the community expects to see 
delivered but will use new service delivery models and new forms of partnership. 

Place – leadership and influencer: 
The Capital Strategy will see the Council continue to demonstrate strong and 
effective leadership building on its proven track record of engagement, consultation, 
listening and considering feedback in the decision-making process.  

The Council continues to work with partners towards common goals, moving away 
from traditional ways of working focused around delivering services and is 
demonstrating a greater role in influencing, shaping, enabling and building 
community capacity.

Drivers of change and reform: 
The Capital Strategy demonstrates the Council is playing a key role in leading and 
driving change and reform to improve outcomes for Sefton residents and 
continuously improve the Borough.  

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:  
The Capital Strategy clearly articulates the Council’s approach to investing in order 
to achieve financial sustainability and the ambitions of Sefton 2030.  

Greater income for social investment: 
The Capital Strategy recognises the Council’s commitment to developing a 
commercial nature, looking at what it can do either by itself or with others to 
generate income and a surplus that can be reinvested into delivering social purpose.

Cleaner Greener: The Capital Strategy recognises the Council’s commitment to 
work with others to maintain Sefton’s natural beauty and ensure that its many assets 
provide a contribution to Sefton’s economy, people’s wellbeing and the achievement 
of the 2030 Vision.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6684/22) is 
the author of the report.

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4884/22) has been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

N/A

Page 103

Agenda Item 10



Implementation Date for the Decision

Officers will be authorised to implement all decisions within this report immediately 
following Council on 3 March 2022.

Contact Officer: Stephan Van Arendsen
Email Address: Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

Appendix A – Capital Strategy 2022/23 to 2026/27

Background Papers:
There are no background papers available for inspection.

Page 104

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk


1. Introduction

1.1 The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2017 Edition) 
requires all Local Authorities to adopt a Capital Strategy. It is mandatory for all 
authorities to have this approved and in place and have it considered alongside the 
Council’s other key budget reports such as the Treasury Management Strategy.

1.2 The Council has adopted CIPFA’s 2017 Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities. CIPFA published a revised Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities in December 2021. The new codes take effect immediately, 
except that authorities may defer introducing revised reporting requirements until 
2023/24. Sefton will therefore adopt the revised changes to the Capital Strategy for 
2023/24 to allow time for proper scrutiny to take place.

2. Content

2.1 The content of the capital strategy is defined; however, it is recognised that 
individual authorities final document will reflect its own individual circumstances. As 
such the document aims to provide information on how the capital programme and 
future decisions will be made and what considerations will be taken into account in 
the management of the programme.

2.2 The key areas that will be included in the capital strategy are:
 governance and prioritisation
 capital expenditure and resources
 asset management and strategy
 commercial investment
 debt, borrowing and treasury management
 risk management
 knowledge and skills.

2.3 A summary of the Council’s current capital programme is included as part of the 
Council’s main budget report also on today’s agenda, and this will be updated as 
future capital decisions are made.

Page 105

Agenda Item 10



Appendix A

Corporate Resources and Customer Services

Capital Strategy
2022/23 to 2026/27

Page 106

Agenda Item 10



1. Background

1.1 The Capital Strategy is a key policy document for Sefton and follows guidance 
issued in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2017 
Edition), and it was first presented in 2019/20.  It is an overarching document which 
sets the policy framework and governance for the development, management and 
monitoring of capital investment and the use of capital resources.  The strategy 
reflects the Council’s Vision for 2030, Core Purpose, and sets out how capital 
expenditure will play a significant role in its delivery through the Framework for 
Change and Growth Programme.  The Capital Strategy is aligned to the Treasury 
Management Strategy, Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), Asset Management 
Strategy and the Disposal Policy and all other approved policies and frameworks.

1.2 During 2016 Sefton Council led on developing a new and exciting vision for the 
future of the Borough. The Imagine Sefton 2030 consultation engaged with 
thousands of people, local businesses and potential investors to create a vision that 
collectively promotes shared prosperity, coordinated public investment and a 
healthy environment and population.  On the back of this work the Vision 2030 was 
agreed in November 2016, together with the Vision Outcomes Framework and the 
Council’s Core Purpose.

1.3 The Council’s major change programme - the Framework for Change - is the way in 
which the Council will deliver the 2030 Vision whilst maintaining its commitment to 
financial sustainability. 

1.4 There are three pillars that underpin the programme, and which will help the 
Council deliver against its stated objectives.  These are:

 Economic Growth and Strategic Investment – physical regeneration and 
enabling infrastructure for our economic growth priorities and supporting 
investment opportunities the Council may wish to directly sponsor or support in 
an enabling or commissioning role where there is a sound commercial and 
financial justification/reason to do so.

 Council of 2023 – this will further enable the Council to define what it will do 
and how (within the budget available); what outcomes are expected, how these 
will be measured, what resources will be allocated and where it will focus its 
influence.  

 Demand Management – demand led budgets across the Council (for example 
Adult Social Care and Children’s Social Care) must due to the size, complexity 
and demand for these services, undergo continual review to ensure that the 
cost base for these services provides value for money, an early intervention 
and prevention programme is embedded, and residents are supported in 
‘moving down the system’ so as to reduce the demand for Council services and 
particularly those at the acute end. Significant additional investment is being 
made in Children’s Social Care and Adult Social Care and so it is critical that 
these services achieve that value for money and operate as efficiently as 
possible.

Page 107

Agenda Item 10



1.5 One of the fundamental requirements and drivers to maintain and continually 
update the Council’s Capital Strategy is the greater emphasis on locally generated 
income (e.g. Council Tax and Business Rates) to support local government funding.   
The reliance on this income to support the delivery of frontline services means that 
it is important that the Council, working with its partners, optimises the opportunity.  
As a result, development of economic growth is important in ensuring that financial 
sustainability for the Council is achieved, and the ambitions as set out in Vision 
2030 are met.  This is particularly relevant and important as a result of the global 
pandemic and the impact on residents, communities and businesses.

1.6 The Capital Strategy also recognises that regeneration is a priority and that where it 
is appropriate to do so the Council can acquire strategic property for regeneration 
purposes where business cases provide a satisfactory payback period / profile.

1.7 The Strategy is brought forward in the recognition that Cabinet has approved and 
published a number of Town Centre Investment Frameworks and other policies and 
that should the opportunity present itself the Council might be the investor, subject 
to consideration of a robust business case in accordance with the Financial 
Procedure Rules.

1.8 The Capital Strategy will be the framework from which capital expenditure and 
investment decisions in Sefton are made to enable the Framework for Change to 
have the desired impact.  The decision-making process will consider stewardship, 
value for money, prudence, sustainability and (long-term) affordability.  The Capital 
Strategy contains:

 An overview of the governance process for prioritisation, approval and 
monitoring of capital expenditure;

 A longer-term view of capital expenditure plans;
 An overview of asset management planning;
 The authority’s approach to commercial activities including due diligence and 

risk appetite;
 Expectations around debt and use of borrowing to support capital expenditure;
 The knowledge and skills in the authority in relation to capital investment 

activities.

2. Capital Programme Governance and Prioritisation

2.1 All capital programme expenditure will be governed through the Capital Strategy 
framework.  Individual programmes and projects will commonly fall into three main 
categories:  

 Capital maintenance and improvement – to sustain the condition of existing 
assets and/or to avoid the short, medium and long-term revenue costs of “do 
nothing”. 

 Capital Investment for financial return – i.e. for commercial purposes to deliver 
an ongoing revenue return.

 Capital Investment for non-financial return – investment in an asset of 
strategic importance linked to the 2030 Vision and Council’s Core Purpose.

Page 108

Agenda Item 10



2.2 This categorisation will help to determine, for officers and members, the route that a 
project proposal must follow in order to gain approval into the capital programme.  It 
will clarify the governance pathway and the degree of due diligence required before 
approval to spend is granted.   

2.3 A robust planning and prioritisation process has been designed with clear approval 
stages at which risk, reward, value for money and alignment to the Council’s 
priorities is tested.  

2.4 The Capital Strategy proposes a governance structure that enables the effective 
management of whole capital programme.  New capital schemes will typically take 
one of three routes to approval for inclusion in the capital programme.  

A. For recurrent capital schemes funded 100% from external resources the 
Finance Procedure Rules state: 
 Schemes up to and including £100k can be approved by the Section 151 

Officer and Chief Executive;
 In excess of £100k up to and including £250k can be approved by the 

S151 Officer and Cabinet Member – Regulatory, Compliance and 
Corporate Services;

 In excess of £250k up to and including £1m can be approved by Cabinet;
 In excess of £1m+ can be approved by Council with a recommendation 

from Cabinet.

B. Council approves the inclusion of capital block grant allocations within
the capital programme. The respective Cabinet Members in
conjunction with the Council’s Section 151 Officer have delegated
authority to allocate capital grants to capital projects to be included
within the capital programme up to a level of £1m per individual
scheme. Schemes above this threshold will require approval by
Council.

C. Projects that require the use of council resources and meet strategic 
objectives will follow internal governance arrangements before submission to 
Cabinet and where appropriate Council for approval as set out in the 
Council’s Financial Procedure Rules. 

2.5 The Council will approve this strategy and in accordance with the Council’s 
constitution and legislation, Cabinet will make decisions to implement the strategy.

2.6 Financial management and performance of the Council’s approved and published 
Capital Programme is reported to Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
with an Annual Report being produced at the end of each financial year. 

2.7 The Capital Programme will be continually updated as part of each budget cycle to 
take into account any decisions made in the year. 

3. Capital Expenditure and Resources

3.1 Capital expenditure is broadly defined as expenditure on the acquisition of a 
tangible asset, or expenditure which enhances (rather than merely maintains), the 

Page 109

Agenda Item 10



value of an existing asset and/or the useful life of an asset and increasing usability, 
provided that the asset yields benefits to the Council and the services it provides is 
for a period of more than one year. Sefton’s de minimis level for new assets is 
currently £10,000. This limit can be varied at the discretion of the Section 151 
Officer.

3.2 The actual capital expenditure that was incurred in 2020/21 is shown below and the 
estimated current and future years capital programme that are as follows:

Capital Expenditure   
      

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£m £m £m £m £m

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

TOTAL 26.203 43.542 47.015 23.311 20.566

3.3 The estimated levels of expenditure above represent those elements approved by 
Council which have been included within the Capital Programme.

3.4 The increase in capital expenditure during 2021/22 and 2022/23 represents 
additional allocations added as part of the traditional capital programme and new 
schemes included in the Council’s Strategic Investment Programme. Due to the 
size and complexity of the Council’s capital programme, some schemes may also 
be rescheduled from previous years and thus increase the overall estimate of 
expenditure. The majority of the additional expenditure will be funded from external 
grants, contributions and capital receipts. This may change as grant allocations and 
additional capital schemes are made known to the Council and are approved for 
inclusion within the Capital Programme.

3.5 There are also Town Deal proposals currently being progressed which may impact 
on the estimates of capital expenditure presented in this document (see Section 7 
“Town Deal”).

3.6 Capital Expenditure must be incurred in line with the Financial Procedure Rules.  
The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (Section 
151 Officer) is responsible for ensuring that a capital programme is prepared on an 
annual basis for consideration by Cabinet before submission to Council for approval 
alongside the annual revenue budget.

3.7 Capital resources are held corporately and are allocated according to the priorities 
outlined in section 2.  The Council will seek to maximise the use of external grants 
and contributions; and to consider joint funding initiatives with partners if the 
benefits of doing so align with Council priorities.

3.8 Capital expenditure is typically funded from: 

 Government Grants
 Section 106 
 External Contributions

Page 110

Agenda Item 10



 Prudential Borrowing
 Capital Receipts

Prudential Borrowing

3.9 Local authorities are able to borrow to invest in capital works and assets provided 
that the cost of that borrowing is affordable/repayable and in line with principles set 
out in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountings (CIPFA) Prudential 
Code Guidelines.

3.10 Each year the Council approves a Treasury Management Strategy and a range of 
prudential indicators that reflect its compliance with the CIPFA guidance and the 
approach to capital expenditure and borrowing for the forthcoming year.  As such, 
projects that are identified and which support the Council’s corporate objectives 
(including financial sustainability) may utilise prudential borrowing once they have 
been formally reviewed and subject to robust business case scrutiny.  Within such 
cases a full financial appraisal will be required to ensure that all revenue 
implications of the cost of borrowing are considered.

3.11 Any capital expenditure funded from prudential borrowing will have a future impact 
on the revenue budget as the Council is required to set aside a minimum revenue 
provision (MRP) to repay the principal and interest, i.e. the debt, over the life of the 
asset. 

3.12 The financing of the capital programme will be delegated to and determined by the 
Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (Section 151 
Officer).  Consideration will be given to the long-term impact of capital expenditure 
and any ongoing revenue implications.  The capital financing charges and any 
additional running costs arising from capital decisions are incorporated within the 
annual Budget and Medium-Term Financial Plan.  This enables members to 
consider the consequences of capital spend alongside other competing priorities for 
revenue funding.

3.13 Capital expenditure decision making is not only about ensuring that the initial 
allocation of capital funding meets corporate and service priorities but also that the 
asset is fully utilised, sustainable and affordable throughout its whole life.  This 
overarching commitment to long term affordability is a key principle in all capital 
expenditure appraisal decisions. 

3.14 The Prudential Code was introduced as part of the Local Government Act 2003. It 
details several measures/parameters known as prudential indicators that are set 
each year.  When setting these indicators, the Prudential Code requires the Council 
to have regard to service objectives, affordability, prudence and sustainability.  The 
Prudential Indicators Report is approved as part of the annual budget setting 
process and is also presented for monitoring purposes to the Audit and 
Governance Committee on a quarterly basis.

3.15 The indicators are based upon capital programme expenditure and its funding 
requirements and ensure that the budgeted capital expenditure limit is monitored, 
along with the level of the Capital Financing Requirement which represents the 
Council’s underlying need to borrow for the capital programme.  Maximum 
borrowing limits are set for the Council, the affordability of which is assessed 

Page 111

Agenda Item 10



against total income from Government grants, Council Tax and Business Rate 
payers. 

4. Asset Management Strategy

4.1 A core part of the Council’s capital programme is informed by the Asset 
Management Strategy.  The schedule of capital improvement works required to 
support the Council’s operational property portfolio is derived from this strategy.  
The Asset Management Strategy sits alongside the Asset Disposal Policy.

4.2 The main objectives of capital expenditure on operational assets is to ensure that 
they meet health and safety standards, are fit for purpose in terms of statutory 
guidance and legislation, as well as helping the Council to reduce costs from 
unnecessary revenue expenditure on poorly maintained and/or redundant stock.  A 
key objective of the capital strategy is that it links with the Asset Management 
Strategy to protect current buildings and long-term assets to avoid incurring 
significant future costs.

4.3 The asset management capital expenditure decision making process must consider 
the Council’s Asset Disposal Policy.  A regular review of Council owned assets will 
identify whether assets should be held for operational or heritage purposes, should 
form part of the Council’s future investment and capital programme or should be 
disposed of. 

4.4 The Asset Management Strategy and Asset Disposal Policy are key documents to 
inform all long-term capital and revenue implications.  These documents are 
reviewed on an annual basis and a review has taken place this year.

4.5 A structured approach to any disposal and the likely capital receipt will mean that 
medium and long-term resourcing estimates can be made and aligned to future 
investment decisions.  

5. Commercial Investment

5.1 As reliance on Government funding reduces, the importance of local income 
generation increases, and this is a key stated central government objective for local 
government and one which reflects their future model for how local government will 
be funded.  As a result, the Council has had to develop its commercial mindset in 
order to continue to support the achievement key service priorities, a balanced 
budget, and at the same time, safely finance the Framework for Change 
Programme. 

5.2 A commercial approach will lead to more commercial activities being developed, 
assessed and delivered and means that processes and financial controls, regarding 
material capital investment, need to be robust.  Due diligence and ongoing budget 
management will be effective and proportional to the level of investment and risk.  It 
is also critical that such options are considered not in isolation on a project by 
project basis, but across the whole portfolio of projects in order that the risk profile 
for all activity is understood as part of the Council’s requirement to deliver financial 
sustainability.

Page 112

Agenda Item 10



5.3 The governance structure for all capital investment and expenditure decisions, 
explained in section 2, contains additional gateway processes which allow further 
scrutiny, checks and levels of approval for commercial activity in recognition of the 
enhanced risk involved. 

5.4 The Council already operates on a commercial basis in some areas of its core 
activity.  The success of these functions provides assurance in terms of the 
Council’s ability to manage commercial activity.  

6. Sandway Homes Limited

6.1 The Council has a 100% wholly owned company in Sandway Homes Limited with 
Cabinet being the shareholder and a shareholder representative sitting on the 
Company’s Board of Directors. As such Cabinet is responsible for making all 
decisions in respect of approving the governance arrangements, the Business Plan 
and any variations to it, in addition to the financial estimates and arrangements 
including the provision of a debt facility that supports working capital.  

 
6.2 The role of Cabinet reflects the provisions in the Council’s Constitution that it should 

undertake the shareholding function on behalf the Council and take all necessary 
steps to manage and safeguard any shareholding the Council owns in a company.

 
6.3 The last Business Plan update was provided to Cabinet in October 2021 with 

further requested detail being provided in December 2021.  This builds on previous 
annual business plan updates that are provided which then inform budget estimates 
that are included in the Medium Term Financial Plan for subsequent years.  The 
last Business Plan estimated that a dividend of £1.350m would be paid to the 
Council in 2024/25 upon completion of Phase 1 and this figure is included in the 
latest Medium Term Financial Plan.

 
6.4 The current peak debt estimate for the company is £8.3m with this due to be 

reached in the first half of 2022 with this reducing to £3.7m by the end of 2022/23.
 
6.5 A similar arrangement exists for the wholly owned hospitality company, Sefton 

Hospitality Operations Limited for whom a lower debt facility of £0.5m has been 
provided.

7. Southport Town Deal 

7.1 Southport is set to receive £37.5m in government funding for a range of projects 
across the town centre and sea front following a successful bid to the Government’s 
Towns Fund. The award represents one of the largest Town Deals that the 
government has agreed nationally and across 101 towns.

7.2 Cabinet approved the bid submission and Town Investment Plan (TIP) at the 
October 2020 Cabinet meeting.  The process requires leadership of a Town Deal 
Board, with a private sector Chair, but the Council is required to undertake the role 
of Accountable Body for the bid and to be the organisation through which funding 
will flow.

7.3 The objective of the Town Deal Fund is to drive the economic regeneration of towns 
to deliver long term economic and productivity growth through:

Page 113

Agenda Item 10



 Urban regeneration, planning and land use
 Skills and enterprise infrastructure
 Transport and Digital Connectivity

7.4 The Capital Strategy sets the governance framework from which the Council as 
Accountable Body for the bid will ensure: good governance, transparency, public 
consultation (building on the Community Engagement Plan – May 2020), 
developing detailed and robust business cases, monitoring and evaluating projects, 
receiving and accounting for the funding allocation, and which Council approvals 
will be required in accordance with Financial Procedure Rules. 

7.5 The first 5% of the Town Deal funding (£1.875m) has been released to Sefton to 
support pre-development work and project progression, with work ongoing on 
business cases during 2022 to enable final approval and release of the balance of 
the Town Deal funding. There has also been approval in principle from the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority for additional support linked to one 
specific Town Deal project (the Marine Lake Events Centre) of up to £20m - subject 
to the appropriate funding requirements being met.

8. Non-Financial Investment Strategy

8.1 The Council’s non-treasury investments consist of an Investment Property portfolio 
of over 210 properties.  They delivered a return for the Council after deducting for 
the cost of maintenance, net income of £2.196m in 2020/21, which contributes 
towards the provision of services.

8.2 The investment property portfolio is fully owned by the Council and no outstanding 
loans are held against it.  No new investment properties have been added for 
several years.  Any future purchases of such assets will follow the procedures set 
out in sections 2 and 3. 

8.3 All properties classified as investment properties are revalued on an annual basis 
as part of the Statement of Account process and valuations are externally audited.  
The value at 31st March 2021 was £49.11m.  All investment properties are valued at 
greater than original purchase price and have hence produced an unrealised capital 
return. 

8.4 The liquidity of the portfolio will depend upon the prevailing market conditions.  
However, access to funds is not considered an issue as the portfolio does not 
provide security against loans and is providing an adequate return.

8.5 Any loans made by the Council that will support projects aligned to the Framework 
for Change programme, will require a full business case including robust due 
diligence and will be approved in accordance with the Councils governance 
processes.  Any loan granted will be within the Council’s approved prudential 
indicators.

9. Debt, Borrowing and Treasury Management

9.1 The Council has adopted CIPFA’s revised 2017 Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management in public services which recommends the production of an annual 

Page 114

Agenda Item 10



Treasury Management Policy and Strategy documents. These documents are 
approved as part of the annual budget setting process and are monitored by the 
Audit and Governance Committee.  The strategy document sets out in detail how 
the treasury management activities are to be undertaken in a particular year to 
comply with the Council’s Treasury Management policy.

9.2 The Treasury Management Strategy details how the Council will manage its 
borrowing, investments and cash flow and therefore forms an important part of the 
overall Capital Strategy.  The Capital Programme and the mix of funding sources 
determines the borrowing requirement of the Council, which will require 
management of the Council’s cash flow to ensure that the Council can meet both its 
future revenue and capital obligations.

9.3 If the Council is required to borrow funds, it can seek to support the capital 
programme through prudential borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB).  This borrowing is not supported by government grant.  It means that there 
will be a future charge to the revenue budget to pay back the principal amount 
borrowed plus accrued interest.  As a result, robust financial appraisals are used to 
determine a future financial benefit from the initial investment, which will be able to 
fund the future charge to the revenue budget and potentially achieve further 
cashable savings or income generation, for instance an invest to save (or earn) 
scheme, strategic investment or major regeneration schemes.

9.4 An evaluation of funding options will be undertaken with external advisor support, 
thus ensuring the most advantageous position for the Council by securing the 
greatest value for money option to fund new capital schemes.

9.5 The Council’s borrowing limit is contained within the Prudential Indicators Report:

2021/22
£m

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

2024/25
£m

Authorised Limit 223 220 213 216

9.6 In recent years, the Council has followed a policy of internal borrowing, whereby 
borrowing for the capital programme is deferred whilst the Council holds healthy 
cash balances.  This is advantageous as it avoids cost of carry and reduces the 
overall borrowing costs. This position requires careful management of interest rate 
risk in conjunction with our treasury consultants. 

9.7 The Council has regard to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities’ (DLUHC) guidance on the application of minimum revenue provision 
(MRP).  The recommended MRP policy is summarised below:

Category Basis of MRP Calculation

Supported Borrowing Annuity Basis over 50 years
(commencing from 1 April 2015)

Unsupported (prudential) borrowing Annuity Basis – Calculated using 
the estimated life method

Page 115

Agenda Item 10



Standard asset lives applied to calculate MRP charge vary from 3 years for 
intangible assets to 50 years for land.

10. Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Consultation

10.1 Borrowing by local authorities from the PWLB has increased markedly during the 
last ten years, with many councils borrowing to fund the acquisition of commercial 
assets with the intention of generating an income stream from such assets.  The 
National Audit Office estimates that £6.6bn of commercial property was purchased 
by local authorities between 2016/17 and 2018/19 which coincided with a reduction 
in the price of PWLB loans.

10.2 Government want to guard against councils taking advantage of low rates to 
purchase commercial assets, and where the anticipated income does not 
materialise, avoid the risk of taxpayers having to service the loan repayments.  

10.3 Following a period of consultation, the government has issued revised lending 
terms for the PWLB and guidance to support councils to determine if a proposed 
project is an appropriate use of PWLB loans. The main features of the new lending 
terms for Councils intending to borrow from the PWLB are:

 Councils are asked to submit a high-level description of their capital spending 
and financing plans for the following three years, including expected use of the 
PWLB. Councils will be able to revise these plans in year as required.

 Councils will be asked to provide details of the following:
- how much they plan to spend each year in each of the following set of 
categories, which have been developed in consultation with the sector and 
cover all acceptable capital activity that can be funded via PWLB loans.

 Service spending
 Housing
 Regeneration
 Preventative; and
 Treasury Management

- a short description of the main projects in each of these categories covering 
75% of the spending in that category
- The Section 151 Officer or equivalent must provide assurance that the council 
is not borrowing in advance of need and does not intent to buy investment 
assets primarily for yield.

10.4 The decision over whether a project complies with the terms of the PWLB loan is 
for the authority’s Section 151 Officer or equivalent. However, HM Treasury may 
intervene if it has concerns that issuing the loan is incompatible with HM Treasury 
guidance.

11. Risk Management

11.1 Risk management across the Council has been reviewed in a process led by the 
Chief Internal Auditor.  A corporate risk register is in place, as are service area risk 
registers.  The final stage has seen operational, project and transformation risk 
registers developed. 

Page 116

Agenda Item 10



11.2 Section 2 in the strategy describes the consistent approach to project management 
from concept stage through to full business case approval.  The Project Charter has 
a risk section which means that consideration of risk and its mitigation is at the 
forefront throughout the project design and feasibility stage.

11.3 Risk management is embedded in project and programme boards.  Live projects 
are subject to challenge in project board meetings from the Project Sponsor and 
Senior Responsible Officer.  Significant risks will move on to Service and Corporate 
risk registers and be reported through capital scheme updates in the monthly 
budget monitoring report to Cabinet. 

11.4 Treasury management risk is managed in line with DLUHC investment guidance 
principles of security, liquidity and yield.  The Council’s risk appetite for financial 
investments is detailed in the Treasury Management Strategy.  The risk appetite is 
low, security and liquidity being the key principles underlying the investment 
strategy.  The Treasury Team balance the risks associated with cash management, 
mitigating risks as much as possible to seek maximum financial return. 

11.5 Treasury management activity will be reported to Audit and Governance via 
quarterly reports and an outturn report.  Cabinet and Council receive a half yearly 
report and the annual outturn report.

12. Knowledge and Skills

12.1 The Council has a wide range of expertise to call upon, including professionally 
qualified legal, finance and property officers, to support the delivery of the Capital 
Strategy and Framework for Change. 

12.2 There is commercial expertise across the Executive Leadership Team and Senior 
Leadership Board and a commercial approach is being embedded across the 
organisation.  

12.3 Recent changes to the senior management structure have been made to better 
meet the resource requirements to support Framework for Change going forward.   

12.4 Support services, including Finance, Legal, Property and Business Intelligence and 
Commissioning, are regularly reviewed with a focus on providing the right support 
and officers with the necessary skills, to work with the frontline service and project 
managers.  Where gaps in knowledge are identified the relevant training is co-
ordinated for individuals or teams.  

12.5 The Capital Programme and Treasury Management Strategy is managed by a team 
of qualified accountants who follow a programme of continual professional 
development, attending tailored courses offered by the Council’s retained treasury 
consultancy.

12.6 As part of the Treasury Management Strategy it is a requirement that all members 
involved in treasury management understand this complex area.  Annual training is 
open to all members and is delivered by external treasury consultants.  A record is 
maintained of member attendance.

Page 117

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Regulatory, 
Compliance and 
Corporate Services)

Cabinet 

Council 

Date of Meeting:  8 February 2022 

10 February 2022

  3 March 2022
Subject: Robustness of the 2022/23 Budget Estimates and the Adequacy 

of Reserves – Local Government Act 2003 - Section 25

Report of: Executive Director 
of Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:
To comply with statute, the Chief Financial Officer is required to report to Council prior to 
the approval of the budget and the setting of the Council Tax, to give assurance that the 
budget is robust and that there are adequate reserves and balances.  The report is 
based on the proposals presented at this meeting.

Recommendation(s):
The Local Government Act 2003, (section 25 as amended) requires the Chief Financial 
Officer to report formally on the following issues:

a) An opinion as to the robustness of the estimates made and the tax setting 
calculations; and

b) The adequacy of the proposed financial reserves.

The Council is requested to have regard to the matters raised in this report during the 
final stages of determining the budget for 2022/23.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):
The Local Government Act 2003, (section 25 as amended) requires the Chief Financial

Page 119

Agenda Item 11



Officer to report formally on the issues contained within this report.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)
None

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
Decisions taken as a consequence of this report will influence the Council’s Revenue 
Budgets and Council Tax for 2022/23 and thereby shape the Council’s financial plan for 
future years. 

(B) Capital Costs
Decisions taken as a consequence of this report will influence the Council’s Budgets and 
thereby shape the Council’s financial plan for future years. 

Implications of the Proposals:
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
None

Legal Implications:
The Council is required to set a Budget and Council Tax level for 2022/23 on or before 
10 March 2022 and must consider the comments of the Chief Financial Officer before 
that decision is taken.

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

The allocations of capital funding included in the Budget Report may be spent on 
projects that will have a high climate change impact as they could relate to new build, 
rebuild, refurbishment, retrofit and demolition proposals. Environmental consideration 
will be taken into account when specific projects are designed and tendered – which will 
help to mitigate negative impacts.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Page 120

Agenda Item 11



Effective Financial Management and the development and delivery of sustainable annual 
budgets support each theme of the Councils Core Purpose.

Protect the most vulnerable:
See comment above

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
See comment above

Commission, broker and provide core services:
See comment above

Place – leadership and influencer:
See comment above

Drivers of change and reform:
See comment above

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
See comment above

Greater income for social investment: 
See comment above

Cleaner Greener:
See comment above

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations
The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services is the author of 
the report (FD 6687/22). 

Chief Legal and Democratic Officer has been consulted and his comments are 
incorporated in the report (LD 4887/22).

(B) External Consultations 
None

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Stephan Van Arendsen
Email Address: Stephan.vanarendsen@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:
There are no appendices to this report

Page 121

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Stephan.vanarendsen@sefton.gov.uk


Background Papers:
There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction

1.1 This report has been prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements of 
the Local Government Act 2003 which requires the Authority to report to Members 
on the robustness of budget estimates and the adequacy of proposed reserves.

2. ROBUSTNESS OF BUDGET ESTIMATES

2.1 The budget for 2022/23 has been developed whilst the Council continues to deal 
with the ongoing financial impact of the COVID pandemic on a number of key 
services and income sources.  This impact will continue for years to come and the 
understanding of impact and identification of mitigation measures is a key feature 
of the 2022/23 budget and will be a key feature of budgets to come, thus 
increasing the complexity of budget setting and also the financial pressure on the 
Council- this will impact financial sustainability. 

2.2 As with the previous financial year, developing a robust set of budget estimates 
for the financial year 2022/23 has been incredibly difficult and both these 
estimates and the risk profile of the Council will continue to change fundamentally 
over the next 12 months.  The budget proposed however, represents the most 
accurate position that is available at the current time and like during the financial 
year 2021/22 regular updates will be required to be presented to Cabinet and 
Council in order that informed decision making can take place during the year in 
order to maintain financial sustainability.

Core Council Budget

2.3 As reported to Members over the last 12 months, the Council budget for 2021/22 
included a number of short term financial measures and support to mitigate the 
financial implications of the pandemic- a number of these were met via central 
government support provided for a specific purpose and some required Council 
support.  Moving into 2022/23 a lot of this support will come to an end and the 
budget estimates have had to be updated to take account of the longer term 
impact of the pandemic on key services and income streams, with continued 
uncertainty around whether this impact is permanent or temporary.  The areas of 
the Council’s budget where a residual impact remains and consideration has been 
given to it in this budget include:-

 Business Rates Income;
 Council Tax Income;
 Adult Social Care Budget;
 Children’s Social Care Budget;
 Leisure Income; and
 Cost of Waste Disposal

Page 122

Agenda Item 11



 
2.4 As a result of each of these the accompanying budget report details how they 

have affected the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan assumptions, where 
additional investment is to be made in services (Adults and Children’s Social 
Care) and where one-off support is being provided pending an understanding of 
the longer term financial impact (Leisure income and waste disposal costs).  

2.5 In respect of Children’s Social Care, the Council has invested a significant sum in 
the service during 2021/22 and a further £4.3m is proposed in 2022/23.  This will 
cover the cost of a service staffing review, inflation provision for existing contracts 
and growth in the placements and packages budget.  This budget has seen 
significant investment over the last 4 years with growth from £33m in 2018/19 to 
what will be £52m in 2022/23.  As such this represents the biggest financial risk to 
the Council from a budget and financial sustainability point of view at this point in 
time.  Provision has been made in the 2022/23 budget as discussed but there is 
no further growth proposed in the Medium-Term Financial plan from 2023/24 
onwards.  In the absence of any further government support, if further growth in 
the staffing establishment or placements and packages budget is required then 
corresponding savings will be required from elsewhere in the budget to pay for 
this.  This is something that will need to be determined and decided upon early in 
the financial year in order that sufficient time is available prior to 2023/24. 
Likewise, if there is pressure within this budget during 2022/23 that exceeds the 
funding available, corresponding savings will need to be made in year within other 
areas of the approved budget - due to the issues in this service, these savings 
maybe significant and will require quick decisions to ensure financial sustainability 
is maintained.

2.6 Similarly, Adult Social Care, as the largest budget within the Council, has been the 
subject of unprecedented change over the last two financial years.  In supporting 
providers, the Council has always made available £2m in its Medium-Term 
Financial Plan to increase the budgets each year.  Any variations have been met 
by the service.  As a result of the government announcement with regard to the 
National Living Wage and an increase of around 6.6% for 2022/23, there has 
been a  need to increase the Council’s budget provision by a further £3.5m for this 
year.   This is the Council’s affordability envelope for this provider fee increase.  
The Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan has maintained the £2m provision for 
provider fee increases for 2023/24 and beyond.  If central government increase 
national living wage at levels similar to this year, i.e. around 6%, then the Council 
will be faced with a decision as to whether to maintain its affordability envelope or 
identify savings elsewhere in its budget to pay for this increase in the absence of 
further direct government support.

2.7 It is important to recognise that within the Comprehensive Spending Review 
(CSR), government announced further grant funding for councils for 2022/23 
which is reflected in this budget, but there is no further grant funding that will be 
made available after this first year- the only additional support that councils can 
access is a potential 1% Adult Social Care levy (this is the assumption made in 
the CSR).  This equates to £1.4m for Sefton.  From this it can be seen that 
government are making no further funding for investment in Children’s Social 
Care, thus at this point any investment proposed by the Council as previously 
stated will need to come from savings elsewhere in the existing budget.  In 
respect of Adult Social Care, at present government are suggesting that a 1% 

Page 123

Agenda Item 11



increase should cover the increased costs of Adult Social Care from 2023/24, 
pending further detail being made available on the future allocation of the Adult 
Social Care -Market Sustainability & Fair Cost of Care Fund and funding for the 
other elements of Adult Social Care Reform.  This amount is below the Council’s 
current provision of £2m per annum and doesn’t reflect the potential for significant 
increases in National Living Wage nor financial pressure currently being 
experienced by providers. Also, no additional information has been given on the 
potential allocation of funding relating to Adult Social Care Reform for individual 
local authorities beyond 2022/23, however some commentators have suggested 
that the funding may not be sufficient to fund the potential increases in costs.

2.8 The estimates for the financial year in these two key areas are robust, however 
due to no government support being confirmed after 2022/23 any further 
investment will require savings to be made in other areas of the Council’s budget 
and details of this should come through in the first quarter of 2022/23.

Ongoing impact of COVID

2.9 In developing this budget plan, consideration has been given to the ongoing 
impact of the pandemic.  

2.10 Within this budget plan, this ongoing impact is reflected with the following 
provisions being made:-

 Temporary budget provision being made in respect of continued loss of 
income from sales, fees and charges income.

 Temporary budget provision being made for the increased waste disposal 
costs; and 

 Permanent Medium-Term Financial Plan and budget changes being made 
in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates income.

2.11 It is important to note that no specific additional central government support is 
being made available to the Council for 2022/23 to mitigate the financial impact of 
the pandemic.

2.12 With regard to the loss of sales, fees and charges income (predominantly in 
Leisure) and the increased waste disposal costs, at present it is unclear whether 
these financial pressures are temporary in nature or will represent a ‘new normal’- 
work will be undertaken during the first six months of 2022/23 to further evaluate 
this- in the event that these pressures continue they will need to be reflected in the 
Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan and corresponding savings will be 
required. However, for 2022/23 the correct budget provision has been made 
based on information available at this point in time. 

Framework for Change

2.13 In February 2020, Council approved the three-year Framework for Change 
Programme, the last year of which is 2022/23. A significant amount of work has 
been undertaken on this Programme in its three key workstreams, Demand 
Management , Council of 2023 and Growth and Strategic Investment. The aims 
and objectives of this programme are well established and in progress, with 
changes having been made during the Programme as expected to reflect differing 

Page 124

Agenda Item 11



demands on services, the financial position of the Council and, naturally, the 
pandemic.  The Programme will support the delivery of the 2022/23 budget.

As discussed earlier, in the event that further growth and investment is required in 
key services and corresponding savings are required, the Council will need to 
determine early in 2022/23 whether it has the next iteration of a change 
programme for 2023/24 to 2025/26 that will have financial sustainability at its core 
or whether it will move to a more traditional development of a savings programme.  

2.14 Within this budget package there are two savings/income streams attributable to 
the Framework for Change programme:-

 Council of 2023- savings of £0.890m in respect of New Ways of Working 
are included- these have been signed off as deliverable by project leads.

 Demand Management- savings of £3.800m have been identified within 
Adult Social Care. These savings have been agreed by the Executive 
Director of Adult Social Care and Health and the external support that was 
brought in to support the service, although £1m of this saving will be 
phased to be introduced in 2023/24

Resources to Deliver Framework for Change 2020 and the proposed 2022/23 
Budget

2.15 During the last three years and especially during the pandemic, when additional 
temporary funding has been made available to support the response and ongoing 
implications, additional staff resources have been brought into the Council to 
support this and this has been invaluable. As stated, there is now no ongoing 
central government support therefore those staff brought in on temporary 
arrangements will see those contracts expire as originally set out.

Similarly the Council Cost of Change budget for Framework for Change 2020, has 
now been fully utilised, therefore there is no further budget provision in this year to 
provide short term financial support for additional staffing or cost of delivery / 
change across the Council- any such requests will need to be funded by services.

As this paper has shown, in the 2022/23 budget where there is investment in 
services, the Council continues to provide this to the most acute areas of its 
budget and this aligns with the core purpose and it reflects decisions over the last 
decade which have prioritised supporting the most vulnerable.  As such there is 
no investment in those services that could be considered as enablers to the 
delivery of the framework for change. The Council will need to therefore deliver 
the final year of its Framework for Change programme and its core business from 
within the approved budget envelope with any investment in additional resources 
coming from that budget as no short-term additionality is available.  This principle 
will need to be followed for any spending pressure that is identified in year- a clear 
and deliverable mitigation plan will be required that is funded from the approved 
2022/23 budget.

Factors to be Considered

Impact of Previous Years’ Budget – 2022/23

Page 125

Agenda Item 11



2.15 As a result of the continued pressure and complexity on the Council’s budget, as 
is the case each year, the starting point for budget development is ensuring that 
services start the year with an appropriate budget to meet current demand.  In 
setting the budget for 2022/23, the Councils position as at the end of November 
2021 has been taken to inform this.  The Council at that point was reporting a 
small net underspend for the year but with most significant pressure in Children’s 
Social Care.  As reported earlier, additional provision has been made to that 
budget for 2022/23 and it is considered that all remaining budgets will move into 
the new year with no changes from 2021/22 except where detailed in the budget 
report.  

2.16 This position may vary between the time of establishing the budget and year end.  
As such the first monitoring report of 2022/23 will need to identify any emerging 
issues and required remedial actions.

Central Government funding

2022/23

2.17 For 2022/23, the Council has received a one-year financial settlement, despite a 
three-year Comprehensive Spending Review being announced in October 2022.  

2.18 Within this settlement the Council has been provided with certainty around the 
funding it will receive during 2022/23 to support the core council budget.  

Maintaining Service Delivery 

2.19 As has been previously reported, the scale of the budget shortfall that the Council 
has faced over the last decade has led to both service reductions and a 
transformational approach to all areas of activity in order to ensure that the 
Council’s core purpose that was derived from the Sefton 2030 vision can be 
delivered.  For 2022/23, the key challenge faced by the Council will once again be 
in respect of its demand led budgets, especially Children’s Social Care and Adult 
Social Care.   Children’s Social Care is progressing through the delivery of its 
improvement and  investment plans during a time of unprecedented increased 
demand and complexity – additional budget provision has been made available 
once again to support this but this service remains the key financial risk for 
2022/23.

2.20 As previously discussed, Adults Social Care has seen a significant impact across 
the sector as a result of the pandemic that will require continual management 
through the year.  At the same time work will need to commence to support the 
introduction of the Health and Social Care reforms recently announced by central 
government at the same time as delivering significant savings.

These two areas will need to be the focus of financial management activity during 
the year and any material changes to budget assumptions will need to be met by 
corresponding savings elsewhere in the budget both on a short and long term 
basis.

Page 126

Agenda Item 11



Inflation and Annual Cost Increases

2.21 The Council, as in previous years, has provision for specific allocations to provide 
funding for contractual and other inflationary pressures such as annual pay 
increases.  This reflects the latest information available having conducted a 
Council wide review of existing contracts and the likely impact of future pay 
negotiations.  Within this budget package however there continues to be no 
provision for general price inflation.  Due to the severity of the financial challenge 
facing the Council, services will be required to manage any such pressure within 
their existing cash limits.  The exception to this within the budget package is that 
provision has been allocated to support the increased cost of ICT contracts- the 
cost of the Council’s major ICT systems has increased significantly in recent years 
and cannot be contained within existing budgets. It is acknowledged that inflation 
at present within the UK is at levels not seen for some considerable time and will 
place pressure on both existing and future revenue and capital budgets.  As such, 
in the absence of further external funding, expenditure in some areas will need to 
be prioritised to ensure that it can be contained within approved levels. This is a 
risk that will need to be managed in year

Financial Management

2.22 The Council has an embedded process with regard to its Financial Management, 
and its reporting strategy reflects the monitoring undertaken by the Executive 
Leadership Team, Strategic Leadership Board, budget holders and the central 
Finance Team. Monthly reports are considered by Departmental Management 
Teams, Strategic Leadership Board and Cabinet.  Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee also have a standing agenda item in respect of capital and revenue 
monitoring.

2.23 To support this approach a continual training offer is available to all budget 
holders, schemes of delegation for each service are reviewed and where 
appropriate updated on a quarterly basis and a new budget monitoring forecasting 
system is being introduced during the latter part of 2021/22. The Council’s 
Financial Procedure Rules were last updated in November 2020 and will be 
reviewed again during the first half of 2022/23 and will be presented to Audit and 
Governance committee and Council for approval. 

2.24 It has been reflected both within this report and also the wider budget report, that 
the level of financial risk facing the Council and indeed all local authorities is 
increasing significantly due to the ongoing pressure on demand led budgets and 
as a result of the pandemic and that the budget estimates contained for the 
Council over this Budget Plan period reflect the Council’s ambition to deliver 
services that align with its 2030 vision, core purpose and ensure that it remains 
financially sustainable.

2.25 In order to manage these risks and objectives, the Executive Leadership Team, 
Strategic Leadership Board and Members will need to monitor each element of 
the Council’s budget and demand for services forensically and in accordance with 
best practice in order that this risk can be mitigated as far as possible.  Due to the 
level of risk that now exists within all areas of the Council’s budget this monitoring 
will be of even greater importance as will the speed that decisions are made in 
order to implement mitigating actions that will ensure financial sustainability.

Page 127

Agenda Item 11



CIPFA Financial Resilience Index and the CIPFA Financial Management 
Code

2.26 The financial risks facing the Council in 2022/23 and beyond have been set out 
within this report and the wider budget report and as would be expected after the 
last decade and as a result of the pandemic, this level continues to rise.  This is 
similar for most local authorities.

2.27 During the last two years, it has been widely publicised that a number of these 
authorities have encountered real financial difficulties with some issuing s114 
notices and others requiring other elements of government intervention and 
support.  It is important that the Council learns the lessons from these experiences 
elsewhere to inform its own approach to decision making and financial 
sustainability.  To support this, CIPFA produce both a resilience index and 
financial management code that aim to evaluate a council’s financial resilience 
and ensure that financial management is of the required standard across the 
organisation.

CIPFA Financial Resilience Index

2.36 CIPFA developed its Financial Resilience Index which is intended to assist local 
authorities by identifying various indicators of potential financial stress for the 
organisation.  As previously reported there are 15 indicators which are compared 
to other local authorities - 7 of these indicators relate to the level of reserves held 
compared to net revenue expenditure, 3 relate to the proportion of expenditure on 
high risk services (e.g. Adult and Children’s Social Care) and 5 on the reliance of 
specific types of funding (Government Grants, Council Tax and Business Rates). 

2.37 At this time, the Index has yet to be updated to reflect the position as at the end of 
2020/21.  Therefore, the comments below relate to the position as at the end of 
2019/20 published at the beginning of 2021.

2.38 When compared to other metropolitan district councils Sefton would appear to 
compare fairly favourably (this being a relative conclusion when the overall 
financial environment within with the Council is operating is considered) in relation 
to its budget flexibility, i.e. relatively it spends a lower proportion of its budget on 
high risk services where the ability to reduce overall expenditure on these services 
is less due to rising demand. However, this was prior to the significant additional 
investment which was made in Children’s Social Care in 2020/21, 2021/22 and 
2022/23 which may present additional challenges with regard to future budget 
flexibility. 

 
2.39 Sefton also compares favourably in that it is relatively less reliant on grant income, 

being more reliant on council tax income as an overall percentage of its funding.  

2.40 However, the Index shows that Sefton is at a higher risk of financial stress 
(relative to others) due to its level of reserves (both General Fund Balances and 
Earmarked Reserves) at the end of 2019/20 being relatively lower than many 
other metropolitan councils. A strategy was agreed to address the comparatively 
low level of reserves and it is anticipated that this will result in an improvement to 
the position when the 2020/21 Resilience Index is published by CIPFA.  

Page 128

Agenda Item 11



CIPFA Financial Management Code

2.41 In addition to the Financial Resilience Index, CIPFA have also developed a 
Financial Management (FM) Code. This FM Code is designed to support good 
practice in financial management and to assist local authorities in demonstrating their 
financial sustainability. The FM Code sets out the standards of financial management 
for local authorities.  This Code was launched in November 2019 and at that stage 
authorities were advised that they should introduce this in 2020/21 prior to full 
implementation in 2021/22.

2.42 The code is based on establishing Principles of Good Financial Management with 
these being translated into financial management standards. Each local authority has 
to then detail how it meets these standards and what improvements are required in 
order to ensure compliance.

2.43 The Council’s finance service has completed a self-assessment of compliance with 
the Code that has included input from the Strategic Leadership Board to reflect that 
financial management and good practice needs to be embedded across the Council 
and at all levels of the organisation. The output from this exercise was presented to 
Audit and Governance Committee in March 2021 and this highlighted that many 
areas of good practice in financial management are evident across the organisation. 
An action plan to further improve compliance with the Code was also presented to 
Audit and Governance Committee and this was shared with the external auditor as 
part of their value for money assessment. 

2.44 Performance against the action plan is being monitored and the output will be 
presented to Audit and Governance committee and the external auditor in due 
course.

Management of Risk

2.45 The Council manages risk on an ongoing basis at all levels of the organisation.  In 
doing so it has developed policies, processes and systems that reflect its internal 
governance arrangements and the constitution.  As far as possible this allows the 
Council to anticipate risks as they emerge. These processes are supported by the 
Council’s Internal Audit and Risk Section, the annual review of Corporate 
Governance and the completion of the Annual Governance Statement.

2.46 Given these controls and processes, the likelihood of unanticipated budget issues 
has been reduced as far as possible, however as outlined in this document and 
the budget report, the financial risks facing the Council both in this year and future 
years continue to increase, especially as a result of the pandemic and demand for 
core services where financial control of expenditure is sometimes limited.  In the 
event that these have a material impact on the Council’s budget, a remedial action 
plan will be required in year- this is becoming increasingly difficult to deliver 
therefore the role of members in taking efficient and effective decisions informed 
by officer proposals will be key. 

2.47 The Council, in addition to its monthly reporting process, now has an embedded 
process whereby it conducts, first quarter, mid-year and three-quarter year 
reviews.  These are designed to enable members and officers to gain assurance 

Page 129

Agenda Item 11



on the deliverability of a sustainable budget and visibility of any other emerging 
issues.  

Capital Strategy and Strategic Investment

2.48 As part of the reform process of local government finance, the Council now 
receives a modest level of capital grant to support investment.  This budget 
provides for the utilisation of this funding in 2022/23 and an indicative plan for 
future years.

2.49 The Council, as stated previously, has identified that its economic growth and 
strategic investment workstreams are key to supporting its 2030 vision and core 
purpose in addition to financial sustainability.  With the reduction in capital 
resources that are available from central government, the Council will continue to 
explore opportunities and methods to generate funding to support these activities 
over the next three to five years.  This approach is reflected in the budget report.  
Where a proposal to generate an income stream is made, the use of prudential 
borrowing will be considered, and in addition the use of capital receipts from asset 
maximisation, will be a key feature of the investment strategy. The recent reports 
to Cabinet and Council illustrate this and an updated Capital Strategy is included 
within the reports presented to members as part of this budget package

2.50 The Council, through its Treasury Management Strategy, uses a range of 
prudential indicators to manage and control the impact of these capital investment 
decisions.  This will ensure that the risk and debt profile of the Council is 
appropriate based upon its financial standing and performance and that 
repayment is affordable.

External Advice

2.51 The Council is supported in its financial activities by its External Auditor, Ernst and 
Young LLP and its Treasury Management Advisors, Arlingclose.  Any material 
changes to Council policy, budget decisions or capital investment proposals will 
be undertaken in consultation with these organisations.

3. RESERVES STRATEGY 2022/23
 
3.1 The Council holds a range of reserves that it uses and holds for different purposes. 

This report considers each in turn. 

General Fund 

3.2 The General Fund Reserve is the Council’s primary reserve. It exists to provide the 
Council with a contingency against unexpected events which could otherwise 
undermine the Council’s sound financial standing. The fund should only be utilised 
to address short-term issues and should not be relied upon to finance ongoing 
budget deficits. Where it is used in the short term then this should be part of a plan 

Page 130

Agenda Item 11



to return it to a long-term equilibrium position in the medium term.  
 
3.3 Determining the level of General Fund Reserve forms a key part of the Council’s 

medium-term financial strategy and will be informed by an assessment of the risks 
presented by:  

 
• State of the economy (and its impact on Council costs / funding) 

• Knowledge of future changes to the Council’s responsibilities and funding 
allocations 

• Specific risks relating to the delivery or changes in Council services  

3.4 A historical benchmark minimum level that is used by a number of authorities is for 
the General Fund Reserve to be maintained at around 5% of the Council’s net 
budget. This is above the level that has been maintained by the Council in recent 
years, as the CIPFA resilience index has previously identified.  As a result,  the 
Council agreed as part of its financial strategy to increase the contributions to this 
reserve over the last two years in order to mitigate the risk of financial stress.  The 
minimum reserve level of 5.0% that would be appropriate for the Council is referred 
to as the normal risk accepted. However, this rate will not take account of variable 
factors such as the economic climate, government policy and local factors, nor 
importantly the ongoing impact of the pandemic. Therefore, alongside the normal 
risk the Council also needs to make an assessment of abnormal risks it may need 
to fund. These include the following elements.  

 
National Considerations 

 
3.5 Impact of economic climate on Council costs - the current climate, especially 

as a result of the pandemic, will prove challenging in 2022/23 with the potential for 
further business closures, lower than normal income levels from both council tax 
and sales, fees and charges and a shortage of alternative funding sources from 
partners compared to current budget assumptions.  As Council funding is now 
more dependent on the performance of the local business sector and the raising of 
council tax it is more exposed to the consequences of national and local economic 
conditions as the budget report reflects.  

 
3.6 Anticipated reductions in Government funding – the level of funding that it is 

anticipated that the Council will receive in 2022/23 reflects the three-year 
Comprehensive Spending Review announced in October 2021 and the Provisional 
Local Government Finance settlement received on 16 December 2021.  In 
addition, the Council has been notified of other grant allocations for 2022/23.   
These funding levels are included in the Budget Plan.     

Local Considerations 

3.7 Planned changes in service delivery methods / contracts – The Council 
continues to review the way in which it delivers services in order to ensure best 
practice and value for money for its residents- this is especially true in respect of 
Adults and Children’s Social Care in 2022/23. In addition, the Framework for 
Change 2020 programme will involve significant transformational change as to 

Page 131

Agenda Item 11



how services are provided.  This will result in changes to working practices, 
commissioning relationships and governance arrangements. As these become 
embedded within the organisation this should reduce the risk to the organisation 
however there is still a degree of risk that needs to be allowed for.  

 
3.8 Impact of Rising Demand for Services – The Council continues to face 

increasing demand for its services.  This was the case pre pandemic, and this has 
increased further on the rise of COVID-19.  Investment has been included in the 
2022/23 budget, however as discussed in this report there is still significant risk 
that needs to be allowed for particularly in respect of Children’s Social Care.  
Based on the financial position as at the end of November 2021, this budget will 
be re-aligned for 2022/23, however as discussed in this report there is still 
significant risk that needs to be allowed for as this represents the biggest threat to 
the financial sustainability of the council    

 
3.9 Legal Challenges – The Council from time to time make decisions (policy and 

operational) that could be subject to challenge or appeal from affected bodies.  It 
is therefore prudent for the Council to have some capacity to safeguard against 
such challenges. 

3.10 Balance Sheet Risk- As reported in previous months, the Council has areas of 
activity for which a balance is held on the Balance Sheet, two such issues being in 
respect of the High Needs Budget and Sandway Homes Limited. The financial 
issues, implications and risks associated with these have been reported and if 
they materialise will require financing strategies to address them. 

Budget Setting Assumptions 

3.10 Sensitivity of budget assumptions - The Council’s budgets for 2022/23 are 
underpinned by a number of assumptions regarding the prevailing rates of 
inflation, interest earned and cost growth. While these estimates are believed to 
be prudent some costs are outside the Council’s control, particularly in the 
medium term. The current issue around inflation is of particular concern. 

 
3.11 Significant earmarked reserves – The Council maintains funding in earmarked 

reserves. These include reserves for future potential insurance claims and funding 
that Members have set aside for specific purposes. The presence of these 
reserves reduces the scale of risk the General Fund has to guard against. It 
should be noted that these reserves have been set up for specific purposes and 
as such their use will be in accordance with that approved. These reserves are 
reviewed as part of each budget cycle and the annual closure of accounts 
process.

Management / Member Actions 

3.12 Clear Corporate / Member messages - The Council and its senior management 
have very clear expectations regarding the delivery of a ‘balanced and sustainable 
budget’ and have instigated appropriate monitoring and reporting processes to 
ensure any emerging pressures are promptly addressed. This reduces the risk to 

Page 132

Agenda Item 11



be managed through the General Fund.  

3.13 Three Year Medium-Term Financial Plan and One-year budget – Given the 
funding uncertainty facing the Council and the increased demand for Council 
services the Council has developed a three-year Medium-Term Financial Plan and 
a Framework for Change 2020 programme.  These plans will allow the Council to 
develop proposals that will meet the budget requirement when the reform of local 
government finance and the comprehensive spending review have been 
completed.  Due to the pandemic however the assumptions that are contained in 
each of these documents will need to be the subject of continual update 
throughout the year.  

 
3.14 A summary of the adjustments made for the above factors is set out in the table 

below:

Factors Considered Risk Impact 
% of net 
budget

Impact on 
General Fund 

Balances

  £m
  
Normal Risk Level (minimum level) 5.0% 12.0
 
National Considerations 

- Impact of economic climate (including the pandemic) 
on Council costs and Collection Fund income

1.0% 2.4

- Potential further reductions in Government Funding 1.0% 2.4
  

Local Considerations

- Delivery of planned changes in service delivery 
methods/contracts 0.5% 1.2

- Costs at risk from potential legal challenges 0.5% 1.2
- Rising demand for services -Children’s Social Care
- Balance Sheet Risk -including High Needs Budget

2.0%
1.0%

4.8
2.4

Budget Setting Assumptions 

- Sensitivity of budget assumptions 0.5% 1.2
- Earmarked Reserves -2.5% -6.0

  
Management / Member Actions 

- Clear corporate / Member messages 
- Three-year MTFP and Framework for Change 2020

-1.5%
-1.0%

-3.6
-2.4

  
Total Abnormal Risk 1.5% 3.6
Total Risk 6.5% 15.6

3.15 This shows that a risk adjusted assessment of the required level for the General 
Fund in 2022/23 should be in the region of £15.6m. A range of £1.0m is advised 

Page 133

Agenda Item 11



around this figure so a General Fund reserve between £14.6m and £16.6m would 
be considered prudent. This represents 6.5% of the Council’s net  budget. 

 
3.16 The Council started 2021/22 with a General Fund balance of £11.278m and as 

discussed due to the low-level Members approved a strategy to increase the level 
of General Fund balances by £1.5m each year.  Assuming no calls on these 
balances during the year this will result in a balance at year end of £12.778m. In 
addition, the budget report includes provision for an increase in General Balances 
of £2.892m, funded from the net Council Tax / Business Rates surplus declared 
for 2022/23.  This would therefore increase balances to £15.670m during 2022/23, 
in line with the current risk assessment.

Earmarked Reserves 

3.17 Unlike the General Fund, earmarked reserves are held for a specific purpose. 
These purposes may be determined by the Council to coincide with its policy 
objectives, dictated by statute (e.g. schools funding) or agreed with partners who 
also contribute to the reserve.   

 
3.18 Where the decision to set up a reserve rests with the Council, consideration needs 

to be given as to the benefits of holding an earmarked balance. The Council holds 
earmarked reserves separately from its General Fund to meet a number of distinct 
aims. 

• Strategic Reserves - In accordance with policy decisions, funding may be set 
aside and ringfenced for the benefit of a particular service or project ensuring that 
there is funding to take the activity forward as planned. This can also include 
general support to the budget.

• Committed Reserves – Where the Council makes a decision that commits it to 
incurring additional costs in the future, it can set aside the funding necessary to 
meet that cost when it arises, ensuring that the costs of current decisions are 
recognised at the point that decisions are made and do not become a burden on 
future budgets. 

• Uncommitted Reserves – Where the Council is aware of an issue that may incur 
additional costs in the future, it can set aside the funding necessary to meet that 
cost if and when it arises, ensuring that the potential costs of these issues do not 
become a burden on future budgets. 

• Restricted Reserves – The Council sometimes receives contributions from 
partners or has to set aside its own funding in a way that restricts where it can be 
spent in the future. These reserves can only be used to support eligible 
expenditure which may be restricted to a particular place, activity or service.  

• Temporary Reserves – These are used to phase out timing differences between 
when the Council (or another body) funds expenditure and when it is incurred. 

3.20 The current and anticipated balances on each of these classes of earmarked 
reserve are shown below. 

Page 134

Agenda Item 11



April 2021 Estimated March 
2022

£m £m
Earmarked Reserves
- Strategic Reserves 17.056 11.856
- Committed Reserves 9.961 9.961
- Uncommitted Reserves 0.000 0.000
- Restricted Reserves 1.758 1.921
- Temporary Reserves 69.538 23.128

98.313 46.866

School Earmarked Reserves -6.615 -8.415

Total Earmarked Reserves per 
Statement of Accounts

91.698 38.451

3.21 The benefits of holding earmarked reserves needs to be weighed against the costs 
of doing so. Every discretionary earmarked reserve ties up funds that may 
otherwise be available to fund the core activities of the Council. Each reserve also 
carries with it an administrative overhead as they will need to be maintained, 
monitored and reported on. 

 
3.22 Of the 47 existing earmarked reserves (excluding unutilised grants and 

contributions), 38 are to be retained over the medium term or beyond. Each of 
these reserves will be subject to a regular monitoring process to ensure they 
remain relevant and are achieving their stated objectives.  The remaining reserves 
held are expected to have fulfilled their purpose within the planning period and will 
be closed at that point. Any surplus funding on these reserves on completion of 
proposed activities will be appropriated to the General Fund or returned to the 
original funding source. 

3.23 It is important that the Council continues to monitor these reserves throughout the 
year and when required establishes reserves for specific activities or releases 
funding that is no longer required to be held.  This needs to reflect the diverse 
nature of activity that the Council is engaged in, including commercial activity.

3.25 Within the most recent three-year MTFP period funding was allocated to support 
the cost of school closures, with a balance of £1m currently being available.  The 
financial position of secondary schools within Sefton, due to the lack of funding 
made available from central government and number of pupils, has seen an 
anticipation that three out of six will be in a deficit position by the end of 2021/22 
(as well as three primary schools and one pupil referral unit).  This presents a real 
financial risk to the Council in that in the event of closure or a move to academy 
status the Council would need to meet the cost of any deficit held at that point in 
time.  In order to protect its position, the Council needs to approve a licensed 
deficit that must be applied for by the school.  Officers have worked extensively 
with these schools over the last six months and have advised that licensed deficits 
will only be approved where a school can demonstrate it will set a balanced budget 
within 12 months and can then repay substantial elements of any deficit thereafter.  

3.26 Similarly, the Council currently has a deficit within its High Needs Budget.  This is 

Page 135

Agenda Item 11



estimated to be at least £10.0m at the end of 2021/22 and is forecast to rise again 
in 2022/23.  As this is a budget funded by the Dedicated Schools Grant, this deficit 
will be held as an earmarked reserve.  The clear guidance from both DLUHC and 
DFE is that the Council cannot use its General Fund to meet this cost or balance 
and the Council is awaiting further guidance from CIPFA and the DfE on how this 
balance should be treated as this situation is one that is common within the sector.  
That said such a significant balance needs to be addressed, with allocations being 
made within the budget available and the deficit repaid over time.  This is the clear 
expectation of central government at this time and failure to do this will 
compromise financial sustainability and the cash flow of the Council.  A report was 
presented to Cabinet in December 2021 outlining the current position on the high 
needs budget and the key workstreams that will commence that will improve both 
the support to those in need but also the financial position of the Council. It is 
essential that these activities continue at pace with reporting on progress and the 
financial position being reported to Cabinet each quarter. 

Capital Reserves 

Capital Receipts Reserve  

3.27 The Council retains a capital receipts reserve to finance future capital expenditure. 
This reserve is financed by capital receipts set aside on the disposal of land, 
buildings and other assets as well as well as amounts received from One Vision 
Housing relating to the Council’s share of Right to Buy receipts. 

 
3.28 The nature of this reserve determines that the balance will vary with the timing of 

the receipts and the Council’s capital schemes that the receipts are being used to 
fund. The balance at the end of 2021/22 is estimated to be in the region of £4.8m.  

Unapplied Capital Grants and Contributions Reserve 

3.29 The value of this reserve relates to capital grants and contributions received that 
have yet to be utilised to fund ongoing capital schemes. The balance at the end of 
2021/22 is estimated to be £22.7m.  This funding will be utilised in future years.   
However, additional grants and contributions will be received that won’t be fully 
utilised in the years they are received so will remain in the Reserve until utilised.

 

School Reserves 

3.30 The main element of this reserve is individual carry forward balances of schools’ 
unspent budgets. It is the Council’s responsibility to hold these balances and 
ensure they are ring-fenced for use against school activities. These balances are 
expected to gradually reduce over this planning period as the schools utilise their 
accumulated surpluses to support their activities. 

 

4. CONCLUSION
 

Page 136

Agenda Item 11



4.1 As a result of considering the issues contained within this report, it is the view that 
the budget proposed is a robust budget package and the opinion provided is in 
accordance with Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003.  

Page 137

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Cabinet

Council 

Date of Meeting: 10 February 2022

3 March 2022
Subject: Revenue and Capital Budget Plan 2022/23 – 2024/25 and 

Council Tax 2022/23

Report of: Chief Executive 
and Executive 
Director of 
Corporate 
Resources and 
Customer Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio:  Leader of the Council

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Yes Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:
This report will provide Cabinet and Council with: 

 An assessment of the Council’s current financial position and approach to the 
2022/23 Budget Plan and preparation for the additional two-year budget period 
2023/24 to 2024/25.

 An update on the Government’s announcement of resources that are available to the 
Council for 2022/23.

 The Council’s current financial position and the assumptions built into the Medium-
Term Financial Plan.

 The proposed Budget for 2022/23; and,
 The proposed Capital Programme for 2022/23.

The report sets out the financial strategy of the Council and the national and local 
financial context within which it is operating. The Council has a statutory requirement to 
remain financially sustainable and to balance its budget every year.

The Council’s Framework for Change Programme is a comprehensive and ambitious 
programme that seeks to support the delivery of the Council’s core purpose.  As would 
be expected with a programme of this size and complexity that spans a number of 
financial years, the detailed proposals have been and will continue to be the subject of 
change as they are developed and ultimately implemented.  

Page 139

Agenda Item 12



Recommendation(s):
Cabinet is recommended to: 

1. Note the update of the Medium-Term Financial Plan for the period 2022/23 to 
2024/25.

2. Recommend to Council the Budget Plan for 2022/23, including the Revenue 
Budget, allocation of specific grants (section 12), and Capital Programme 
(Appendix C), and authorise officers to undertake the necessary actions to 
implement the recommendations.

3. Note the Schools’ Forum decisions on the Dedicated Schools Grant and 
Individual School Budgets (Section 11); and,

4. Approve the commencement / continuation of all appropriate activity within 
Framework for Change 2020, as detailed in the report, including, for example, 
consultation with employees and engagement with partners about contractual 
and policy changes.

Council is recommended to:

Budget 2022/23 and Medium-Term Financial Plan from 2023/24 to 2024/25

1. Note the update of the Medium-Term Financial Plan for the period 2022/23 to 
2024/25.

2. Approve the Revenue Budget for 2022/23 and authorise officers to undertake all 
of the necessary actions to implement the budget changes and proposals as 
detailed within the report. 

3. Approve the continuation of the Framework for Change 2020 Programme (as 
described in Section 3) and agree to the commencement of all appropriate activity 
as detailed, including for example, consultation with employees and engagement 
with partners and contractual changes as the programme develops.

4. Note that officers will comply with agreed HR policies and procedures including 
relevant consultation with Trade Unions and reports to the Cabinet Member 
(Regulatory, Compliance & Corporate Services) as required.

5. Note the Schools’ Forum decisions on the Dedicated Schools Grant and 
Individual School Budgets (Section 11).

6. Approve the allocation of specific grants as detailed in the report, including a fully 
funded supplementary revenue estimate of up to £3.030m for the Leeds Family 
Valued Programme across 2021/22 to 2023/24 (Section 12).

7. Subject to the recommendations above, approve the overall Council Tax 
resolution for 2022/23 including Police, Fire, Mayoral and Parish Precepts.

Page 140

Agenda Item 12



Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2024/25

1. Approve for inclusion within the Capital Programme the full list of projects in 
Appendix C.

2. Approve a supplementary capital estimate of £29,378 for 2021/22, funded from 
earmarked reserves (Paragraph 16.2).

Procurement of External Audit Services

1. Approve that the Council procure external audit services through the Public Sector 
Audit Appointments body for the period 2023/24 to 2027/28 (Section 17).

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The recommendations in this report provide the basis on which the Budget Plan will be 
balanced for the financial year 2022/23 and will ensure that the Council’s statutory 
obligations are met. In addition, it begins the planning for the financial strategy for the 
following two years to give the Council sufficient time to identify specific proposals to 
deliver financial sustainability over that period.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

The Council is legally required to set a balanced budget each year and this report has 
taken due consideration of all financial issues in its development.  No additional options 
are available for inclusion.  

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

All financial implications are reflected within the report

(B) Capital Costs

All financial implications are reflected within the report

Implications of the Proposals:
The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out as follows:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):
The proposals / projects within the budget plan may have a potential impact upon 
employees and the potential for both voluntary and compulsory redundancies. In such 
circumstances it will be necessary for the Council to comply with the duty to consult 
with recognised Trade Unions and employees and to complete as necessary a 
notification under Section 188 of the Trade Union Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 
1992. This notification under Section 188 is dependent on numbers and other ongoing 
activity.

Page 141

Agenda Item 12



In a similar way to a notification under Section 188, as above Form HR1 notifying of 
potential redundancies to the Department of Business Innovation and Skills may be 
necessary. Full consultation will take place with the Trade Unions and employees on 
the matters contained within the Budget Plan.

The proposals / projects that are made within the  budget plan will have an impact on 
physical assets, this will be assessed during the implementation of approved changes.

The proposals / projects within the budget plan will also have an impact on ICT, this will 
be assessed during the implementation of approved changes.

Legal Implications:
There is a statutory requirement to set a robust budget for the forthcoming financial 
year on or before 10 March 2022.  In the course of considering each of the individual 
proposals / projects, detailed consideration should also be given to the legal, human 
rights and equality implications.  Such consideration will also need to be evidenced to 
ensure that the Council’s decision-making processes are transparent.

Equality Implications:
As the Council puts actions into place to set a balanced and sustainable budget there 
is a need to be clear and precise about processes and to assess the impact of potential 
change options, identifying any risks and mitigating these where possible. Equality 
impact assessments, including any feedback from consultation or engagement where 
appropriate, will be made available to Members when final recommendations on 
individual projects are presented for a decision, in line with approved delegations. This 
will ensure that Members make decisions with due regard to the impact of the 
recommendations being presented and in compliance with the Equality Act 2010.

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

The allocations of capital funding outlined in Appendix C may be spent on projects 
that will have a high climate change impact as they could relate to new build, rebuild, 
refurbishment, retrofit and demolition proposals. Environmental consideration will be 
taken into account when specific projects are designed and tendered – which will help 
to mitigate negative impacts.

Page 142

Agenda Item 12



Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:
Council decisions since 2010 have focused on the priority given to protecting our most 
vulnerable people.  The Budget Plan activity continues to seek to protect the most 
vulnerable within available resources.

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
The Budget Plan demonstrates a clear commitment to early intervention and prevention 
and working with partners, communities and local businesses to reduce the reliance on 
the public sector.  

Commission, broker and provide core services:
The Budget Plan recognises that where it is necessary to do so, the Council will 
continue to be a provider of those core services that the community expects to see 
delivered but will use new service delivery models and new forms of partnership. 

Place – leadership and influencer:
Previous Budget Plans have seen the Council demonstrate strong and effective 
leadership building on its proven track record of engagement, consultation, listening 
and considering feedback in the decision-making process.  

The Council continues to work with partners towards common goals, moving away from 
traditional ways of working focused around delivering services and is demonstrating a 
greater role in influencing, shaping, enabling and building community capacity.

Drivers of change and reform:
The Budget Plan demonstrates the Council playing a key role in leading and driving 
change and reform to improve outcomes for Sefton residents and continuously 
improve the Borough.  

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
The Budget Plan clearly articulates the Council’s approach to investing in order to 
achieve financial sustainability and the ambitions of Sefton 2030.  

Greater income for social investment: 
The Budget Plan recognises the Council’s commitment to developing a commercial 
nature, looking at what it can do either by itself or with others to generate income and 
profit that can be reinvested into delivering social purpose.

Cleaner Greener:
The Budget Plan recognises the Council’s commitment to work with others to 
maintain Sefton’s natural beauty and ensure that its many assets provide a 
contribution to Sefton’s economy, people’s wellbeing and the achievement of the 
2030 Vision.

Page 143

Agenda Item 12



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

Regular and ongoing consultations have taken place between the Chief Executive, 
Executive Directors and Heads of Service, and will continue to do so.

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD6686/22) is 
the joint author of the report and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4886/22) 
has been consulted and any comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

In recent years the Council has carried out extensive consultation with the community and 
has a proven track record of engagement, consultation, listening and considering feedback 
in the budget setting process.  Engagement and consultation will continue over the budget 
plan period and standard Council procedures will be observed in the instances where we 
are required to inform the public.

The budget proposals contained within this report provide a basis for setting the budget 
for  2022/23.  It is a legal requirement to set a balanced budget and ensure the budget 
plan is robust.  As such, any changes to the proposals contained within this report would 
need to ensure this requirement is still met.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Officers will be authorised to implement all decisions within this report immediately 
following Council on 3 March 2022.

Contact Officers:  Dwayne Johnson and Stephan Van Arendsen

Email Addresses: Dwayne.Johnson@sefton.gov.uk  
Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

A. Individual School Budgets 2022/23

B. Draft Council Budget Summary 2022/23
 
C. Capital Programme 2022/23 – 2023/24

Background Papers:

Financial Management 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Framework for Change 2020 – Medium 
Term Financial Plan 2022/23 to 2024/25– Report to Cabinet and Council – 4 and 18 
November 2021

Page 144

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Dwayne.Johnson@sefton.gov.uk
mailto:Stephan.VanArendsen@sefton.gov.uk


1. Introduction
 

1.1 This report provides Members with an update on the overall financial position of the 
Council.  It refreshes the Medium-Term Financial Plan for 2022/23 which is the first 
year of the Council’s new Financial Strategy period. In addition, it provides an initial 
view on the likely funding position that the Council will face from 2023/24 to 2024/25.  
In doing so the report presents the proposed budget for 2022/23.

1.2 In addition, Individual School Budgets and the Capital Programme require approval.

2. The National Context and financial environment 

2.1. From 2010/11 the Government implemented a decade long programme of austerity.  
The impact of these central government funding reductions on local government 
since 2010 is stark and has been widely reported.  The legacy of funding reductions 
has severely impacted on the financial sustainability of local authorities and led to 
significant challenges facing councils over the short and medium term.  

2.2. Whilst funding reduced significantly, the pressure on demand led services 
continued to grow with large increases in the number of Looked After Children as 
well as people over 65 in need of care.  This has meant that expenditure on other 
services has continued to reduce.

2.3. Similarly, the High Needs Budget (part of the Dedicated Schools Grant) provides 
funding for children and young people with special educational needs and 
disabilities (SEND) and local authorities across the country continue to experience 
significant funding shortfalls for this group of children and young people.  

2.4. In light of this position many local authorities are reporting that they are coming 
under an increasing level of financial stress, with an increased use of one-off 
resources being used and the utilisation of reserves to bridge budget shortfalls, thus 
compromising their financial sustainability.  The much-publicised situation at a 
number of authorities outlines the consequences of over relying on the use of 
reserves, non-delivery of savings proposals to mitigate funding reductions and a 
failure to effectively plan and enact robust and disciplined financial control.

2.5. This inherent position has been compounded in 2020/21 and 2021/22 with the 
COVID-19 pandemic having had a massive impact on local authority finances.  
Although funding has been made available by the government to help councils 
respond to the pandemic and mitigate the income losses they have incurred, the 
pandemic has only added to the level of financial stress local authorities are 
experiencing and this will continue for some time. These pressures include 
significant losses of council tax, business rates and income from sales, fees and 
charges as well as increases on costs for Looked After Children and other demand 
led services.  This experience in 2020/21 and 2021/22 will continue to some degree 
into 2022/23 and beyond and is a significant threat to the financial sustainability of 
local authorities and the ability to meet the requirements of local residents in the 
absence of continued central government support. 

Page 145

Agenda Item 12



2.6. In the last four years there has been some, what was originally temporary, funding 
allocated by Central Government to councils in addition to core funding to assist 
with the pressures being experienced across the sector, especially in adult social 
care.  These short-term funding initiatives, whilst welcome, do not meet the 
spending pressures that local authorities, including Sefton, are experiencing; nor 
did they make it possible for councils to effectively plan over the short and medium 
term. Although originally provided as temporary funding, the Government have 
continued to allocate this funding in all settlements to date, giving the impression 
that this funding is now permanent.  However, despite this funding, local 
government continues to be underfunded, with key services that affect the most 
vulnerable in society not being sustainably supported.

2.7. The Comprehensive Spending Review 2021, published on 27 October 2021, 
contained a number of announcements relating to overall local government funding 
for 2022/23 to 2024/25.  The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 
2022/23, announced on 16 December 2021, gave more detail on the impact of these 
announcements on Sefton (see paragraphs 4.4 to 4.19).  However, whilst the 
Comprehensive Spending Review covered 2022/23 to 2024/25, the Provisional 
Settlement only covered 2022/23.  The detail for 2023/24 and 2024/25 is only 
expected to be known when the Provisional Settlements are announced in the 
December prior to each year.  Members will recall that in the budget report for 
2021/22 it was stated that if it received a three-year financial settlement that the 
Council would wish to return to multi-year budgeting to support financial 
sustainability.  Whilst only a one-year Settlement has been announced it is still vital 
that the Council considers a three-year Budget Plan. 

2.8. In addition, there are two significant changes to local government funding that were 
originally expected to be introduced from April 2021 relating to the Review of 
Relative Needs and Resources (formerly the Fair Funding Review) and the 
introduction of 75% Business Rates Retention for all local authorities. When 
announcing the Provisional Settlement, the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities stated that “Government is committed to ensuring that 
funding allocations for councils are based on an up-to-date assessment of their 
needs and resources” and “ Over the coming months, we will work closely with the 
sector and other stakeholders to update this and to look at the challenges and 
opportunities facing the sector before consulting on any potential changes”. 
Therefore, it is assumed that the Review of Relative Needs and Resources will be 
completed in time to be used in allocating funding for 2023/24 onwards. However, 
the Government announced in November 2021 that it had abandoned plans for the 
introduction of 75% Business Rates Retention for all local authorities, although the 
impact of this for Pilot authorities will be assessed as part of the Review of Relative 
Needs and Resources.   As with previous years these are explained below for 
Members consideration:

Review of Relative Needs and Resources (formerly the Fair Funding Review): 
2.9. The Government is currently undertaking a funding review to determine the means 

of allocating funding across local authorities. Funding allocations for local 
authorities, as determined in the local government finance settlement, are based on 
an assessment of local authorities’ relative needs and resources. The methodology 
behind the relative needs assessment was introduced over ten years ago, and data 
used in the formulae has not been updated since the introduction of the 50% 
business rates retention system in 2013/14.

Page 146

Agenda Item 12



2.10. The Government wants to introduce a simpler and more transparent methodology 
reflecting a small number of cost drivers.  One key cost driver, as previously, will be 
population.  Sefton’s relative population has declined compared to England as a 
whole since the methodology was last updated.  Therefore, this element is likely to 
have a negative impact on the Council’s overall funding position. The potential 
implications for Sefton are discussed later in the report (paragraphs 5.18 to 5.22).

2.11. The Government will continue to consult with local authorities as well as be 
influenced by discussions within a number of joint working groups between the 
Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and the Local Government 
Association.  Sefton has, and will continue to, respond to any consultations to try to 
influence the final methodology.

Business Rates Retention:
2.12. Sefton’s Business Rates baseline was last set in 2013/14. Sefton’s retained rates 

income is forecast to be above its funding baseline for 2021/22, so the Council is 
expecting to achieve a gain from Business Rate retention. As part of the Liverpool 
City Region 100% Business Rates Pilot Agreement the Council has retained a 99% 
share of growth in Business Rates since April 2017.

2.13. As part of the Review of Relative Needs and Resources, the Business Rates 
baseline will be re-assessed and changed.  Therefore, the benefit of these gains is 
expected to be lost going forward. 

2.14. As mentioned above, nationally the proportion of Business Rates retained by local 
authorities will now remain at 50%.  It is expected that pilot authorities will also move 
to 50% retention so a lower proportion (49%) of any future growth will be retained 
by the Council.

2.15. As stated, these two changes have now been deferred to April 2023 at the earliest.  
Whilst this will allow time for the remaining decisions over the design of the reforms 
to be made, it means more uncertainty about the future funding arrangements for 
the Council beyond 2022/23. The Local Government Association has argued that 
no council should see a reduction in its funding as a result of the changes.  However, 
given that no additional funding is proposed for 2023/24 or 2024/25 it seems unlikely 
that this will be the case; inevitably there will be winners and losers.  As explained 
in paragraphs 5.18 to 5.22, Sefton is expected to lose funding due to these changes.  
In addition, the Local Government Association have stated that due to no additional 
government funding being proposed for 2023/24 or 2024/25, there will be a funding 
gap of over £1bn by 2024/25 just to keep services at their 2019/20 level of quality 
and access.

2.16. This scenario means that medium term financial planning beyond 2022/23 is 
incredibly difficult and does not support sustainable financial management nor 
service planning.  The recent financial settlement provides the Council with 
confirmation of the funding that will be available in the next financial year, but due 
to the potential one off nature of this funding and no visibility or understanding of 
the changes that will come through the Review of Relative Needs and Resources 
and the impact of COVID-19 on the nation’s economy, developing a reasonable 
estimate of the Council’s financial envelope for the latter two years of the MTFP is 
challenging.

Page 147

Agenda Item 12



2.17. As previously referenced, the implications of this on the Council cannot be 
underestimated.  The Council has an excellent record with regard to financial 
management over the last 12 years that has required it to meet a budget shortfall 
of £233m.  This has been predicated on medium term financial planning and setting 
multi-year budgets that enable effective planning of service delivery and the 
inevitable transformation activity.  The approach by central government to local 
government finances due to the national political agenda, COVID-19, and the lack 
of progress on key financial reforms leaves local government and Sefton in a 
vulnerable position as this medium-term planning is not possible.

2.18. This position is reflected in the Chancellor of the Exchequer stating publicly in 
September 2019 that a new ‘economic decade’ is now upon us and that services 
will be resourced appropriately on the back of a new fiscal agenda and set of rules.  
On face value this should be encouraging for local government with the end of the 
decade long austerity programme and the potential for real term increases to 
government funding being experienced.  This view however is tempered by a 
number of commentators stating that the economic forecast under a range of 
scenarios and taking into account the impact of COVID-19, will result in less scope 
for investment in public services and the likelihood that further cuts to funding are 
inevitable.  This only further increases the uncertainty.

2.19. As a result of these factors, it will be important that the Council continues to engage 
in the reforms of local government finance both individually and as part of the 
Liverpool City Region.  This will help the assumptions in the MTFP to be continually 
refined over the next 12 months and inform the budget proposals that will come 
through between 2023/24 and 2024/25.    

3. Sefton’s local factors and approach to sustainable financial planning

3.1. Sefton, like many local authorities, has found the last decade challenging in terms 
of the national funding conditions outlined above and the significant and growing 
pressures across a range of Council services.  The Council has a proven track 
record of effectively managing its finances, meeting its financial objectives and 
delivering financial sustainability, however this is becoming increasingly difficult.  .    

3.2. Central government policy has, unsurprisingly, seriously challenged the ability of 
the Council to provide essential services to the community and its most vulnerable 
residents.  Demand for adults and children’s services has rapidly increased over 
recent years as reflected in a National Audit Office study.  No sustainable additional 
resource has been provided by Government, although there has been some one-
off grant to help to mitigate some of the cuts to core funding.  Service budgets have 
seen significant reductions and as a result there have been major changes in 
service provision; however, the Council has continually strived to ensure that 
essential services that safeguard the most vulnerable residents are protected and 
prioritised in addition to ensuring that financial sustainability is maintained.

3.3. This position has been compounded as a result of COVID 19, with a significant 
increase in demand for services, loss of income from fees and charges and 
significant reductions from business rates and council tax receipts also being 
experienced.  Whilst the Council has navigated its way through the last 10 years of 

Page 148

Agenda Item 12



spending reductions, the immediate impact of the pandemic will require another 
fundamental review of the Council’s income levels and how these support the 
delivery of services whilst ensuring financial sustainability is maintained.  This is a 
scenario facing all local authorities and the need for continued and long-term central 
government support on each of these aspects is clear.

Sefton Council 2030 Vision- Framework for Change 2020 and delivering 
Financial Sustainability

3.4. Recent Budget Reports have highlighted that the Framework for Change 
Programme has allowed the Council to support the delivery of the Borough’s 2030 
Vision and its own objectives as set out in its Core Purpose, as well as  successfully 
enabling the Council to deliver financial sustainability.

3.5. The Framework for Change Programme 2020 is built on three workstreams / pillars, 
namely Public Sector Reform, Growth and Strategic Investment. 

Public Sector Reform

Council of 2023

3.6. The project takes account of the successful work to date in delivering the 
partnership 2030 Vision and the Council’s Core Purpose.  This will further enable 
the Council to define what it will do and how (within the budget available), what 
outcomes are expected, how these will be measured, what resources will be 
allocated and where it will focus its influence.  This will ensure a clear correlation 
between the policy objectives of the Council and its budget / resource allocation 
process.

3.7. As such this project will ensure that: -

 All of the Councils resources are aligned and prioritised in order to support the 
delivery of the 2030 Vision and Core Purpose. 

 The Council delivers a balanced and sustainable budget.
 The Council has the required leadership, management and workforce capability 

and capacity in order to deliver the Core Purpose and required programme of 
change.

 New ways of working are developed to improve outcomes for local people, 
deliver priority outcomes and improve efficiency and effectiveness.

 The Council builds on the One Council ethos in order to embed its defined 
culture, values and behaviours that are required to deliver the 2030 Vision and 
Core Purpose, and

 The Council will work in partnership with key stakeholders to deliver the 2030 
Vision.

3.8. Specifically, this project has four workstreams, the detail of which was originally 
provided in the 2020/21 Budget Report.

Workstream 1- Service Inputs and New Operating models

Page 149

Agenda Item 12



Workstream 2- New Ways of Working and Taking Advantage of Technology

Workstream 3- Workforce Development

Workstream 4- Organisation design across the Council

Demand Management
3.9. Demand led budgets across the Council (for example Adult Social Care, Children’s 

Social Care, Public Health, Home to School Transport) amount to over £100m of 
the Council’s budget.  The 2021/22 budget included additional contributions to these 
areas of around £12m which reflects an ever-increasing demand.  Significant 
increases in these budgets are also proposed for 2022/23.

3.10. Due to the size, complexity and demand for these services, a continual review must 
be undertaken to ensure that the cost base for these services provides value for 
money, an early intervention and prevention programme is embedded, and 
residents are supported in ‘moving down the system’ so as to reduce the demand 
for Council services and particularly those at the acute end.

3.11. The move to locality-based working with an emphasis on early intervention and 
prevention aims to reduce demand by identifying need much earlier and working 
with partners to build resilience and to require public services less. 

3.12. To develop the demand management programme within the next few years, and 
reduce the demand-led budgets previously set out, requires a focus on the next 
cohort of service users that may require Council services and to look at innovative 
ways to support resilience using a partnership approach.  This will require a detailed 
focus on why people are entering services and what can be done to prevent this in 
the future.  Where a service is provided the Council needs to ensure this is achieving 
value for money and promoting future resilience.

3.13. This will be done through:

 Safely and sustainably managing and reducing demand for Council services 
where it is appropriate to do so.

 Being clear about what the Council defines as “demand led” systems.
 Focussing on: 

o Early Intervention and Prevention
o The need and review of activity
o Strong market engagement, development and management
o Eligibility policies. 

 Developing links and alignment with other elements of programme, with a real 
focus on ‘community and personal resilience’ and reducing the need for Council 
services.

 Developing a comprehensive performance management framework that 
includes a comparison with statistical partners and neighbours, and

 Ensuring that the Council considers the connectivity with partner agencies and 
their impact on our system, e.g. health.

Page 150

Agenda Item 12



3.14. This will be a dedicated project across a number of services with immediate, short, 
medium and long term workstreams. These are:

Workstream 1- Localities - further embedding early intervention and prevention

Workstream 2- Children’s Social Care

Workstream 3- Adults’ Social Care

Workstream 4- Streetscene

Workstream 5- Education Excellence

Workstream 6- Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND)

Economic Growth and Strategic Investment 
3.15. During the Framework for Change Programme the Growth and Strategic Investment 

pillars have been developed and have now moved on to the delivery stage.

3.16. The Programme is being delivered within a set of themes which include:

 Town Centre Regeneration for example through the Southport Town deal.
 Large Employment Sites.
 Strategic Transport Schemes.
 Coast Access Gateways.
 Industry sector development.
 Housing.
 Employment and Skills, and
 Investment

3.17. The Programme will also include “Invest to Save” schemes whereby capital 
investment directly reduces or removes a service cost to the Council.

3.18. The Programme is underpinned by a number of strategic initiatives which include:
 The Asset Management Strategy and Asset Disposal Policy and the 

continuation of the asset maximisation project from Framework for Change 
2017.

 Strategies such as the Sefton Economic Assessment and Strategy and the 
Sefton Coast Plan.

 LCR CA Single Investment Fund.
 The Liverpool City Region Local Industrial Strategy.

4. Budget Plan 2022/23 – 2024/25
 
4.1 As discussed previously within the report, 2022/23 is the first year of the Council’s 

new financial strategy period.  Council, on 18 November 2021, approved an 

Page 151

Agenda Item 12



updated Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) for the period 2022/23 – 2024/25, 
including the assumptions made. 

4.2 As part of this budget setting cycle, each key element of the MTFP has been 
reviewed, namely: -

 Initial key MTFP assumptions including non-recurring savings.
 Other MTFP changes. 
 The implications of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement 

for 2022/23; and,
 Growth Items.

4.3 In addition, there is still the ongoing impact of COVID-19 on the Council’s budget 
for 2022/23. The impact of COVID-19 on some areas of the Council’s budget are 
therefore considered separately in section 8.

4.4 The following sections of the report consider the Council’s normal budget and detail 
each element of the MTFP in turn.

Initial Key MTFP Updated Assumptions

4.5 Within this MTFP, there are a number of initial key assumptions that will impact 
upon the funding gap facing the Council in the period 2022/23 to 2024/25 as well 
as a number of other budget changes. These are set out as follows:

Housing Benefit / Council Tax Admin Subsidy
4.6 In recent years the amount of subsidy received by the Council to help fund the 

administration costs of Housing Benefits and the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
has been reducing year on year.  It is anticipated that this will continue in future 
years with an estimated reduction of £0.050m a year.

Resources to fund pay awards, increases in the pension future service rate, specific 
contracts and potential price increases from care providers

4.7 In line with previous MTFPs, the Council makes provision for the estimated costs of 
annual increases in pay, pensions etc.  Provisions for these items total £5.950m 
per year. This includes £2.000m for provider fee increases within Adult Social Care.

Levy Increases
4.8 The Council is required to pay levies to various bodies, the largest two of which are 

the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (for Transport) and the Merseyside 
Recycling and Waste Authority.  A provision has been included for the potential 
costs of increases in these levies in each of the three years (£0.700m per year).  
Sefton has received notification of provisional figures for 2022/23 in December 2021 
and these can be contained within the estimate for 2022/23.

Non-Recurring Items
4.9 Significant Treasury Management savings were built into the budget for 2016/17 

following the review of policy – however, the annual value of this saving reduces at  
£0.200m each year going forward.

Page 152

Agenda Item 12



2020 Local Government Pension Scheme Valuation
4.10 The 2020 valuation of the Merseyside Pension Fund set contributions that the 

Council will need to pay for the 2020/21 to 2022/23 period.  The financial position 
of the Fund had significantly improved since the previous valuation.  Officers from 
the Council had been engaged with the Pension Fund to ensure this resulted in a 
significant saving, with payments relating to the deficit on Sefton’s element of the 
Fund reducing dramatically compared to previous years.  The saving to the Council 
was £6.840m across the three years, with £0.600m relating to 2022/23.

4.11 In addition, the Merseyside Pension Fund offered the Council the opportunity to 
prepay (in April 2020) a proportion of the total expected contributions for the three-
year valuation period at a discount.  After allowing for borrowing costs, the estimated 
net saving will be £1.300m in 2022/23 only.  

Crosby Lakeside Adventure Centre
4.12 The Crosby Lakeside Redevelopment Project is to provide a sustainable future for, 

and to optimise the benefits from, the Centre.  Once operational, the Council will no 
longer be required to provide a subsidy.  This saved £0.110m in 2021/22 and will 
save a further £0.100m in 2022/23. 

Council Tax / Business Rates Income
4.13 The 2021/22 Budget Report outlined the impact on the 2021/22 budget of expected 

reductions in Council Tax and Business Rates, both during 2020/21 and 2021/22.  
If the forecast reduction in receipts relating to 2021/22 were to continue into 2022/23 
then this would require £6.600m of savings to be found to compensate (£3.600m 
for Council Tax and £3.000m for Business Rates), assuming no additional 
government support would be made available to offset these losses. However, there 
is major uncertainty about how much of this impact will be temporary and what might 
be a more permanent ongoing reduction in receipts from both sources of income.  

Initial MTFP Position 2022/23 to 2024/25

4.14 Based upon the revisions relating to MTFP assumptions it was initially estimated 
that the funding shortfall between 2022/23 and 2024/25 would be £26.600m, before 
any consideration of general government funding, existing service pressures and 
any other additional COVID-19 pressures.  In addition, it is before any Council Tax 
decisions are made and any additional service delivery options are considered.  A 
detailed analysis is shown below:

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£’m £’m £’m

Government Funding:
- Housing Benefit / Council Tax Admin Subsidy 0.050 0.050 0.050

0.050 0.050 0.050
Key MTFP updated assumptions:
- Provision for Pay Inflation 3.250 3.250 3.250
- Provision for Pension Increases 0.600 0.600 0.600
- Provision for Inflation on Contracts 0.100 0.100 0.100
- Assumed increase in Care Provider costs re. 

Adult Social Care
2.000 2.000 2.000

Page 153

Agenda Item 12



- Levy increases 0.700 0.700 0.700
6.650 6.650 6.650

Non-Recurring Items 0.200 0.200 0.200

Budget Changes:
- 2020 Local Government Pension Scheme 

Valuation
-0.600 0.000 0.000

- Prepayment of Pension Contributions -1.300 1.300 0.000
- Crosby Lakeside -0.100 0.000 0.000

-2.000 1.300 0.000

Revised MTFP Funding Gap 4.900 8.200 6.900

Council Tax / Business Rates – Potential Loss of 
Income

6.600 0.000 0.000

Initial MTFP Funding Gap – excluding Council 
Tax

11.500 8.200 6.900

Total Initial MTFP Funding Gap 26.600

Other MTFP Changes 2022/23 – 2024/25

Council Tax Base – additional properties
4.15 The Council Tax Base is set by Council in January each year.  It reflects changes, 

and forecast changes, in the number of properties and the value of exemptions and 
discounts.  For forecasting purposes, it has been assumed that there will be growth 
in the Tax Base for additional properties that would generate £0.700m in 2022/23 
and £0.500m in each of 2023/24 and 2024/25. 

Business Rates Losses
4.16 Business Rates collection rates reduced in 2020/21 due to COVID-19 and are 

expected to remain lower than normal in 2021/22.  In addition, at the time of the 
Budget Report there were significant numbers of appeals in 2020/21 due to 
restrictions being in place. It was estimated that based on the 2020/21 position that 
£3.000m of the Council’s income would be at risk as businesses no longer exist or 
cannot afford to pay business rates.  

4.17 However, central government have announced that appeals relating to the 
implications of COVID-19 won’t be allowed under amended regulations.  Therefore, 
it is forecast that the income now at risk is only £1.600m.  Therefore, the estimate 
of income at risk has been reduced by £1.400m.  It is currently assumed that this 
will be a permanent reduction in income for the period of the three-year Budget 
Plan, although this will continue to be reviewed. 

Council Tax losses
4.18 The Council Tax Base is set by Council in January each year.  Due to the impact of 

COVID-19 on the number of Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) claimants, the 
reduced collection rate and the slowdown in housing growth, there was been a 

Page 154

Agenda Item 12



significant reduction in the Base for 2021/22.  This reduced the Council Tax 
Requirement by approximately £3.600m. 

4.19 It is currently assumed that this reduced income will unwind across the three-year 
Budget Plan period as the number of CTRS cases reduces and collection rates 
increase to levels experienced before the pandemic.  Therefore, the Council Tax 
Base is forecast to result in increased income (excluding housing growth) of 
£1.600m in 2022/23 and £1.000m in each of 2023/24 and 2024/25.

Framework for Change 2020 – Demand Management Savings
4.20 The 2020/21 Budget Report presented to Council in February 2020 outlined the 

workstreams that would be established in order to review demand led budgets.  The 
Demand Management Programme is described in paragraphs 3.10 to 3.15.

4.21 From the initial work of the Adult Social Care workstream, savings of £3.300m were 
identified in 2020/21, which were built into the Base Budget for 2021/22.  The 
continuing work of the Adult Social Care workstream has identified further savings 
of £3.800m, which partly relates to the full year impact of previously implemented 
savings, as well as new savings that have been identified.  The currently identified 
savings include reassessments and reviews for all service types, including joint 
funded care, supported living arrangements and the development of single-handed 
care.  These savings are considered to be permanent at this stage, although will be 
phased in across two years, but will continue to be reviewed as part of the Demand 
Management Project.  

Pay Award 2021/22
4.22 When the 2021/22 Budget was set, the Spending Review 2020 had announced that 

there would be a pay freeze for the majority of areas in the public sector, including 
local government with only staff paid less than £24,000 receiving a pay award of at 
least £250.  The Council’s provision for pay inflation was therefore reduced 
accordingly.  However, the pay award offered to local government staff is currently 
1.75% but has yet to be finalised.  At this stage it is considered prudent to increase 
the provision back to the level previously included in the 2021/22 MTFP, pending 
finalisation of the pay award; this will add £2.650m to the budget in 2022/23.

Pay Award Provision
4.23 It is now considered that the provision for pay awards included in the original MTFP 

forecasts can be reduced for 2023/24 and 2024/25 given the level of forecast 
inflation and previous pay awards.  This reduces the provision by £0.650m in those 
two years of the Budget Plan. 

National Insurance Contributions Increase
4.24 In September 2021, the Government announced the introduction of a new Health 

and Social Care Levy of 1.25%, based on National Insurance Contributions, for both 
employees and employers.  They announced that this funding would be ringfenced 
for health and social care.  This will be introduced from April 2022 as an increase in 
National Insurance Contributions before being separated out as a new distinct Levy 
from April 2023.  The cost of this for Sefton as an employer is anticipated to be in 
the region of £1.250m.  The Government also announced that for the public sector, 
including local authorities, the impact would be neutral as funding would be 
provided. Therefore, the additional resources provided within the Local Government 
Finance Settlement for 2022/23 are to fund this increased cost, although no 

Page 155

Agenda Item 12



exemplification has been made to detail what additional funding has been provided 
for this additional spending pressure.

Net Council Tax / Business Rates Surplus 
4.25 The current forecast for the surplus that has been generated in 2021/22 is a net 

figure of £2.892m.  Given this is a one-off surplus that will be credited to the 
Council’s budget in 2022/23, this amount will be added to General Balances to 
ensure they are appropriate for an authority of Sefton’s size and risk profile.  This 
also enables the annual contribution, currently included in the base budget, to be 
taken from the budget to generate a permanent saving for the Council.  This is 
discussed further in the next section.

Contribution to General Fund Balances
4.26 The 2020/21 Budget Report highlighted that Council had maintained a relatively 

stable level of General Fund Balances in previous years, equating to 3.5% of the 
Council’s net revenue budget. However, the CIPFA resilience index had identified 
that Sefton had a level of General Fund Balances that placed it at a high level of 
risk in terms of financial stress.  From the CIPFA analysis it was suggested that a 
minimum reserves level of 5.0% would be appropriate for the Council, taking into 
account normal and local risks.  It was therefore considered prudent to increase 
balances so that they equated to 5.0% of the net revenue budget by 2022/23 – a 
strategy to increase reserves by £1.500m per year was therefore put in place.

4.27 The 2021/22 Robustness Report highlighted that there was a higher level of risk 
due to the uncertainties around the pandemic and its impact on the Council’s 
financial position.  Therefore, a revised position of 7% was proposed.  However, 
given some of these risks have now reduced, and some of the financial implications 
have been built into the updated MTFP, a revised position of 6.5% is now 
considered prudent.  This equates to about £15.6m. A range of £1.0m is advised 
around this figure so General Fund balances between £14.6m and £16.6m would 
be considered prudent.

4.28 The Council’s balances at the end of 2020/21 were £11.278m which is £2.794m 
more than forecast due an underspend in 2020/21. At the end of 2021/22, balances 
are forecast to be £12.778m including the budgeted increase of £1.500m. 
Paragraph 4.25 explains that the net Council Tax / Business Rates surplus declared 
for 2022/23 of £2.892m will also be added to General Balances.  This would 
therefore increase balances to £15.670m during 2022/23. General Balances will be 
in line with the level required to mitigate the risks that a Council of Sefton’s size 
faces.  Therefore, the planned contribution to balances of £1.500m in 2022/23 and 
future years would no longer be required and can be taken from the budget.

Contribution to School Closure Reserve
4.29 The 2020/21 base budget included a contribution of £0.750m to a reserve to fund 

potential deficits on schools that close or become academies. The contribution in 
2021/22 would have resulted in the reserve standing at £1.500m.  However, it was 
estimated that a maximum of £1.000m was considered prudent at that time so 
£0.500m was utilised to temporarily support the one-off budget pressures resulting 
from COVID-19.

4.30 The 2022/23 MTFP includes the contribution of £0.750m to the reserve.  This will 
result in the reserve standing at £1.750m at the end of 2022/23.  This is considered 

Page 156

Agenda Item 12



prudent given the risks the Council might face relating to potential deficits.  
Therefore, the planned contribution to balances of £0.750m in 2023/24 would no 
longer be required and can be taken from the budget.

Income from the Strand Shopping Centre
4.31 The 2021/22 Budget Report highlighted that since the purchase of the Strand, 

surplus income of over £1.000m had been raised which has been used to support 
the Council’s budget, and indeed the shopping centre had made a positive financial 
return each year.  However, due to the significant impact of COVID-19 on retail 
businesses it was expected that there would be a reduction in income in 2021/22 
as businesses close and others experience difficult trading conditions.  The forecast 
was that losses of £1.700m would be experienced in 2021/22, and this was the 
figure included in the Base Budget for 2021/22.  However, it was highlighted that 
this could be the subject of change depending on economic conditions, the timing 
of any further restrictions as a result of the pandemic and the resulting 
circumstances for individual tenants.  At this stage, this is still the current forecast 
for 2021/22.

4.32 The current business case forecasts that this income loss will reduce by £1.200m 
in 2022/23 but will increase again by £0.300m in 2023/24. As would be expected 
these figures will be the subject of change and updates will be provided to Cabinet 
when required.

Sandway Homes Dividend – Phase One
4.33 The current Business Case for Sandway Homes forecasts that there will be a 

surplus of £1.350m once Phase One of its development programme has been 
completed.  This was reported to Cabinet in October 2021.  Therefore, a dividend 
of £1.350m will be paid to the Council on completion of Phase One, expected to be 
received in 2024/25.  In addition, the report noted that the peak debt of the company 
was forecast to be £8.3m at the end of 2021/22 but this would reduce to £3.7m by 
the end of 2022/23.

Glass Recycling Saving
4.34 The budget approved for 2020/21 included additional investment on a number of 

initiatives relating to the Cleansing Service.  An element of this investment was to 
have been funded from the net savings that would be achieved by the introduction 
of a separate glass recycling collection.  As there are potential legislative changes 
relating to recycling, this proposal has yet to be progressed.  It is therefore 
considered prudent to take the net saving from the budget pending clarity on any 
legislative changes; this will add £0.240m to the budget.

Framework for Change 2020 – Council of 2023 Savings
4.35 The Council had identified savings of £0.890m which could be achieved through 

new ways of working.  This included reviewing ICT contracts in areas such as 
telephony, bulk printing and mail, as well as reviewing office accommodation to take 
further advantage of remote / agile working that will support the delivery of the core 
service, the health and wellbeing of staff and climate emergency agenda.

4.36 These savings were built into the 2021/22 Base Budget to offset the temporary costs 
relating to the pandemic.  The savings can now be built into the 2022/23 budget to 
support the Council’s ongoing position.

Page 157

Agenda Item 12



Revised MTFP Position 2022/23 to 2024/25

4.37 Based upon the revisions relating  to updated MTFP assumptions it is now 
estimated that the funding shortfall between 2022/23 and 2024/25 will be £13.550m, 
before any Council Tax decisions are made, any funding changes and any 
additional service delivery options are considered.  A detailed analysis is shown 
below:

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£’m £’m £’m

Initial MTFP Funding Gap – excluding Council 
Tax

11.500 8.200 6.900

Other MTFP Changes:
- Council Tax Base – additional properties -0.700 -0.500 -0.500
- Business Rates Losses -1.400 0.000 0.000
- Council Tax losses -1.600 -1.000 -1.000
- Demand Management Savings -2.800 -1.000 0.000
- Pay Award 2021/22 2.650 0.000 0.000
- Pay Award Provision 0.000 -0.650 -0.650
- National Insurance Contributions Increase 1.250 0.000 0.000
- Contribution to General Fund Balances -1.500 0.000 0.000
- Contribution to School Closure Reserve 0.000 -0.750 0.000
- Income from the Strand Shopping Centre -1.200 0.300 0.000
- Sandway Homes Dividend – Phase One 0.000 0.000 -1.350
- Glass Recycling saving 0.240 0.000 0.000
- Council of 2023 Savings -0.890 0.000 0.000

-5.950 -3.600 -3.500

Revised MTFP Funding Gap 5.550 4.600 3.400

Total Revised MTFP Funding Gap 13.550

5. Local Government Finance Settlement 2022/23 and Spending Review 2021

5.1 In approaching and updating the Council’s MTFP, a key component each year is 
the financial settlement that is made by the Secretary of State.  In reviewing this, 
there are three areas that the Council is particularly interested in, namely:

 Confirmation or otherwise of the level of financial support that will be received 
by the Council.

 To what extent any solutions are offered by central government to specific 
issues that affect not only Sefton but all local authorities e.g. funding for the 
increased costs associated with Adults and Children’s Social Care; and,

 What opportunities are available to local authorities to raise additional income. 

5.2 The Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement for 2022/23 was announced 
on 16 December 2021. This confirmed, and provided more detail on, a number of 

Page 158

Agenda Item 12



funding announcements made in the 2021 Comprehensive Spending Review 
announced on 27 October 2021, and these are detailed from paragraph 5.4. 

5.3 As previously mentioned, this Settlement is for one year only, and as such makes 
it difficult to forecast the funding the Council is likely to receive in 2023/24 to 
2024/25.  However, it should be noted that the overall funding for local government 
included in the Comprehensive Spending Review, excluding the new burdens 
funding for Adult Social Care Reform and potential increases in Council Tax income, 
showed no increase in 2023/24 and 2024/25.  Therefore, all of the additional funding 
for local government overall for the CSR period has been provided in 2022/23. 

Social Care Grant
5.4 In 2021/22, the Government provided £1,710m of Social Care Grant funding which 

was distributed using the Adult Social Care Relative Needs Formula. Sefton’s 
allocation was £11.820m. As outlined in paragraph 2.6, it was unknown whether 
this represented short-term additional funding. The Settlement has confirmed that 
this funding would continue to be paid in 2022/23.

5.5 The Settlement also announced that an additional £636.4m of Social Care Grant 
would be paid to local authorities in 2022/23.  Of this, the Government proposes to 
distribute £556.4m using the Adult Social Care Relative Needs Formula, with the 
remaining £80m being distributed on a different basis aimed at providing more 
funding to those authorities with lower council tax bases who cannot raise as much 
through the Adult Social Care Precept.  Sefton’s allocation is £4.265m.

5.6 In addition, local authorities have been given the power raise Council Tax by a 
further 1% on top of the core principle as an Adult Social Care Precept.  The 
Government expect that local authorities will use this power in full, having 
announced that this will raise a further £300m nationally as part of the £1bn funding 
announced as being available for social care.  This is discussed further in section 
10.

Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care Fund
5.7 As part of the Government’s plan for health and social care, published on 7 

September 2021, it was announced that £5.4bn would be made available over the 
Spending Review period for Adult Social Care.  

5.8 The 2021 Spending Review confirmed that £3.6bn of this will be routed through 
local authorities in order to “implement the charging reforms and support local 
authorities to better sustain their local care market by moving towards a fairer cost 
for care”. This is made up of £0.2bn in 2022/23, £1.4bn in 2023/24 and £2.0bn in 
2024/25.

5.9 The Settlement announced that the initial £162m in 2022/23 would be made 
available to local authorities as an allocation of a new Market Sustainability and Fair 
Cost of Care Fund. The funding should be used to conduct a cost of care exercise, 
engage with local providers to better understand reform on the local market and 
strengthen capacity for greater market oversight and improved market management 
as well as increasing fee rates according to local circumstances.   Sefton’s allocation 
is £1.029m.  It is proposed to allocate this funding directly for these purposes in line 
with Government guidelines (see paragraph 6.6).

Page 159

Agenda Item 12



5.10 The Government has announced that this funding will increase to £600m in 2023/24 
and 2024/25 and that they will work closely with local government to determine 
appropriate grant conditions, national guidance and distribution mechanisms for 
funding allocations.  Allocations of this further government funding will be based on 
councils evidencing that work has been undertaken, including market engagement, 
and submissions are required to be sent to Central Government by September 
2022.  This funding is therefore being treated as one-off until such time as additional 
information is made available.

5.11 Based on the figures announced in the Spending Review, this would therefore mean 
that an additional £800m would be available in 2023/24 to support the charging 
reforms announced in September 2021, which would increase to £1.4bn in 2024/25.  
No additional information has been given on the allocations of these for local 
authorities, however some commentators have suggested that the funding may not 
be sufficient to fund the potential increases in costs.

Services Grant
5.12 The Settlement provided details of a new Services Grant, worth £822m nationally, 

is to be paid in 2022/23 to local authorities and which is being distributed based on 
the 2013/14 shares of the Settlement Funding Assessment. The grant includes 
funding to cover the cost of increased employer national insurance contributions 
resulting from the health and social care levy which are ongoing. Sefton’s allocation 
of the grant is £4.477m.

5.13 The Government have announced that this is effectively a one-off grant to individual 
local authorities, although the overall funding will still be available to local 
government per the Spending Review.  However, the grant will be excluded from 
any transitional protection arrangements in future years arising as a result of the 
Review of Relative Needs and Resources so the Council may receive a lower level 
of funding.  It is proposed to treat this grant as ongoing and consider the impact of 
the Review of Relative Needs and Resources separately (see paragraph 5.18).

Public Health Grant
5.14 The Spending Review announced that funding for Public Health through the Public 

Health Grant would be maintained in real terms.  However, no additional information 
has been received as to what additional funding will be made available.  It is 
proposed that any increase in the 2022/23 allocation should continue to be allocated 
to the Public Health budget.

Lower Tier Services Grant
5.15 The Government announced a new unringfenced Lower Tier Services Grant in 

2021/22, which allocated £111m to local authorities with responsibility for lower tier 
services (for example, homelessness, planning, recycling and refuse collection, and 
leisure services).  Sefton’s allocation was £0.430m.  This grant has continued into 
2022/23 with Sefton’s allocation increasing slightly by £0.023m.

New Homes Bonus
5.16 The Government will continue to make payments of New Homes Bonus in 2022/23.  

However, as expected, the main grant allocations for 2021/22 will not continue and 
the allocations relating to 2018/19 have now dropped out.  However, Sefton 
achieved the Government’s threshold for main payments for 2022/23 and will 
receive £0.735m relating to that year. However, this payment is for one year only.  

Page 160

Agenda Item 12



In addition, the 2019/20 legacy payment will also drop out from 2023/24.  It is 
currently estimated that only a small amount of New Homes Bonus will be received 
in 2023/24 and 2024/25 relating to affordable housing.  Therefore, Sefton’s 
allocation will increase by £0.639m in 2022/23 but is estimated to reduce by 
£0.750m in 2023/24.    However, should the scheme not change, and Sefton again 
achieve the baseline target, then additional New Homes Bonus may be received.

Settlement Funding Assessment / Business Rates Baseline 
5.17 To support businesses in the near-term, the government has decided to freeze the 

business rates multiplier in 2022/23. Local authorities will be fully compensated for 
this decision through additional Section 31 Grant. It is estimated that this will result 
in £3.253m of additional funding in 2022/23.  In addition, the government 
announced that the Revenue Support Grant and Improved Better Care Fund will 
increase by in line with inflation which will result in an increase in the Council’s Top-
Up Grant of £0.836m in 2022/23.

Review of Relative Needs and Resources
5.18 As mentioned earlier, the Government is committed to reviewing the allocation of 

funding available to local authorities through the Review of Relative Needs and 
Resources. When announcing the Provisional Settlement, the Secretary of State for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities stated that “Government is committed to 
ensuring that funding allocations for councils are based on an up-to-date 
assessment of their needs and resources” and “ Over the coming months, we will 
work closely with the sector and other stakeholders to update this and to look at the 
challenges and opportunities facing the sector before consulting on any potential 
changes”. Therefore, it is assumed that the Review of Relative Needs and 
Resources will be completed in time to be used in allocating funding for 2023/24 
onwards.

5.19 The Government also said that as part of the consultation they would look at options 
to support local authorities through transitional protection.  Previously this has 
meant that any changes in funding have been phased in across a number of years.  
However, as mentioned above, the Services Grant won’t be included in any 
transitional protection arrangements which potentially gives the opportunity to 
phase in changes more quickly.

5.20 As previously mentioned, Sefton’s relative decline in population is likely to have a 
negative impact on the Council’s overall funding position as part of the Review of 
Relative Needs and Resources.  However, the exact impact is unknown as it will 
depend on the transitional arrangements put in place to protect those local 
authorities who would see a reduction in funding (the Local Government Association 
has argued that no council should see a reduction in its funding as a result of the 
changes).  As mentioned in paragraph 5.3, the Spending Review indicates that, 
apart from funding for Adult Social Care Reform and additional income from Council 
Tax, there won’t be any increases in funding for local government in 2023/24 or 
2024/25.  Without additional funding for local government some local authorities will 
therefore see reductions in their funding.

5.21 However, the outcome is even more complex due to the differential impact austerity 
had on individual local authorities.  Those local authorities that had received the 
most Government funding received the largest reductions in spending power whilst 
those who could raise more Council Tax income were less impacted.  Therefore, 

Page 161

Agenda Item 12



the link between need and funding diverged, particularly in the early years of 
austerity, with the total spending power of two similar authorities now very different.  
This should also have an impact on the outcome of the Review and the funding 
being allocated.   When announcing that 75% Business Rates Retention would no 
longer be proceeding, the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities stated “You have a situation where those local authorities that have 
the most resilient council tax base and also the highest portion of business rates 
are, relatively speaking, in a stronger position…”.  

5.22 At this stage it is considered prudent to assume that the Review will result in a 
reduction in funding for Sefton, and that this will be £1.000m in each of 2023/24 and 
2024/25.  This assumption will be revised in light of any information received as part 
of the consultation, with Members being informed immediately, although the exact 
details may not be known until the Settlement is announced for 2023/24 in 
December 2022.

Business Rates Retention:
5.23 Sefton’s Business Rates baseline was last set in 2013/14. Sefton’s retained rates 

income is forecast to be above its funding baseline for 2021/22, so the Council is 
expecting to achieve a gain from Business Rate retention. As part of the Liverpool 
City Region 100% Business Rates Pilot Agreement the Council has retained a 99% 
share of growth in Business Rates since April 2017.

5.24 As part of the Review of Relative Needs and Resources, the Business Rates 
baseline will be re-assessed and changed.  Therefore, the benefit of these gains is 
expected to be lost going forward. As stated above, it is assumed that this will take 
place in 2023/24.  It is estimated that this reassessment could see the Council’s 
funding reduce by £1.000m in 2023/24, although any implications might be 
complicated by the outcome of the Review.

5.25 Also, as mentioned previously, nationally the proportion of Business Rates retained 
by local authorities will now remain at 50%.  It is expected that pilot authorities will 
also move to 50% retention so a lower proportion (49%) of any future growth will be 
retained by the Council.

Other Implications for 2023/24 and 2024/25
5.26 As mentioned earlier, overall funding for local government included in the 

Comprehensive Spending Review, excluding the new burdens funding for Adult 
Social Care Reform and potential increases in Council Tax income, showed no 
increase in 2023/24 and 2024/25.  Additional funding for Adult Social Care Reform  
is expected to be matched by additional costs relating to the new burdens 
introduced.  

5.27 The Spending Review assumed that the Council Tax limits would be 2% for the 
Core increase with an additional 1% for the Adult Social Care Precept in each of 
2023/24 and 2024/25.  The Institute for Fiscal Studies have commented that without 
additional grant funding in those years the Government may need to revisit this to 
maintain current service levels, particularly within social care.

5.28 It should be noted that a 1% Adult Social Care Precept would generate about 
£1.400m, which is less than the amount currently assumed in 2023/24 and 2024/25 
for provider fee increases. In addition, the Budget Plan for 2023/24 and 2024/25 

Page 162

Agenda Item 12



assumes no further increase in Children’s Social Care costs.  Any further pressure 
in these areas would therefore require the Council to make corresponding savings 
in those years or additional funding being made available.

5.29 A summary of the estimated grant changes is shown below:

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£’m £’m £’m

Government Funding:
- Social Care Grant -4.265 0.000 0.000
- Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care 

Fund
-1.029 1.029 0.000

- Services Grant -4.477 0.000 0.000
- Public Health Grant 0.000 0.000 0.000
- Lower Tier Services Grant -0.023 0.000 0.000
- New Homes Bonus -0.639 0.750 0.000
- Settlement Funding Assessment / Business 

Rates Baseline
-4.089 0.000 0.000

- Review of Relative Needs and Resources 0.000 1.000 1.000
- Business Rates Retention 0.000 1.000 0.000

-14.522 3.779 1.000

6. MTFP Changes – Growth Items

6.1 The following additional growth items are proposed to offset ongoing budget 
pressures as well as investment in key Council services:

Children’s Social Care
6.2 At the Cabinet meeting in September 2021, Members received a report that outlined 

the proposed additions to the workforce that would be required within Children’s 
Social Care service - this investment would help meet the requirements of the 
service both as a result of increased demand but also to support service 
development.  

6.3 Members will be aware that when demand pressure occurs in year that needs to be 
met, the Council has always reported this as it occurs in its budget monitoring 
reports and then included the future years’ impact in its Medium-Term Financial 
Plan that in turn is reflected in the final budget report that is considered by full 
Council. 

6.4 The £2m of staffing that is required to address the issues in Children’s Social Care 
will follow the same route as this resource is required to meet the increased demand 
in the service during this year.  As a result, the Medium-Term Financial Plan 
approved by Council in 2021 and now updated includes the impact of this in future 
years together with further growth in respect of placements and packages, bringing 
the future year budget requirement to £4.300m.  At this stage the Budget Plan 
doesn’t assume any further increase in the cost of the Service beyond 2022/23, 
indeed following the Spending Review there is no additional funding for this either. 
However, this service is under significant pressures and the Council will need to 

Page 163

Agenda Item 12



closely monitor expenditure, assess risks and take mitigating actions to address any 
risk to the service. This would be reported through the normal processes.

Adult Social Care
6.5 The CSR announced that the National Living Wage will increase by 6.6% from April 

2022.  In addition, there will be the increases in National Insurance contributions to 
fund Health and Social Care, announced by the Government in September. It is 
expected that the announcements will create significant additional burdens on Adult 
Social Care Providers in 2022/23.  It is therefore considered prudent to include an 
additional £3.500m in 2022/23 for the potential impact of increased fees from 
providers. As previously reported, there is no additional funding for either Adults or 
Children’s Social care beyond 2022/23, with government providing only the ability 
for councils to raise Council Tax by 1% in each year to support Adult Social Care.  
As such within this Medium Term Financial Plan,  it is currently assumed that the 
existing MTFP provision will be sufficient in 2023/24 and 2024/25 to support Adult 
Social Care providers, as this reflects in full the central government funding that is 
being made available plus an additional contribution from the Council, this providing 
for an affordability envelope of £2m in each year.  This will need to be evaluated in 
light of future increases in the National Living Wage, and a strategy for potential 
increased costs may need to be considered. In the absence of further government 
funding is increases are beyond this £2.000m sum then corresponding savings will 
need to be made by the Council.

Adult Social Care Reform - Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care
6.6 As mentioned in paragraph 5.9, the Council is due to receive £1.029m in 2022/23 

to fund the initial costs of the Adult Social Care Reform programme.  In accordance 
with the guidance received from the Government, the funding will be used to 
conduct a cost of care exercise, engage with local providers to better understand 
reform on the local market and strengthen capacity for greater market oversight and 
improved market management as well as increasing fee rates according to local 
circumstances.  Of this, £0.400m will be made available to fund the work required 
relating to the local market with the remainder allocated to support increasing fee 
rates according to local circumstances. It should be noted that this additional 
funding is currently being treated as one-off, although increased funding should be 
available in 2023/24 and 2024/25 when the Council meets the associated grant 
conditions.

Procurement Team
6.7 Procurement activity is a key element of securing quality, social value and value for 

money through the Council’s activities, as well as supporting innovative, 
sustainable, efficient services achieving better outcomes for local people.  Given 
the updated National Procurement Policy Statement  and the scale and scope of 
work within the Council’s Framework for Change there is a need to invest in and 
strengthen procurement resources to deliver approved activity.  It is therefore 
proposed to restructure the Procurement Team to meet this need, at an additional 
cost of £0.300m from 2022/23.

Education Excellence Team
6.8 The Head of Education Excellence in conjunction with the Director of Children’s 

Services and Education considered the working structure and reporting lines within 
the current Education Excellence area.  This also considered how other areas within 
the Authority work on Education and Early Years related matters. All services apart 

Page 164

Agenda Item 12



from SEND, which has already undertaken a review of provision, will be impacted 
by the creation and realignment of posts, creating a more efficient department to 
support and challenge schools and carry out its statutory functions.

6.9 A report outlining the changes was recently approved by the Cabinet Member for 
Education and the Cabinet Member for Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services.  Whilst the overall structure was approved it was also agreed that only 
posts that could be funded from the 2021/22 budget would be appointed to.  The 
appointment to the other posts within the structure would only be made if it was 
agreed as part of the 2022/23 budget.  The costs of these posts total £0.250m.

ICT Contract Inflation
6.10 The cost of the Council’s major ICT systems has increased significantly in recent 

years and cannot be contained within existing budgets.  This unavoidable cost will 
increase the budget by £0.180m in 2022/23.  

Replacement Play Equipment / Neighbourhood Officers / Ward Budgets.
6.11 The Council is committed to ensuring that Sefton remains an attractive place to live, 

work and visit.  It will therefore invest £0.200m each year in replacing play 
equipment across the Borough, provide funding for two new Neighbourhood Officer 
posts, as well as allocating a total of £0.300m each year to individual wards for 
projects that will enhance the environment within those wards, including funding for 
an additional Neighbourhood Officer post to coordinate the projects.

Coastal Gateway Visitor Action Plan
6.12 Following the implementation of the Action Plan in 2020 and 2021, the Council will 

invest a further £0.300m in continuing with the activities within the plan in future 
years, as well as increasing staffing resources within the Green Sefton service to 
enhance the service provided along Sefton’s coast.  

Growth Funded from One-off New Homes Bonus
6.13 As mentioned in paragraph 5.16, the Council will receive additional New Homes 

Bonus in 2022/23 only.  Due to the unexpected and one-off nature of this receipt, 
this will be reserved, with the use to be determined during the year.  The approval 
of any use of this funding will be in accordance with the Council’s Financial 
Procedure Rules.

Revenue One-off funding for 2022/23
6.14 As a result of the grant allocations from government being focussed on 2022/23, 

with no further grant being received in 2023/24 or 2024/25, a one-off revenue sum 
of £2.229m will be reserved in 2022/23, with its use to be determined due to the 
volatility that exists within both the Council’s existing budget and any new or 
emerging pressures across a number of revenue and capital budgets.  As part of 
this allocation, consideration will be given to the development and evaluation of a 
business case to determine if the Council has any existing properties that could be 
used to support homeless families. The approval of any use of this funding will be 
in accordance with Financial Procedure Rules. 

Page 165

Agenda Item 12



7. Summary MTFP Position 2022/23 to 2024/25 including Growth

7.1 Based upon the potential budget options, additions and funding it is now estimated 
that the funding shortfall between 2022/23 and 2024/25 will be £13.197m, before 
any Council Tax decisions are made, and any further service delivery options are 
considered.  A detailed analysis is shown below:

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25
£’m £’m £’m

Revised MTFP Funding Gap – excluding 
Council Tax

5.550 4.600 3.400

Local Government Finance Settlement -14.522 3.779 1.000

Proposed Growth Items:
- Children’s Social Care 4.300 0.000 0.000
- Adult Social Care 3.500 0.000 0.000
- ASC Reform 1.029 -1.029 0.000
- Procurement Team 0.300 0.000 0.000
- Education Excellence Team 0.250 0.000 0.000
- ICT Contract Inflation 0.180 0.000 0.000
- Replacement Play Equipment 0.200 0.000 0.000
- Ward Budgets 0.300 0.000 0.000
- Neighbourhood Officers 0.060 0.000 0.000
- Coast Gateway Visitor Action Plan 0.300 0.000 0.000
- Growth Funded from One-Off New Homes 

Bonus
0.639 -0.639 0.000

- Revenue One-off funding for 2022/23 2.229 -2.229 0.000
13.287 -3.897 0.000

Revised MTFP Funding Gap 4.315 4.482 4.400

Total MTFP Funding Gap 13.197

8. Ongoing Financial Impact of COVID-19

7.1 There are also other uncertainties around the impact of COVID-19 on the Council’s 
financial position going forward:

Sales, Fees and Charges Income
7.2 There has been a significant impact on income from sales, fees and charges for a 

range of services during both 2020/21 and 2021/22. Whilst some income streams 
have recovered as restrictions have eased over time, others are expected to remain 
impacted whilst measures are still in place for social distancing, etc.  It is currently 
forecast that this could result in a loss of income of between £1.000m and £1.500m 
during 2022/23, reducing further in the following years, before potentially returning 
to normal from 2025/26.  This forecast will be reviewed as there is more experience 
of the impact on reopened facilities.  It is assumed that as these losses are 

Page 166

Agenda Item 12



considered temporary, they will be funded from one-off resources received for 
COVID related pressures.

Waste Disposal Costs
7.3 The costs incurred by the Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority have 

increased in 2021/22 to reflect the increased cost of disposing of household waste 
due to the impact of people working, holidaying and shopping from home. These 
additional costs have been funded from one-off resources received for COVID 
related pressures.  It is currently forecast that the ongoing impact of these 
behaviours could result in an additional cost of up to £0.400m during 2022/23, 
reducing in the following years, returning to normal from 2025/26.  This forecast will 
be reviewed as there is more experience of the impact on costs.  It is assumed that 
as these costs are considered temporary, they will also be funded from one-off 
resources received for COVID related pressures.

9. Additional Funding

Council Tax Increases
9.1 The Comprehensive Spending Review assumed a 2% Core Referendum Principle 

for illustrative purposes for all years of the CSR period. The Government, as part of 
the Local Government Finance Settlement, has confirmed the Council Tax 
Referendum Principle of 2% for 2022/23. A 1.99% increase for Sefton (to ensure 
the Council wouldn’t breach the principle) would generate £2.872m in 2022/23.

9.2 As mentioned in paragraph 4.1, local authorities have been given the power to raise 
Council Tax by a further 1% on top of the core principle as an Adult Social Care 
Precept.  This would generate an additional £1.443m in 2022/23. The 
Comprehensive Spending Review assumed that an Adult Social Care Precept of 
1%, for illustrative purposes, would be allowed for the last two years of the CSR 
period.

9.3 Decisions on the Core Referendum Principle and the Adult Social Care Precept for 
2023/24 and 2024/25 will be announced as part of the Local Government Finance 
Settlement in the December prior to the financial year.

9.4 A decision on the level of Council Tax is made by Budget Council each year.  The 
2021/22 Band C Council Tax is £1,524.02.  It should be noted that as part of the 
Settlement the Government assumes local authorities will raise Council Tax by the 
maximum amount when calculating an individual authority’s Spending Power and 
this will directly influence future years funding allocations. 

10. Budget 2022/23 – Specific Issues

Charges Relating to External / Levying Bodies
10.1 The Council is required to pay charges relating to levies from external bodies. The 

expected payments for 2022/23 and their impact on Sefton’s budget compared to 
2021/22 is shown in the table below: -  

Page 167

Agenda Item 12



Levying Body 2021/22 2022/23 Change
£ £ £

Liverpool City Region (LCR) 
Combined Authority - 
Transport Levy

18,828,000 TBC TBC

Waste Disposal Authority 15,510,816 TBC TBC
Environment Agency 159,789 TBC TBC
Inshore Fisheries & 
Conservation Authority

69,418 TBC TBC

Port Health Authority 94,500 TBC TBC
34,662,523 TBC TBC

The approved 2022/23 figures will be reported at Budget Council.

Proposed Overall Council Tax increase
10.2 The proposed total increase in the Sefton Council Tax for 2022/23 will be reported 

to Budget Council following any recommendation from Cabinet.

Fees and Charges
10.3 As per Financial Procedure Rules, approved by Council, any increases to fees and 

charges for services for the next financial year are approved by the respective 
Cabinet Member.  When decisions have been made, they will be published 
accordingly.

11. Dedicated Schools Grants (DSG) 2022/23

11.1 The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) is a ringfenced grant from the Department for 
Education (DfE) to fund education provision.  It is made up of four main funding 
blocks:

 Schools – Mainstream schools and Academies.
 Central School Services – Funding for centrally (Council) retained services, 

including school admissions.
 Early Years – Universal and additional entitlement for three and four-year olds; 

two-year old entitlement; and funding for maintained nursery schools; and
 High Needs – Funding for the education of pupils with an identified special 

educational need and who will often be subject to an Education, Health and Care 
Plan (EHCP).  

11.2 In September 2019, the Government announced three years of extra funding for 
Schools and High Needs worth £7.1bn.  This has been split across the years as 
follows: £2.6bn in 2020/21; £2.2bn in 2021/22 and £2.3bn in 2022/23.  In 2022/23 
the funding includes £780m of growth funding specifically allocated to High Needs, 
leaving £1.6bn for mainstream schools. The new three-year Government Spending 
Review was announced in October 2021, and funding for Schools and High Needs 
over the next three-year period includes an extra £1.6bn in 2022/23; with further 
increases of £1.5bn in 2023/24 and £1.5bn in 2024/25.  By 2024/25, the 
Government states that Schools and High Needs funding, will have risen by 
approximately £4.7bn overall over the three-year period. In addition, further Covid 
catch-up and Recovery Premium Grant has been promised over the next year, to 

Page 168

Agenda Item 12



help schools provide extra support for pupils, as part of a recovery plan after Covid. 
These are separate funding streams and not part of the Schools Formula.

11.3 The Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) announced in December 2021, 
that the extra £1.6bn for Schools and High Needs in 2022/23, would be given as a 
separate grant, until subsumed into the Schools and High Needs Formula from 
2023/24.

11.4 The split of this extra grant was formally announced in December 2021, with 
Schools, nationally, set to receive an extra £1.275bn of the funding; and High Needs 
to receive the balance of £0.325bn. However, some of this additional funding to 
schools is being given to fund the additional costs that will be incurred through the 
planned rise in Employers National Insurance Contributions from April 2022, as part 
of measures to provide additional funding to Social Care and the NHS through the 
Health and Social Care Levy, estimated at £0.4bn of the funding. Schools will also 
be expected to absorb any pay awards agreed in the year, from their funding 
allocations, with no further funding being made available for these.

11.5 Locally, the additional funding will add a further £1.478m to Sefton’s High Needs 
Block in 2022/23; and an indicative additional increase of about £5.489m to Sefton 
Schools. This latter amount is to be made available on an individual school basis 
only in the Spring 2022, by the ESFA.

11.6 Excluding the extra growth announced in the Spending Review above, the normal 
2022/23 Dedicated Schools Grant settlement was announced on 16 December 
2021.  The 2022/23 National DSG allocation for Sefton of £244.870m is set out in 
the table below.

Notional DSG 
Allocations 2022/23

DSG Funding 
2022/23 (£m)

Comments

Schools Block £186.935m NB Includes an allocation for Pupil 
Growth funding in 2022/23 of £1.289m 
and includes funding for Schools 
Business Rates of £1.253m, which from 
2022/23, will not be paid to schools 
directly, but paid by the ESFA to local 
authorities on their behalf.

Early Years Block £17.063m NB: Allocation based on Jan 2021 
headcount census numbers, which 
were lower than usual due to Covid. 
See paragraphs below.

High Needs Block £39.459m NB: This funding excludes any top 
slicing by the ESFA for funding towards 
Non-Maintained Special schools and 
Colleges of Further Education, which 
are paid directly by the ESFA (£0.738m) 

Central Schools 
Services Block

£1.413m

Total allocated DSG 
funding 2022/23

£244.870m 16 Dec 2021 – DfE Allocation Schedule

Page 169

Agenda Item 12



Schools Block

11.7 Sefton Schools Block will see a net increase in funding of £7.15m compared to 
2021/22.  This figure excludes the indicative additional funding to schools of 
£5.489m identified above and being given as a separate grant for 2022/23. It 
includes: 

 Minimum headroom growth of +2.76% funding per pupil through the new 
Formula Funding (£4.899m). 

 Additional Net funding of (£2.149m) after taking account of changes in pupil 
numbers between October 2020 and October 2021 (i.e. a net increase +363.5 
year on year).

 Uplifted calculation of funding for pupil class size growth based on changes to 
actual pupil numbers year on year (£0.102m).

11.8 The above funding increases will ensure that the minimum funding levels per pupil 
in 2022/23 will increase to £4,265 per Primary pupil (£4,180 in 2021/22) and £5,525 
per Secondary pupil (£5,415 in 2021/22). 

11.9 The DfE are committed to implementing a National Schools Funding Formula model 
(NFF) but making it mandatory has now been delayed until at least 2024/25. Sefton 
have already adopted the National Funding Formula methodology from this year’s  
budget setting process.  

11.10 The Minimum Funding Guarantee (MFG) has been set at +2% in 2022/23 which 
means that every school will see a minimum 2% increase per pupil compared to 
2021/22 per pupil values. 

School Deficit Balances

11.11 Sefton maintained primary schools have a forecast overall surplus balance at the 
end of 2021/22 of £10.0m. 

11.12 The six maintained secondary schools are forecast to have a combined 2021/22  
deficit balance of £0.5m.  Six schools and one Pupil Referral Unit are reporting 
deficit balances and are operating under a Licensed Deficit Budget in 2021/22, 
which is expected to continue into 2022/23.  Each school has a robust budget 
recovery plan which in the first instance must demonstrate how the annual budget 
will be brought back into balance as soon as possible and in future years how any 
accumulated deficit balance will be repaid to the Council.  Licensed deficit budgets 
must be signed off by the Council’s Section 151 Officer and Statutory Director of 
Children’s Services (DCS).  

Early Years Block

11.13 Early Years funding was announced in December 2021 and will be £17.063m in 
2022/23. However, this is expected to increase significantly during the Summer 
2022, when the DfE adjust the Early Years funding to Local Authorities, based on 
any increase/decrease in the census headcount as at January 2022, compared 
against the much reduced numbers of children in attendance as at January 2021, 
due to the Covid pandemic. 

Page 170

Agenda Item 12



11.14 As part of the Spending Review announced in October 2021, Early Years funding 
nationally, is to increase by £160m in 2022/23; £180m in 2023/24 and by a further 
£170m in 2024/25. As a result, in 2022/23, there is to be an increase to the National 
Hourly rates paid to Local Authorities of £0.21p per hour for Two-year-old provision 
and by £0.17p per hour for Three-Four-year-old entitlement. Sefton’s funded hourly 
rate is to be increased to £4.61 per hour (£4.44 in 2021/22) for Three-Four-year-old 
Childcare; and for Two-year-old Childcare, an increase to £5.59 per hour (£5.38 in 
2021/22). The base hourly rates payable to Sefton Providers will similarly be 
increased to £4.33p per hour (£4.16 per hour in 2021/22) for Three-Four-year-old 
entitlement and to £5.29 per hour (£5.08 per hour in 2021/22) for Two-year-old 
provision.
 
High Needs Block

11.15 Sefton’s High Needs funding allocation for 2022/23 has increased by £3.495m 
(+9.92% increase) compared to 2021/22. In addition, a further £1.478m is being 
allocated out of the extra funding announced in the October Spending Review 
although some of this funding is earmarked for the Governments increases to 
National Insurance contributions from April 2022 and also changes to utility costs in 
2022/23.

11.16 Sefton’s High Needs budget is facing severe cost pressure and is currently forecast 
to overspend by £3m in 2021/22, which would take the deficit balance on High 
Needs to around £10m by the end of 2021/22.  The 2014 SEND reforms, while 
rightly raising expectations and extending support from birth to 25 years, did not 
initially come with enough increases in funding to reflect the increased cohort and 
complexity of children and young people.  Funding increases in the last three years 
are therefore playing “catch up” with the increased levels of expenditure.  
Significantly, local authorities were never funded sufficiently to meet their expanded 
duties towards 19-25-year olds. 

11.17 Further budget pressures are expected over the next two years, as parts of the High 
Needs review, in respect of additional demand for SEND support, and the 
anticipated deficit against the High Needs Block is anticipated to rise to in excess 
of £13.8m by 31 March 2025. The significance of the growing deficit was reported 
to Cabinet in December 2021 and Council in January 2022 and the following table 
provides an overview of the financial position shared with Members.

Page 171

Agenda Item 12



2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 F’Cast F’Cast F’Cast

£'000 £'000 £'000 2022/23 
£’000

2023/24 
£’000

2024/25 
£’000

HN  Expenditure
Increase in spend compared to 
previous year  / forecast demand 1,390 1,485 3,002 2,101 2,317 3,429 2,400 2,400

Total HN  Expenditure 28,541 30,026 33,028 35,129 37,446 40,875 43,275 45,675

NET ESFA Funding - (9% uplift 
assumed from 2022/23) 26,062 26,448 27,278 31,290 34,577 37,857 41,264 44,978

Special/AP Teachers Pay & Pensions 
funding 0 0 0 0 649 649 649 649

Schools Block Funding Contribution 0 450 795 824 430 0 0 0

Early Years Block Contribution 0 200 200 200 0 0 0 0

Other grants e. 6th Form Grant 
(integrated with HN funding from 
2020/21)

650 650 264 0 0 0 0 0

Total HN Funding Allocation 26,712 27,748 28,537 32,314 35,656 38,506 41,913 45,627

In-Year (Surplus) / Deficit 1,829 2,278 4,491 2,815 1,790 2,369 1,362 48

Transfer of Early Years Balances -2,700

Balance Bfwd from Previous Year -464 1,365 3,643 5,434 8,249 10,039 12,408 13,770

Accumulative (Surplus) / Deficit 1,365 3,643 5,434 8,249 10,039 12,408 13,770 13,818

2020/21 
£’000

Aug 
2021/22 

£’000

11.18 The current funding model within the Council used to support High Needs 
placements has not been reviewed and placement costs have not been uplifted 
since 2013/14. The financial forecasts for the five in-house Special Schools indicate 
that they will all face significant financial hardship over the next three years unless 
the existing funding values are increased. This would lead to Special Schools 
having to make significant financial savings in spending commitments reducing the 
number of places they could provide for children with SEND, which in turn would 
mean more reliance in expensive Out of Borough placements for children, 
increasing the cost pressures facing the High Needs Block further.

11.19 Through the current High Needs review, a key feature was to develop a new funding 
model for High Needs placements that was transparent, right-sized Special School 
budgets and provided stability for in-house placements. This new funding model 
has been produced that addresses the key actions required within the review 
however the cost of implementing the new funding model would increase the 
projected High Needs Block deficit by up to £2m per annum. Council approved the 
uplift in funding to Special Schools and other SEND Resource Bases in Sefton and 
noted the impact that this will have on the forecast deficit on the High Needs Block 
in the medium term.

11.20 Council was asked to approve the uplift to High Needs placement costs in the High 
Needs report provided to Council in January 2022 by the Director of Children’s 
Social Care and Education. The report also recommended that Council agree that 
subsequent quarterly reports be provided to Cabinet and Council as required on the 
latest position with regards to the high needs budget and the development of further 
provision within the Borough and that work should commence on developing a 

Page 172

Agenda Item 12



financial reserve to mitigate against the risk exposure currently faced and that this 
be agreed with the Council’s External Auditor.

11.21 The Council have made representations to the DfE to be part of the Government’s 
High Needs ‘pressure valve’ safety mechanism in 2022/23, whereby, over an 
agreed 3-5-year timescale,  changes are put in place, to help balance the Council’s 
High Needs services. These actions will then be measured and assessed on a 
regular basis and may be met with the release of additional funding, which may be 
used to offset the high level of accumulated deficit balances. Officers will be meeting 
with the DfE in the new year, as well as the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities, to understand the strategic vision and the potential funding 
options for the deficit.

Central School Services Block

11.22 The Central School Services Block (CSSB) has funding of £1.413m in 2022/23 to 
cover ongoing historic costs and centrally retained DSG. The historic costs include 
the running of the Professional Development Centre; Grounds Maintenance and 
mothballing costs for former closed schools and centrally retained DSG services 
include Free School Meals checking; School Licences; School admissions; and 
former Education Services Grant (ESG) which funded the education statutory duties 
of the Local Authority.  

11.23 Since 2019/20, the funding to support historic costs is being reduced by 20% each 
year by the DfE and there is an expectation that local authorities will find alternative 
ways of funding these activities or cease providing such activities. An examination 
of these ‘historic’ costs is underway via a consultation with Schools over the ongoing 
support of the PDC and with the Council’s Estates services with regards to the 
closed schools maintenance, in a bid to find some alternative funding mechanisms 
going forward, as this element of DSG funding gradually diminishes. 

12. Other Government Grant Notifications and Other Funding 2022/23

12.1 The Government have announced grant notifications for 2022/23 in the areas 
identified below. In addition, the Council has received notification of additional 
funding for Children’s Social Care.  Should any further information be supplied on 
other grants, this will be included in a separate update to Cabinet / Council.

Independent Living Fund
12.2 The indicative allocation for the 2022/23 Independent Living Fund grant has yet to 

be announced.  The 2021/22 allocation was £2.107m. It is proposed that the 
2022/23 allocation will continue to be allocated to appropriate Adult Social Care 
budgets.

Homelessness Prevention Grant
12.3 The government announced a new grant to support homelessness in 2021/22, the 

Homelessness Prevention Grant.  This combined two grants previously received, 
the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant and the Homelessness Prevention Grant.  
The allocation for 2021/22 was initially £0.536m, although an additional one-off top-
up of £0.112m was provided later in the year to support local authorities to help 
vulnerable households with rent arrears to reduce the risk of them being evicted 

Page 173

Agenda Item 12



and becoming homeless.  The 2022/23 allocation has increased to £0.558m.  The 
increase is to meet the new burdens following the expansion of priority need to 
those who are homeless as a result of domestic abuse, which came into force in 
July 2021 following the Domestic Abuse Act 2021. It is proposed that the 2022/23 
allocation will continue to be allocated to appropriate Homelessness budgets.

Strengthening Families, Protecting Children Programme - Leeds Family Valued 
Model

12.4 Sefton have successfully had a bid confirmed by the DfE, to enter the DfE evaluated 
Strengthening Families, Protecting Children Programme for the implementation of 
the Leeds Family Valued Model, which is a strengthening families approach. This 
programme, which begins in the Spring 2022, lasts for two years and has funding 
attached. The DfE have confirmed that £2.900m has been approved initially with an 
additional allocation of £0.130m potentially being made available. The money is 
ringfenced to ensure development and embedding of this approach and is based 
upon invest to save activity. A Supplementary Estimate of up to £3.030m is 
therefore proposed across 2021/22 to 2023/24, fully funded from the allocation 
received.

13. Summary of Budget Proposals for 2022/23

13.1 As a result of the information contained within this report the bridging of the 2022/23 
funding gap is shown as follows:

2022/23
£’m

Revised MTFP Funding Gap 5.550

Local Government Finance Settlement -14.522

Potential Additions to the Budget 13.287

Revised MTFP Funding Gap – excluding Council Tax 4.315

Council Tax – Core increase (TBC%) TBC
Adult Social Care Precept (TBC%) TBC

A summary of the budget for 2022/23 is shown at Appendix B (note that for 
illustrative purposes this assumes a Council Tax increase of 2.99% in 2022/23).

14. Precepts 
 

a.  Police & Crime Commissioner and Fire & Rescue Authority Precepts 

The Police and Crime Commissioner is due to set a budget / precept for 2022/23 
on 22 February 2022.  The Fire and Rescue Authority is due to set its budget / 
precept for 2022/23 on 24 February 2022.

 

Page 174

Agenda Item 12



Precept Band C
2021/22 2022/23 Change 2021/22 2022/23 Change

£ £ £ £ £ %
Police 18,775,435 TBC TBC 201.75 TBC TBC

Fire 6,783,212 TBC TBC 72.89 TBC TBC

The approved 2022/23 figures will be reported at Budget Council.

b. LCR Mayoral Precept 

To be able to deliver the Mayor’s key priorities in 2022/23 a Mayoral Precept is 
levied on Council Taxpayers across the region, with no increase in the Band C 
charge approved at the Authority’s meeting on 21 January 2022. 

Precept Band C
2021/22 2022/23 Change 2021/22 2022/23 Change

£ £ £ £ £ %
Mayoral 1,571,720 TBC TBC 16.89 16.89 0.00

The approved 2022/23 figures will be reported at Budget Council.

c. Parishes 

The Parish precepts variations that have been set are shown below: 

Precept Band C
2021/22 2022/23 Change 2021/22 2022/23 Change

£ £ £ £ £ %
Aintree 
Village

153,200 TBC TBC 67.48 TBC TBC

Formby 89,747 TBC TBC 8.85 TBC TBC
Hightown 18,000 TBC TBC 18.71 TBC TBC
Ince Blundell 2,400 TBC TBC 12.85 TBC TBC
Little Altcar 3,259 TBC TBC 8.85 TBC TBC
Lydiate 174,302 TBC TBC 76.37 TBC TBC
Maghull 714,243 TBC TBC 94.79 TBC TBC
Melling 36,050 TBC TBC 31.13 TBC TBC
Sefton 10,000 TBC TBC 35.91 TBC TBC
Thornton 7,000 TBC TBC 8.10 TBC TBC

1,208,201 TBC

The approved 2022/23 figures will be reported at Budget Council.

Page 175

Agenda Item 12



15. Recommended Council Tax for 2021/22
 

Council are recommended to approve the Budget for 2022/23, as set out in the main 
report.
 
The recommended overall Band C Council Tax to be raised for 2022/23 (excluding 
Parish Precepts) is as follows: -

2021/22 2022/23 Increase
£ £ %

Sefton 1,524.02 TBC TBC
Police & Crime Commissioner 201.75 TBC TBC
Fire & Rescue Authority 72.89 TBC TBC
Mayoral Precept 16.89 TBC TBC

1,815.55 TBC TBC

The recommended Council Tax for 2022/23 will be reported to Budget 
Council

16. Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2024/25

16.1 Each year, Budget Council approves the detailed capital programme for the 
forthcoming year following notification from central government of any grant 
allocations that are to be received.  This is aside from any in year approvals in 
respect of the growth and strategic investment programme for which 
comprehensive business cases are provided as schemes are developed and 
funding sources are identified. The three  remaining significant grant allocations 
received by the Council are in respect of Adult Social Care, schools and transport.  
Due to the funding conditions, these grants will be utilised within the relevant 
services and these are shown at Appendix C, in addition to the proposed use of the 
Better Care Fund and all other schemes in the Capital Programme.

Supplementary Capital Estimate 2021/22
16.2 Council is recommended to approve a supplementary capital estimate of £29,378 

for 2021/22 funded from earmarked reserves, for the Burials and Cremations 
service to purchase an automatic coffin loader for Southport Crematorium. An 
automatic loader allows the loading of a coffin into the cremator in a safe and 
controlled manner, minimising the need for manual handling, and ensuring operator 
safety at all times. The loader will be provided by the Council’s maintenance supplier 
of the cremators and all associated equipment for this process at Southport 
crematorium. The market is a niche market, therefore,  for value for money and 
quality this route has been chosen for the purchase. By providing a better process 
of cremation will ensure the cremation service sustainability for the future.

Page 176

Agenda Item 12



17. Procurement of External Audit Services through the Public Sector Audit 
Appointments body

17.1 Since the abolition of the Audit Commission, Sefton has procured its external audit 
services by opting into the national arrangements undertaken by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Ltd (PSAA).  The most recent procurement awarded Sefton’s 
contract for 2018/19 to 2022/23 to Ernst & Young LLP.  It should be noted that the 
vast majority of local authorities procure external audit services through the PSAA.

17.2 The Local Government Association is encouraging all local authorities to use the 
national arrangements for the next five-year procurement that is due to start from 
2023/24.  They have circulated the following supporting information to local 
authorities to help inform their decision:

Information from the LGA for those charged with governance 
 

The process for retendering for external audit in local authorities in England, for 
contracts due to start from 2023/24, is now underway and shortly the council will 
need to decide whether to procure its own external auditor or opt into the national 
procurement framework.  

 
Legislation requires a resolution of Full Council if a local authority wishes to opt 
into the national arrangement.  The deadline for this decision is the 11th March 
2022. If the council doesn’t make such a decision, the legislation assumes that the 
council will procure its own external audit, with all the extra work and 
administration that comes with it. 
 
The national framework remains the best option councils can choose. There are 
many reasons for favouring the national arrangements and we think those 
reasons have become more compelling since 2016/17 when councils were last 
asked to make this choice.  
 
The way external audit has operated over the last couple of years has been 
extremely disappointing. A lack of capacity in the audit market has been 
exacerbated by increased requirements placed on external auditors by the audit 
regulator.  There is also a limited number of firms in the market and too few 
qualified auditors employed by those firms. This has led to a situation where many 
audits have been delayed and dozens of audit opinions remain outstanding from 
2019/20 and 2020/21. Auditors have also been asking for additional fees to pay 
for extra work. 
 
As the client in the contract, a council has little influence over what it is procuring.  
The nature and scope of the audit is determined by codes of practice and 
guidance and the regulation of the audit market is undertaken by a third party, 
currently the Financial Reporting Council.  Essentially. councils find themselves 
operating in what amounts to a suppliers’ market and the client’s interest is at risk 
of being ignored unless we act together. 
   
Everyone, even existing suppliers, agrees that the supply side of the market 
needs to be expanded, which includes encouraging bids from challenger firms. 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA), the body nominated by the 
Government to run the national arrangements, has suggested various ways this 

Page 177

Agenda Item 12



could be done, but these initiatives are much more likely to be successful if a large 
number councils sign up to the national scheme. 
 
It is therefore vital that councils coordinate their efforts to ensure that the client 
voice is heard loud and clear. The best way of doing this across the country is to 
sign up to the national arrangement.   
 
To summarise, the same arguments apply as at the time of the last procurement:
 A council procuring its own auditor or procuring through a joint arrangement 

means setting up an Audit Panel with an independent chair to oversee the 
procurement and running of the contract.  

 The procurement process is an administrative burden on council staff already 
struggling for capacity. Contract management is an ongoing burden. 

 Procuring through the appointing person (PSAA) makes it easier for councils to 
demonstrate independence of process. 

 Procuring for yourself provides no obvious benefits: 

o The service being procured is defined by statute and by accounting and 
auditing codes  

o Possible suppliers are limited to the small pool of registered firms with 
accredited Key Audit Partners (KAP).   

o Since the last procurement it is now more obvious than ever that we are 
in a ‘suppliers’ market’ in which the audit firms hold most of the levers.  

 PSAA has now built up considerable expertise and has been working hard to 
address the issue that have arisen with the contracts over the last couple of 
years: 

o PSAA has the experience of the first national contract. The Government’s 
selection of PSAA as the appointing person for a second cycle reflects 
MHCLG’s confidence in them as an organisation. 

o PSAA has commissioned high quality research to understand the nature 
of the audit market. 

o It has worked very closely with MHCLG to enable the government to 
consult on changes to the fees setting arrangements to deal better with 
variations at national and local level, hopefully resulting in more flexible 
and appropriate Regulations later this year. 

17.3 Officers have considered the views of the Local Government Association and agree 
that continuing with procuring external audit services through the national 
arrangements would be in the best interests of the Council.  Audit and Governance 
Committee on 15 December 2021 considered the LGA advice and noted the 
intention to seek approval from Budget Council on 3 March 2022 to procure external 
audit services through the Public Sector Audit Appointments body, without further 
comment.  Council is therefore asked to approve that the Council procure external 
audit services through the Public Sector Audit Appointments body for the period 
2023/24 to 2027/28.

Page 178

Agenda Item 12



List of Appendices

A Individual School Budgets 2022/23

B Draft Council Budget Summary 2022/23
 

C Capital Programme 2022/23 - 2024/25

Page 179

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

SCHOOLS FORMULA FUNDING ALLOCATIONS 2022/23
AFTER AGREED DE-DELEGATION OF FUNDING FROM MAINTAINED SCHOOLS

FIGURES EXCLUDE ANY SUPPLEMENTARY GRANT ARISING FROM THE AUTUMN STATEMENT BUDGET

WHICH WILL BE ANNOUNCED IN THE SPRING ON AN INDIVIDUAL SCHOOL BASIS AND PAID AS. 2022/23

A SEPARATE GRANT TO SCHOOLS IN 2022/23. £

TOTAL FORMULA FUNDING LEVELS - SCHOOLS 2022/23 184,570,413

PRIMARY PHASE - MAINTAINED SCHOOLS
Ainsdale St John's Church of England Primary School 956,907

Aintree Davenhill Primary School 1,799,296

All Saints Catholic Primary School 1,787,250

Bedford Primary School 1,898,290

Birkdale Primary School 1,730,254

Bishop David Sheppard Church of England Primary School 873,675

Christ Church Church of England Controlled Primary School 1,948,442

English Martyrs' Catholic Primary School 1,793,766

Farnborough Road Infant School 1,476,556

Farnborough Road Junior School 1,998,246

Forefield Community Infant and Nursery School 1,157,976

Forefield Junior School 1,510,802

Freshfield Primary School 976,682

Great Crosby Catholic Primary School 3,113,552

Green Park Primary School 892,128

Hatton Hill Primary School 1,763,050

Holy Family Catholic Primary School 898,739

Holy Rosary Catholic Primary School 1,790,756

Holy Spirit Catholic Primary School 962,722

Hudson Primary School 1,028,330

Kings Meadow Primary School and Early Years Education Centre 913,183

Lander Road Primary School 1,084,958

Larkfield Primary School 1,213,048

Linacre Primary School 928,434

Linaker Primary School 1,895,718

Lydiate Primary School 981,018

Marshside Primary School 792,933

Melling Primary School 944,312

Netherton Moss Primary School 1,090,604

Northway Primary School 1,324,432

Norwood Primary School 2,492,307

Our Lady of Compassion Catholic Primary School 909,064

Our Lady of Lourdes Catholic Primary School 1,927,324

Our Lady of Walsingham Catholic Primary School 993,711

Our Lady Queen of Peace Catholic Primary School 755,745

Our Lady Star of the Sea Catholic Primary School 1,044,976

Redgate Community Primary School 988,937

Rimrose Hope CofE Primary School 1,436,679

Springwell Park Community Primary School 1,970,425

St Benedict's Catholic Primary School 964,075

St Edmund's and St Thomas' Catholic Primary School 1,321,538

St Elizabeth's Catholic Primary School 1,920,550

St George's Catholic Primary School 873,037

St Gregory's Catholic Primary School 896,735

St Jerome's Catholic Primary School 831,351

St John Bosco Catholic Primary School 902,157

St John's Church of England Primary School 903,965

St John's Church of England Primary School 870,346

Page 181

Agenda Item 12



Appendix A

St Luke's Church of England Primary School 1,616,668

St Luke's Halsall Church of England Primary School 902,895

St Mary's Catholic Primary School 514,571

St Monica's Catholic Primary School 1,908,973

St Nicholas Church of England Primary School 879,322

St Oswald's Church of England Primary School 999,498

St Patrick's Catholic Primary School 1,477,025

St Philip's Church of England Controlled Primary School 973,881

St Philip's Church of England Primary School 905,284

St Robert Bellarmine Catholic Primary School 941,873

St Teresa's Catholic Infant and Nursery School 180,515

St William of York Catholic Primary School 1,019,087

Summerhill Primary School 895,758

The Grange Primary School 1,344,637

Thomas Gray Primary School 1,092,145

Trinity St Peter's CofE Primary School 876,453

Ursuline Catholic Primary School 1,744,136

Valewood Primary School 900,732

Waterloo Primary School 1,811,057

Woodlands Primary School 1,273,320

85,786,812

SECONDARY PHASE - MAINTAINED SCHOOLS
Christ The King Catholic High School and Sixth Form Centre 4,460,282

Holy Family Catholic High School 4,777,633

Maricourt Catholic High School 5,749,672

Meols Cop High School 5,393,493

Sacred Heart Catholic College 5,558,249

Savio Salesian College 2,936,480

28,875,809

PRIMARY ACADEMY SCHOOLS
Churchtown Primary School 3,111,561

Holy Trinity Church of England Primary School, Southport 1,028,215

Kew Woods Primary School 1,744,643

Litherland Moss Primary School 1,064,768

Shoreside Primary School 796,291

St Andrews Church of England Primary School, Maghull 1,184,138

St Thomas Church of England Primary School, Lydiate 899,915

9,829,530

SECONDARY ACADEMY/FREE SCHOOLS
Birkdale High School 4,831,934

Chesterfield High School 7,322,621

Deyes High School 6,375,850

Formby High School 5,060,900

Greenbank High School 5,685,225

Hillside High School 4,531,873

King's Leadership Academy Hawthornes 3,468,040

Litherland High School 4,251,568

Maghull High School 5,434,557

Range High School 5,127,200

St Michael's Church of England High School 3,747,691

Stanley High School 4,240,803

60,078,262

Page 182

Agenda Item 12



Appendix B
Council Budget Summary 2022/2023

Line Service Base Draft Base

Ref Budget Budget

2021/2022 2022/2023

£ £

1 Strategic Management 4,002,350 4,002,350

2 Adult Social Care 97,950,850 101,680,150

3 Children's Social Care 47,481,750 51,781,750

4 Communities 17,420,250 17,680,250

5 Corporate Resources 3,959,000 4,439,000

6 Economic Growth and Housing 6,463,600 6,463,600

7 Education Excellence 10,548,200 10,798,200

8 Health and Wellbeing 18,714,850 18,714,850

9 Highways and Public Protection 11,152,050 11,152,050

10 Operational In-House Services 13,740,600 14,480,600

11 Other Services 2,923,000 2,923,000

12 Net Cost of Services 234,356,500 244,115,800

13 Debt Repayment / Net Interest 8,676,800 8,605,800

14 Sub total 243,033,300 252,721,600

  

15 Levies 34,568,000 35,268,000

16 Application of Provisions / Reserves / Corporate Expenditure -23,655,500 -13,277,250

17 Capitalisation -1,566,000 -1,566,000

18 Corporate / One-Off Savings -833,550 -1,862,550

19 Inflationary Items to be Allocated 576,768 8,178,570

20 Corporate Savings to be allocated to Services 0 0

21 Total 252,123,018 279,462,370

22 Specific Government Grants -22,006,100 -22,006,100

23 Non-Specific Government Grants -40,851,579 -49,723,529

24 Total 189,265,339 207,732,741

P
age 183

A
genda Item

 12



Appendix B
Council Budget Summary 2022/2023

Line Service Base Draft Base

Ref Budget Budget

2021/2022 2022/2023

£ £

25 Increase in General Balances 1,500,000 2,892,000

26 Total Budget Requirement 190,765,339 210,624,741

 

27 Add Parish Precepts 1,208,201 1,208,201

28 Total Net Expenditure 191,973,540 211,832,942

SUMMARY OF GENERAL BALANCES

29 Balances Brought Forward 11,277,822 12,777,822

30 Increase in Balances 1,500,000 2,892,000

31 Balances Carried Forward 12,777,822 15,669,822

FINANCING OF SEFTON'S BUDGET REQUIREMENT

Total Budget Requirement 190,765,339 210,624,741

Less:  Revenue Support Grant 0 0

Top-Up Grant -21,314,934 -22,150,523

Business Rates Receipts -29,105,184 -38,148,773

Collection Fund Deficit / Surplus (-) - Council Tax 1,483,474 -1,699,036

Sefton Requirement from Council Tax 141,828,695 148,626,409

Band D Council Tax 1,714.52 1,765.78

Illustrative Council Tax Increase 4.99% 2.99%

Note that the Sefton Requirement from Council Tax and quoted Band D Council Tax in 2022/2023 is based on a 

Council Tax increase that is for illustrative purposes only.

P
age 184

A
genda Item

 12



Appendix C 

 

Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2024/25 

 

Capital Project 

Budget 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

£ £ £ 

Adult Social Care       

Core DFG Programme 120,144  -   -  

Wider Social Care Programme 4,305,902 1,623,750 860,000 

Communities       

Dunes Splashworld – Essential Repairs 292,704 81,470 - 

Libraries - Centres of Excellence 279,301  -   -  

S106 - Ford – Stanton Avenue One Way System - 9,000 - 

Corporate Resources       

Council Wide Essential Maintenance 1,749,000 - - 

STCC Essential Maintenance      50,000  -   -  

Victoria Baths Essential Works 80,000  -   -  

Green Homes Grant Local Delivery Scheme 860,000 - - 

Sustainable Warmth Scheme 2,890,000 - - 

Public Sector Reform 345,972  -   -  

Economic Growth & Housing       

The Strand Business Plan 590,000 135,000 - 

Cambridge Road Centre Development 72,171 - - 

Southport Market Redevelopment 20,039  -   -  

Marine Lake Events Centre 2,470,894 - - 

Enterprise Arcade 244,000 - - 

Strategic Acquisitions - Ainsdale 891,859  -   -  

Housing Investment 36,180  -   -  

Southport Pier Project  124,117   -   -  

Education Excellence       

Schools Programme 4,304,359 2,146,957 7,055 

Planned Maintenance 187,043 - - 

Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 455,142 - - 

Highways and Public Protection       

Street Lighting 3,742,035 3,605,580 3,854,630 

Transport Growth Programme 1,263,000 - - 

Highways Capitalisation 1,616,000 1,616,000 1,616,000 

Operational In-House Services       

Formby Strategic Flood Risk Management Prog. 43,851 - - 

Merseyside Groundwater Study 20,000   -   -  

Regional Coastal Monitoring Prog. 2022-2026 1,016,932 1,058,000 1,306,000 

Page 185

Agenda Item 12



Appendix C 

 
2022/23 

£ 
2023/24 

£ 
2024/25 

£ 

The Pool & Nile Watercourses 74,711  -   -  

Crosby Flood & Coastal Scheme 763,261      -       -  

Hall Road & Alt Training Bank - Rock Armour 45,775  -   -  

Surface Water Management Plan 59,245  -   -  

Parks Schemes 264,535  -   -  

Tree Planting Programme 146,552 19,769  19,769  

Golf Driving Range Developments 280,280  -   -  

Ainsdale Coastal Gateway 320,488 - - 

Green Sefton – Plant & Machinery 131,152 - - 

Vehicle Replacement Programme 1,736,762 113,000 - 

Wheeled Bins 765,000 - - 

TOTAL PROGRAMME 32,658,406 10,408,526 7,663,454 

 
Grant Allocations 2022/23 to 2024/25 
(indicative amounts) 
 

Capital Grant 

Block Allocation 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 

£ £ £ 

Adult Social Care       

Disable Facilities Grant 1 4,823,370 4,823,370 4,823,370 

Education Excellence       

Devolved Formula Capital (direct school allocation) 1 361,878 361,878 361,878 

Schools Condition Allocation 1 2,202,043 2,202,043 2,202,043 

Highways and Public Protection    

Highways Maintenance 2 5,515,000 5,515,000 5,515,000 

Traffic Signal Maintenance 3 250,000 - - 

TOTAL 13,152,291 12,902,291 12,902,291 

 
1. Indicative grant allocations based on amounts received in 2021/22. The actual allocations for 

2022/23 and future years are still to be confirmed by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities and Department for Education. A further report will be brought to Council to 
approve the actual block allocations once these have been confirmed. 

2. Provisional estimates of grant allocation for 2022/23. The actual allocations for 2022/23 and 
the future years Highways Maintenance programme are still to be agreed by the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority. A further report will be brought to Council to approve the actual 
block allocations once this has been confirmed. 

3. New funding allocation from Department for Transport. 

Page 186

Agenda Item 12



Report to: Cabinet 

Council

Date of Meeting: 3 February 2022

3 March 2022

Subject: Adoption of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
Strategy and Business Plan

Report of: Head of Operational 
In-House Services

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Cabinet Member - Health and Wellbeing

Is this a Key 
Decision:

Y Included in 
Forward Plan:

Yes 

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council as a 
Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of local 
flood risk. Under Section 9 of the FWMA, a LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, apply 
and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. The previous strategy expired at 
the end of 2021 and the new strategy, once approved, will be in place from 2022 to 2030. 
The strategy is also supported by a Business Plan which sets out the actions the Council 
will do as LLFA over the next 12 months and will be reviewed and updated on an annual 
basis, whilst also forming the basis for the FCERM team’s annual report to Overview and 
Scrutiny. 

Recommendation for Cabinet:

(1) Cabinet to recommend approval by Council of the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management Strategy and supporting Business Plan.

Recommendation for Council:

(1) Council approve the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy and 
supporting Business Plan.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

The Council needs to have an adopted Strategy as a requirement as a LLFA under the 
Flood and Water Management Act 2010. 

Page 187

Agenda Item 13



Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

If the Council does not have an up to date Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy in place it will fail in its duties as a LLFA under the Flood and 
Water Management Act 2010. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs 

There are no additional direct costs associated with this report.

Staff time and any associated costs to implement the strategy and Business Plan 
in its role as LLFA, and also as a Riparian Owner to undertake works to 
watercourses and assets that the Council own, are all funded from existing 
revenue budgets. 

(B) Capital Costs 

There are no additional direct capital costs associated with this report.

Any future capital projects linked the strategy will be subject to separate approval.

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Staff time, IT and software licences, Maintenance of Council owned assets
Legal Implications:
Requirement under the FWMA 2010 to have a strategy in place

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact Y
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Y

The Strategy and Business Plan have been aligned to the principles of sustainability, 
the Environment Agency’s National FCERM strategy, Regional FCERM business plans 
and Flood Risk Management Plans, Sefton 2030 Vision and Sefton’s Climate 
Emergency Action Plan. The strategy aims to deliver positive impacts to the climate 

Page 188

Agenda Item 13



emergency and the environment. A separate Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Screening report has been undertaken to ensure the Strategy and Business Plan have 
no detrimental effects to the environment. This screening report concluded that there 
would be no negative impacts of the Strategy or Business Plan to the Environment. 

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

The Strategy and Business Plan are heavily aligned to Sefton 2030 Vision and it clearly 
states the actions the Council will undertake to achieve this.

Protect the most vulnerable:

Facilitate confident and resilient communities:

Commission, broker and provide core services:

Place – leadership and influencer: Sets the strategic direction for flood risk management 
in the borough 

Drivers of change and reform:

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:

Greater income for social investment: 

Cleaner Greener: Seeks to deliver sustainable actions aligned with Sefton 2030 and the 
climate emergency action plan

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6661/22.) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4861/22) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

External consultations with other Risk Management Authorities in the borough 
(Environment Agency and United Utilities) have been undertaken and their comments 
have been incorporated into the documents. Statutory consultees, Natural England, 
Environment Agency and Historic England have also been consulted with amendments 
being made to the documents. Finally, the public have been consulted through the Your 
Sefton Your Say platform with questionnaire. Easy read documents were also included in 
this consultation to broaden the opportunities for people to give their feedback. Following 
public consultation further amendments were made to the documents.

Page 189

Agenda Item 13



Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Council meeting.

Contact Officer: Michelle Barnes

Telephone Number:
Email Address: michelle.barnes@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Enc 1. Final Draft Sefton’s Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy 
2022-2030
Enc 2. Final Draft Sefton’s Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Business 
Plan 2022

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council 
as a Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of 
local flood risk. Under Section 9 of the FWMA, a LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, 
apply and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management Strategy.

1.1.2 The FWMA also requires the strategy to be consulted upon and a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) to be undertaken.

1.1.3 The consultation with internal departments, external partners and the public has 
been completed and relevant changes to the documents have been made. A SEA 
screening report was undertaken by a consultant to determine if a full SEA was needed. 
Statutory consultees agreed with the consultants recommendations that a full SEA was 
unnecessary due to the high level nature of the documents and that each scheme/project 
or proposal would be undertaking its own relevant environmental assessments, to ensure 
each project does not have a detrimental effect on the environment. 

1.1.4 The LRFS considers all the relevant legislative and policy documents applying to 
flood and coastal erosion risk to set the context for its management in Sefton. 

Page 190

Agenda Item 13



It sets out the risk from flooding and coastal erosion that our communities face and 
provides information on who the risk management authorities are in Sefton, their relevant 
functions and how our approach to flood risk management is coordinated. 

1.1.5 The challenges for managing flood and coastal erosion risk are identified and the 
approach to overcoming these detailed. The LFRS also offers information on how wider 
environmental objectives will be achieved in Sefton and the monitoring and review 
process. The potential funding mechanisms are also identified in the document.

1.1.6 The LFRS will cover the period from 2022 to 2030 and will be reviewed bi-annually 
if there are changes to legislation or policy, or a significant change to the evidence base 
and will be updated. The supporting Business Plan will be updated annually, and 
progress reported to Overview and Scrutiny. 

Page 191

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 1

Sefton Council Flood 
& Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Strategy -  
Business Plan  

Ready for the futurePage 193

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

Contents
1. Introduction  ............................................................................................................................................................. 1

2. National & Local Integration ................................................................................................................................ 2

3. Funding ...................................................................................................................................................................... 3

4. FCERM Actions .......................................................................................................................................................... 4

5. Summary of Projects .............................................................................................................................................. 6

Page 194

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 1

1. Introduction 
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council as a Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of local flood risk. Under Section 9 of the 
FWMA, a LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, apply and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy. 

The strategy provides an overview of flood and coastal erosion risk management in Sefton and aims 
to balance the needs of communities, the economy and the environment. As part of the local strategy 
a Business Plan is provided which outlines Sefton’s future actions for managing the flood and coastal 
erosion risk identified in the local strategy. The Business Plan is an integral part of flood and erosion 
risk management as it provides detail on the processes, timescales, benefits and costs associated 
with any proposed measures. 

The Business Plan specifically sets out how funding will be secured and managed for proposed 
interventions over the short to medium terms. Funding can come from several streams: revenue 
funding (provided by the council), partner funding or Grant in Aid (GIA). Therefore, it is necessary to 
outline the justification and allocation for proposed measures.

The Business Plan is aimed at local decision makers and partner organisations; however, it also 
provides clarity to local communities on how flood and coastal erosion risk is managed in Sefton. 
The plan will be updated annually to reflect changes in revenue budgets, project progression, 
funding applications, new scheme identification or updates to relevant national documents e.g. the 
Environment Agency’s Medium-Term Plan. 

Page 195

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 2

2. National & Local Integration
Sefton’s approach to Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) is intrinsically linked 
to national plans. The National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England   
outlines the three ambitions for flood risk management:

A nation ready to respond and adapt to flooding and coastal change - 
ensuring local people understand their risk to flooding and coastal change 
and know their responsibilities and how to take action.  

Climate-resilient places - working with partners to bolster resilience to 
flooding and coastal change across the nation, both now and in the face 
of climate change. 

Today’s growth and infrastructure resilient in tomorrow’s climate - making 
the right investment and planning decisions to secure sustainable growth 
and environmental improvements, as well as infrastructure resilient to 
flooding and coastal change. 

It is essential that our FCERM measures align with this national agenda. However, on a local level, 
the Sefton 2030 Vision provides the broad guidelines on the ambitions for the Sefton Borough. 
Consequently, we have combined the ambitions of the National Flood Risk Strategy for England with 
those of our Local Vision 2030 to provide the structure for FCERM in Sefton (Figure 1). By combining 
both national and local requirements we provide a holistic approach that directly benefits our 
communities whilst aligning with the larger framework set by national standards.

Figure 1: Depiction of the eight themes that form the foundation of Sefton’s 2030 Vision.

Page 196

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 3

3. Funding
 ■ Flood Defence Grant in Aid (GiA): This is money from Defra which is administered by the 

Environment Agency. The amount of GiA a scheme is eligible for is determined by the outcomes 
and benefits it will deliver, with a focus on homes being better protected from flooding and 
coastal erosion. Outcome Measures reflect financial, environmental, health, social and FCERM 
benefits. Where there is a shortfall in GiA, partnership funding contributions from other sources 
or a reduction in costs is required to achieve project viability. Funding allocations for these 
sources are subject to a successful and approved business case.  

 ■ Local Levy: The North West RFCC can choose to support projects that are either not eligible for 
GiA, or to support projects where there is a shortfall in GiA by the allocation of Local Levy.  

 ■ Partnership Funding: Where GiA in Aid and/or Local Levy does not fully support the delivery of 
a project, the LLFA can provide additional funding through their contributions or by seeking 
external contributions from partners and communities who may benefit from the project. 
Funding allocations for these sources are subject to a successful, approved business cases.  

 ■ Quick Win Funding: The Merseyside FCERM Partnership has an annual allocation of £50,000 for 
small interventions that can improve the management of risk. 

 ■ Prudential Borrowing: The Council may undertake prudential borrowing to enable an essential 
capital scheme to progress, but this is dependent upon identifying revenue budget efficiencies in 
future years to make funding available to meet the cost of repaying the loan.  

 ■ Other Grants: Sefton Council will seek to secure funding from other grants as and when they 
become available. 

 ■ Highways Funding: The Council is responsible for keeping the highway free from flooding and 
invests money in its Highway Drainage Asset to achieve this. There are opportunities to use this 
funding to achieve wider outcomes relating to flooding as well as keeping the highway free from 
flooding.

Page 197

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 4

4. FCERM Actions
The table provided below details how FCERM will be undertaken. Our approach has been broken down 
into a structure that reflects the Vision 2030 with specific details on the action, the timescale and the 
relevant funding scheme.

Action
Funding 
Source

Delivery 
Target

Resource

Sefton 
Vision 
2030 

Theme

PEOPLE

Develop a FCERM communications plan to support the 
Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Strategy. Revenue July 2022 Staff Time

Together 
a stronger 
community

Engage with communities about the broader issues 
of FCERM, climate change and flood risk awareness 
(Highways Maintenance to work with FCERM on this).

Capital/Revenue Project 
Specific Project Specific

Engage with riparian owners about their responsibilities 
(Highways Maintenance to work with FCERM on this). Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Engage with communities where FCERM projects will be 
undertaken. Capital/Revenue Project 

Specific Project Specific

Exchange knowledge and best practice with wider 
partners to ensure improvements, efficiencies and 
effective ways of working. 

Capital/Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Work collaboratively with wider partners to identify 
opportunities to deliver multiple benefits and ensure 
Sefton’s interests are considered.

Capital/Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Work with other RMA’s to identify viable options for 
Maghull (Project E in Section 5). Capital Ongoing Project Specific

Work with land managers and NW coastal group on 
the delivery of the Eco buffers project at Formby Point 
(Project L in Section 5).

Capital/Revenue 2021-2027 Project budget 
tbc/staff time

Ensure council-delivered SUDs schemes achieve multiple 
benefits. Capital/Revenue Ongoing Project Specific

A Borough 
for 

Everyone

Seek funding to deliver the Crosby Flood & Coastal 
Defence Scheme (Project A in section 5). Capital 2028 Project Specific

Assess deliverability and seek funding to deliver the Pool 
Scheme (Project B in section 5). Capital 2026 Project Specific

Support the delivery of the Climate Emergency Action 
Plan (Project L in section 5). Revenue 2030 Staff Time

Review FCERM policies & develop new policies were 
necessary. Revenue 2023 Staff Time

Inspecting Council-owned assets (Highways 
Maintenance to review highway drainage asset). Revenue Annual Staff Time

Living, 
working & 
having fun

Reactive inspection of private-owned assets following 
reports of flooding. Revenue Annual Staff Time

Explore opportunities to manage water differently by 
working with wider partners in order to support the 
work of Green Sefton such as community food growing 
projects and habitat creation.

Revenue Ongoing Staff time

Page 198

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 5

Action
Funding 
Source

Delivery 
Target

Resource
Sefton 

Vision 2030 
Theme

PLACE

Undertake consenting with Riparian owners as 
required Revenue Ongoing Staff-time

Clean, green 
beautiful 
borough

Undertake enforcement with Riparian owners as 
required (Highways Maintenance to undertake this 
where it impacts on the highway drainage)

Revenue Ongoing Staff-time

PRODUC-
TIVITY

Ensure flood and coastal erosion risk is considered 
in all council-led projects. Revenue Ongoing Staff Time On the move

Review up-to-date climate change projections and 
consider how these may impact Sefton. Capital As 

necessary Staff Time

Ready for the 
Future

Deliver actions set out in Shoreline Management 
Plan. Capital Check SMP Staff Time

Undertake an annual review of resources to ensure 
Sefton Council (as LLFA) continue to deliver the 
actions set out in the Environment Agency’s Flood 
Risk Management Plan (Project K in section 5).

Capital Check 
FRMP Staff Time

Complete Surface Water Management Plan Level 
2 and seek funding to deliver options (Project D in 
section 5).

Capital 2024 TBC

Deliver the North West Strategic Regional Coastal 
Monitoring Programme (Project C in section 5). Capital 2021-2026 Project Specific

Establish plan and triggers for works to Hightown 
Coastline (Project F in Section 5). Revenue/Capital 2022 Staff time

Ensure we support the Planning Service in 
undertaking its duty as a Local Planning Authority 
through our role as a statutory consultee on major 
developments, and as an advisory consultee on 
significant minor developments.

Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Ensure we support the Planning Service in the 
preparation of evidence, other documents and 
draft policies to support the review of the Local 
Plan (e.g. new Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, 
Coastal Change) and any other development plan 
documents and supplementary guidance.

Revenue Ongoing Staff Time

Deliver improvements to the surface water outfalls 
along the Ainsdale/Birkdale coastline. Capital 2022 £20000

Coordinate the delivery of groundwater monitoring 
across the Merseyside Authorities. Capital 2022 £24000

Pilot smart water level monitoring at key locations 
in Sefton. Capital 2022 £13000

Undertake a programme of inspection for coastal 
assets. Capital March 

2022 Staff Time

Undertake a programme of inspections for Inland 
assets. Revenue Annual Staff Time

Undertake programmed and reactive maintenance 
for highways assets. Revenue Annual £85, 650.00

Develop asset management systems and a 
risk-based approach to maintenance for the 
highway drainage asset - to be undertaken 
by Highways Maintenance and co-ordinated 
with FCERM

Revenue Annual £30,000

Page 199

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 6

5. Summary of Projects
A. Crosby Flood and Coastal Defence Scheme
Sefton Council are developing a business case in partnership with United Utilities and the 
Environment Agency to secure funding to undertake a scheme in Crosby to reduce risks associated 
with coastal change and surface water flooding.

The main issues in the area are:

 ■ The river Alt Training Wall has lowered over time and needs works to raise the height to ensure 
the river Alt continues to flow out to sea.

 ■ Coastal erosion is occurring northwards of the Coastguard Station for approx. 1km releasing 
contaminated material and putting the Mersey Estuary Pollution Alleviation Scheme (MEPAS) rising 
main sewer at risk. During December 2013, the coast here eroded 11m due to a storm event.

 ■ The current hard defences southwards of the Coastguard Station (for approx. 1km) are at the 
end of their design life and need replacing. They protect approx. 170 homes and the United 
Utilities MEPAS rising main sewer from coastal erosion.

 ■ Approximately 460 homes in the Crosby area are at risk of flooding all of which would benefit 
from works to reduce surface water flood risk. 

Current Status: Sefton Council are working with partners to secure funding for the delivery of this 
scheme. This scheme is subject to the availability of funding and planning approval processes but, 
if successful, is likely to commence during summer 2027.

B. The Pool Watercourse Scheme
The Pool watercourse drains a significant part of Southport, with approximately 3000 properties in 
its catchment. Over time the watercourse has had more connections added to it and its status and 
capacity were unknown. A study has investigated the system and developed a range of options to 
deliver flood risk benefits in the area. There is a strong focus on natural flood management approaches 
in this project. 

Current Status: Sefton Council are working with a consultant to provide detailed design and costs 
for this scheme with the aim to secure funding and commence works 2023/4.

C. North West Strategic Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme (CERMS)
The regional monitoring programme was set up in 2007 to improve the coordination and quality of 
coastal monitoring along the north west coastline. Sefton Council has been the lead authority on 
behalf of the north west coastal group. The programme is designed to ensure a coherent package of 
monitoring, data collection, collation and analysis is undertaken across the entire NW coast to support 
the delivery of the Shoreline management Plan and sustainable coastal management decisions.

Current Status: Funding has been secured until March 2027.

Page 200

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 7

D. Surface Water Management Plan
Pluvial or surface water flooding is usually, but not exclusively, a result of intense rainfall that exceeds 
the capacity of the installed drainage system, this often leads to flooding of the public highway. 
Typically, this type of flooding is very localised and has short lead-times, making it difficult to predict. 
It can occur where no watercourse exists. The problem and severity of ‘pluvial’ flooding can be 
exacerbated by: topography, drainage system capacity and surfaces with low permeability.

In 2011 Sefton Council commissioned a Level 1 Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP). The plan 
identified 22 areas that are at risk of significant surface water flooding or where further detailed 
investigation is necessary to mitigate against flood risk within the areas.

Since undertaking of the Level 1 Surface Management Plan there have been a further three 
significant flood events in September 2015, December 2015 and July 2017. It was decided through 
local knowledge, subsequent rainfall events and reports of flooding that 3 strategic areas, Maghull, 
Seaforth & Litherland and Formby would benefit from a detailed Level 2 SWMP to examine the issue 
of surface water flooding in greater detail. This included the development of 2D hydraulic models 
to better define flood hazards and to help identify future scheme options, undertake economic 
appraisals and recommend future actions to manage surface water over the short, medium and 
long term.

Current Status: Flood modelling has been updated and Hotspot analysis of Maghull, Formby and 
Seaforth & Litherland is complete. The Seaforth & Litherland Report did not identify any significant 
flooding hotspots that would need to be taken forward for development. The Formby flooding 
Hotspot Assessment identified areas that would be taken forward for Option Assessment and a 
draft assessment report has been produced. The Maghull Hotspot report is currently being drafted 
and further Hotspot Assessments will be undertaken for Hightown and areas north of Formby up 
to and including Southport.

Page 201

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 8

E. Maghull Strategic Planning Group
Maghull has suffered from a number of flood events in recent years across the town but notable 
flooding has occurred through both river and surface water or a combination of both. Each of the 
Risk Management Authorities have looked at schemes to reduce the risk but the viability of these has 
been limited.

The Maghull Strategic Planning has been set up with the aim to provide recommendations that will 
act to resolve or reduce flood risk. The group is made up of the core risk management authorities 
EA, United Utilities, Sefton Council. The group also works in collaboration with wider partners such 
as Mersey Rivers Trust, Maghull Town Council, Canal & Rivers Trust and Alt Crossens Catchment 
Partnership. This group reports findings to the Sefton Flood Resilience Strategic working group which 
is chaired by the deputy leader of the council. The groups purpose is to work collaboratively and 
strategically to develop a strong common understanding of flood risk from all sources, alternative / 
innovative actions to reduce flood risk, feasibility assessments and delivery routes for solutions.

Current Status: Regular group meeting are undertaken in order to review and identify ways of 
reducing flood risk in Maghull. Previous options for Fouracres and Whinney Brook were considered 
unfeasible based on cost-benefit analysis, therefore, more holistic ways of reducing flood risk are 
being considered. A ‘Catchment-System-Thinking’ approach is being considered which will help to 
incorporate a higher number of smaller flood alleviation projects with the aim of reducing overall 
flood risk in Maghull and provide multiple benefits.

F. Hightown Coastline
At Hightown beach a scheme was undertaken in 2011 to rebuild the dunes to where they were in 
the 1970s to delay the time needed for further intervention and to formalise defences around the 
Blundellsands Sailing Club. It was anticipated that this would extend the life by 30yrs. Since 2011 
much of the sand placed as dunes has been redistributed within the system with significant losses 
since the scheme was completed, during storms in 2013/14 and 2020. The community are becoming 
increasingly concerned. An assessment study was undertaken in 2020/2021 to provide a range of 
options which would be dependent on future coastal processes. 

Key areas of concern are:
 ■ The areas to either side of the sailing club where there is a risk of the defences being flanked. 

 ■ The spit of dunes north of the sailing club to the front of the reed bed has experienced erosion 
during extreme events (such as 2013/14 and 2019/2020), however the reed bed being exposed 
to wave action is a potential risk as it would not be expected to respond well. 

 ■ The operation of outfalls both through the structure failing or the outfalls being buried.

Current Status: Sefton Council is currently reviewing a consultant produced Option Report for 
Hightown. The report sets out potential flood risk management options for consideration by 
Sefton Council and potential times and locations for their deployment.

Page 202

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 9

G. Ainsdale Birkdale coastal outfalls
The land drainage system for parts of Ainsdale (200 properties) and Birkdale (25 properties) was 
designed to drain through a small sand dune system through a network pipe and open watercourses 
and onto the foreshore. Since the system was built the level of the foreshore has increased and the 
dune system has accreted significantly. This is severely restricting the free discharge of surface water 
onto the foreshore. Beach levels in some areas are higher than the top of pipe. The dune system and 
foreshore are also now designated nationally and internationally. The system requires significant 
work to facilitate free discharge. 

Current Status: A contractor will undertake work in winter 2021/22 to clear the outfalls. The 
window for these works is constrained by high-level environmental designations.

H. Formby Strategic Flood Risk Management Programme
Formby has had several recent flooding incidents primarily from surface water. The area was 
identified within the SWMP and PFRA as being at risk of future flooding. Disparate schemes have led 
to limited benefit and a coordinate approach is needed to reduce flooding across Formby. A variety of 
options will be considered and implemented, including attenuation, resilience, re-routing watercourse 
and up-grading watercourses to deliver a reduction in flood risk. The outputs of the SWMP will 
help identify options and we will work with the Formby Flood Group and other Risk Management 
Authorities to implement them.

Current Status: Sefton Council is continuing to support Formby Local Flood Group in raising 
awareness of flooding in the area and advancing further research into groundwater levels.

Page 203

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 10

I. Merseyside Strategic Groundwater Flood Risk Pilot
The project is looking to quantify the rate of rising groundwater and what areas are most at risk.

There are approximately 22,000 properties at moderate to significant risk of groundwater flooding 
risk across Merseyside. Merseyside Risk Management Authorities need a better understanding of 
the risk posed by groundwater and ways to reduce the consequences of groundwater flooding to 
properties through mitigation and resilience measures. A network of ground water monitoring gauges 
will be deployed across Merseyside to gain an evidence base of groundwater levels. 

Current Status: Sefton Council is continuing to work with other Local authorities across the 
Merseyside region to identify and install groundwater monitoring equipment.

J. Smart Water level monitoring
Sefton is flat low-lying borough by nature and relies on pumped systems to drain water into the 
sea.  The borough is at risk of flooding and coastal erosion from the sea, flooding from surface water, 
sewers, ground water, watercourses, rivers and canals. Sefton has had several significant flooding 
incidents over the years. Because of these frequent incidents the Council aims to undertake a scheme 
to install watercourse level monitoring systems at strategic locations along identified watercourses 
that can be remotely monitored by Council operational staff. This will allow real-time river/
watercourse levels to be monitored and communities to be informed and warned in a timely manner.

Current Status: The Council are currently identifying and sourcing appropriate water level 
monitoring equipment to be installed in 2022.

K. Flood Risk Management Plans

The Environment Agency has been updating the National Flood Risk Management Plans, as required 
in the Flood Risk Regulations 2009.  They explain the risk of flooding from rivers, the sea, surface 
water, groundwater and reservoirs and set out how risk management authorities will work with 
communities to manage flood risk over 6-year periods. The plans emphasise impacts on people, the 
economy and the environment, including cultural heritage and they must:

 ■ focus on communities and partnership working

 ■ co-ordinate across catchments and coastlines

 ■ consider sustainability issues

 ■ take a proportional, risk-based approach

 ■ look to achieve multiple benefits for the environment and society

 ■ encourage beneficiaries to invest in flood risk management

Page 204

Agenda Item 13

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3042/contents/made


Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 11

The objectives should be consistent with the National FCERM Strategy for England 2020  
and should cover:

 ■ the risk to life, residential properties, services and infrastructure, vulnerable communities, and 
any other relevant aspects (social objectives).

 ■ agricultural economy, commercial properties, leisure and tourism, and any other relevant aspects 
(economic objectives).

 ■ biodiversity, geology and soils, geomorphology water quality, historic environment, and any other 
relevant aspects (environmental objectives).

The FRMP focuses on the areas identified in the Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment (PFRA). The PRFA 
identified the following areas as being at high flood risk within Sefton:

 ■ Southport to Ainsdale

 ■ Formby

 ■ South Sefton - Maghull, Crosby to Bootle (continued across the boundary into Liverpool)

Specific measures have been identified to address flood risk in these areas and other generic 
measures to help contribute towards the achievement of the three national FCERM Strategy for 
ambitions for England.  

Current Status: The Environments Agency’s draft Flood Risk Management Plans are currently 
being reviewed by Sefton Council and other partners. Consequently, the measures proposed 
in the EA’s draft Flood Risk Management Plans have been incorporated into Sefton Council’s 
Business Plan.

L. NW ECO Coastal Buffers Project - North West Coastal Group 2021-2027
This project will develop a suite of natural buffer strips to increase coastal resilience of vulnerable 
hot-spots in the North West, including a proposal for Formby Point.  Creating a natural buffer strip 
around the coast has multi benefits, including reducing flood risk, reducing coastal erosion, increasing 
biodiversity and water quality, provides carbon capture and other ecosystem services such as 
recreation and well-being.  These buffer strips with their rich vegetation, act as natural breakwaters, 
capturing sediment and dissipating wave energy. 

Current Status: Sefton Council is delivering actions against the Climate Emergency Action Plan with an 
annual progress report published July 2021 - Issue details - Climate Emergency Annual Report.

Five key areas will be addressed:

 ■ Understanding the eco-geomorphological system.

 ■ Develop innovative solutions to create and maintain buffers.

 ■ Application of novel and integrated monitoring techniques including: Autonomous radar, 
WireWall, Satellite and Drone photogrammetry and Citizen Science to provide a single learning 
model of the coastal nearshore.

Page 205

Agenda Item 13

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-strategy-for-england--2
http://smbc-modgov-03/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=64340&Opt=0


Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 12

 ■ Establish adaptation triggers and pathway.

 ■ Empowering communities; throughout the project, communities will be engaged in a process of 
co-creation of knowledge and co-design of buffers.

Current Status: Project development underway with a proposal to submit full business case in 
Summer 2022. Formby Point is being considered as one of the potential sites.

M. Climate emergency strategy and implementation plan
Sefton Council declared a climate emergency and has developed a strategy that represents a 
commitment and provides the basis from which future plans can be developed. Climate change is 
and will continue to increase flood and coastal erosion risk. By declaring a climate emergency, Sefton 
Council acknowledges that climate change must be considered in many aspects of our lives and 
this Business Plan is one way of helping us to support our communities and businesses to adapt and 
prepare for the future. 

By 2030, the Council will have:

 ■ Established a clear baseline and full audit of all ongoing work that can contribute to the 
achievement of our net zero target.

 ■ Developed ambitious yet achievable targets for each of our proposed action plans based on our 
baseline evidence.

 ■ Achieved net carbon zero by 2030 and ensure all strategic decisions are in line with this target.

 ■ Raised awareness of the issues across the Council, our partners and our communities.

 ■ Engaged with young people and the wider community.

 ■ Embed climate action and value into our decision making across the organisation.

The Climate Emergency Implementation Plan has been developed to support the strategy, setting out 
actions in response to the Climate Emergency over three-time phases.

 ■ Phase 1 2020 – 2023

 ■ Phase 2 2023 – 2026

 ■ Phase 3 2026 - 2029

Current Status: Sefton Council is delivering actions against the Climate Emergency Action Plan 
with an annual progress report published July 2021

N. Highway Drainage Asset Management and Risk based Maintenance
This project will be led by Highway Maintenance but is included here as the flooding of the highway 
and flooding from the highway can have such a significant impact on residents. The project will 
implement suitable asset management systems ensuring the suitable management and coordination 
of works to this asset. Risk based maintenance will be implemented to recognise the varying risk 

Page 206

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 13

associated with different locations, some gullies may not need to be cleaned every year, some 
might require more frequent cleaning – the collection of and management of data within the asset 
management system will facilitate this risk-based approach.

Current Status: Sefton Council is identifying flooding hotspots on the Highway and aiming to ensure 
the planned maintenance of gullies in high risk areas is appropriate.

Current Status: Sefton Council is identifying flooding hotspots on the Highway and aiming to 
ensure the planned maintenance of gullies in high risk areas is appropriate. 

Page 207

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 14

6. Sefton Council Group Attendance
The table below lists all the working groups the FCERM team attends. By maintaining regular contact, 
it ensures we work in a collaborative and holistic manner: 

Meeting Group Purpose/Aim Reason for attending Frequency Role
North West and North 
Wales Coastal group

Coordinate delivery of SMP and share 
best practice

Report on NW strategic coastal 
monitoring programme

Quarterly Member

Liverpool Bay Coastal 
group

Coordinate delivery of SMP and share 
best practices within Liverpool Bay

Represent Sefton Council as 
Maritime Authority

Biannual Vice-chair

Northern Coastal 
subgroup

Coordinate delivery of SMP and share 
best practices within from Ribble to 
Solway

Report on NW strategic coastal 
monitoring programme

Quarterly Member

Coastal Evidence task 
group

Establish robust evidence base for NW 
Coastal Group activities

Coordinate and collate 
evidence and research

Quarterly Chair

Shoreline Management 
Plan delivery group

Coordinate delivery of SMP working 
groups

Representing coastal evidence 
working group

Weekly Member

National Network of 
Strategic Regional 
Coastal Monitoring 
Programmes

Coordinate regional monitoring 
programmes, exchange best proactive 
and coordinate funding applications

Represent North West strategic 
regional coastal monitoring 
programme

Quarterly Member

North West Regional 
Flood and Coastal 
Committee

Strategic direction for FCERM in the 
North West of England

Support officer for Sefton 
Councillor member when 
attending

Quarterly meeting 
(attendance required 
every other meeting)

Support 
officer

North West Regional 
Flood and Coastal 
Committee finance 
subgroup

Assess grant in aid programme and 
applications for local levy for approval 
at full committee

Support officer for Sefton 
Councillor member when 
attending

Quarterly meeting 
(attendance required 
every other meeting)

Support 
officer

Merseyside strategic 
flood group partnership

Steer and coordinate FCERM in 
Merseyside across all RMAs and other 
partnerships

Support officer for Sefton 
Councillor member

Quarterly Member 
and 
support 
officer

Merseyside tactical 
flood group partnership

Coordinate and exchange best practice 
in delivering FCERM in Merseyside with 
RMAs and other partners.
*This group feds into the Merseyside 
Strategic Flood Group Partnership

Representing Sefton Council Quarterly Chair (until 
2022)

Sefton Operational 
Flood Group

Coordinate delivery of maintenance for 
FCERM across Sefton with RMAs and 
other partners

*This group feds into the Merseyside 
Tactical Flood Group Partnership

Representing Sefton Council Quarterly Chair

Sefton Flood Resilience 
Strategic working 
group

Cabinet members and Multiagency 
working party to provide strategic 
direction and coordination within 
Sefton.

Representing Sefton Council Monthly Member/
support 
officer

Maghull Strategic flood 
planning group

Multiagency group coordinating options 
for flood risk management in Maghull

Representing Sefton Council Monthly Member

Mersey and Alt 
catchment partnership

Coordinate management of works 
to deliver water framework directive 
priorities

Representing Sefton Council 
as LLFA

Quarterly Member

Mersey sediment 
stakeholder meeting

Monitor dredging works undertaken by 
Mersey docks and harbour and seeks 
beneficial reuse of sediments.

Representing Sefton Council’s 
coastal interest

Biannual Member

Sefton Climate 
Emergency Officer 
Group

Exchange best practices and monitor 
delivery against the climate action plan

Representing Green Sefton Quarterly Member

Page 208

Agenda Item 13



Sefton Council Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy - Business Plan

PAGE 15Page 209

Agenda Item 13



Page 210

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 1

Sefton Council Local 
Flood & Coastal Erosion 
Risk Management 
Strategy
 2022 - 2030

Ready for the futurePage 211

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

Contents
1  Introduction  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .1

1 .1  What is a Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy?  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .1

1 .2 Legislative Context  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .2

1 .2 .1  National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England (2020)  .  .  .  .  .  .3

1 .2 .2 North West Regional Flood & Coastal Committee Business Plan .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .3

1 .2 .3  Merseyside Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Partnership Business Plan  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .4

1 .2 .4 Sefton’s 2030 Vision  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .4

1 .3 .1 What is Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk?  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .5

1 .3 .2 Who is Responsible?  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .6

1 .3 .3 A Joint Approach to Managing Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .8

2 Flood and Coastal Erosion in Sefton  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .10

2 .1 Sefton’s Recent History of Flooding and Erosion .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .10

2 .2 Challenges to Risk Management in Sefton  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .13

3 Future Ambitions for Sefton  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .15

4 Potential Funding Sources  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .16

5 Monitor and Review  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .17

6 Wider Environmental Context .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .18

7 Useful Links .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .  .19

Page 212

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 1

1  Introduction
1 .1  What is a Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management 

Strategy?
The Flood and Water Management Act (FWMA) 2010 established Sefton Council as a Lead Local Flood 
Authority (LLFA) making it responsible for the management of local flood risk. Under Section 9 of the 
FWMA, an LLFA has a duty to develop, maintain, apply and monitor a Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy . 

The strategy provides an overview of flood and coastal erosion risk management in Sefton and 
integrates the concept of sustainable development through careful consideration of the three 
fundamental pillars: people, place and productivity . These three pillars of sustainability are a global 
concept that is incorporated into international and national schemes such as the United Nations’ 
2030 Sustainable Development Agenda and the UK Government’s 25-year Environmental Plan . 
Through sustainable development, the council aims to improve flood and coastal erosion risk 
management whilst aiding present and future environmental restoration .

The document gives information on who the risk management authorities are in Sefton, their 
relevant functions and how our approach to flood risk management is coordinated. It offers 
information on how wider environmental objectives will be achieved in Sefton and provides 
timescales of when our approach will be reviewed . The strategy is supported by a ‘Business Plan’ 
which outlines Sefton’s future measures for managing flood and coastal erosion risk and provides 
detail on the process, timescales, benefits and costs associated with any proposed measures. This 
strategy will provide local communities and stakeholders with clarity on flood risk management in 
Sefton . 

Page 213

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 2

1 .2 Legislative Context
The legislative framework defines the roles and responsibilities placed on flood risk management 
authorities . There are several overarching national legislative documents relevant to the management 
of flood and coastal erosion risk. The actions undertaken in Sefton must, therefore, align with national 
legislation . The hierarchy of the legislation and links to the relevant documents are provided in Figure 
1 . 

Sefton’s Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy is influenced by national, regional 
and sub-regional legislation, policies and strategic plans . The mirroring of these broader documents 
is essential to provide an integrated and, therefore, nationally coherent approach to sustainable flood 
and coastal erosion risk management . 

Figure 1: Legislative context . Links to the relevant documents can be found under Section 7: Useful Links .

Page 214

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 3

1 .2 .1  National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for 
England (2020)

The Environment Agency has a responsibility under the FWMA 2010 to develop a national strategy for 
flood and coastal erosion risk management in England. The national strategy for England outlines the 
duties of all risk management authorities involved in the reduction of flood and coastal erosion risk 
(further details provided in Section 1 .3 .2) . The focus of the national strategy for England is to support 
all risk management authorities to manage the risk of coastal erosion and flooding in a coordinated 
and sustainable way across coasts and catchments . 

The national strategy for England sets out a sustainable long-term vision:

“A nation ready for, and resilient to, flooding and coastal change – today, tomorrow and to the year 
2100.”

The vision is supported by a set of long-term ambitions focussed around the three pillars of 
sustainable development:

A nation ready to respond and adapt to flooding and coastal change - 
ensuring local people understand their risk to flooding and coastal change 
and know their responsibilities and how to take action . 

Climate-resilient places - working with partners to bolster resilience to 
flooding and coastal change across the nation, both now and in the face of 
climate change .

Today’s growth and infrastructure resilient in tomorrow’s climate - making 
the right investment and planning decisions to secure sustainable growth 
and environmental improvements, as well as infrastructure resilient to 
flooding and coastal change.

The national strategy for England provides the framework for LLFAs to produce their local flood risk 
management strategies and helps to guide operational activities and improvements to local flood 
and coastal erosion risk management . Under the FWMA it is essential that local strategies align 
with the vision of the national strategy whilst providing locally relevant actions for sustainable risk 
management .

1 .2 .2 North West Regional Flood & Coastal Committee Business Plan
The North West Regional Flood and Coastal Committee (RFCC) Business Plan is one of the main 
influences on Sefton’s Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. The North West RFCC is one of 
twelve committees established across England under the FWMA 2010 . The RFCC brings together 
the organisations responsible for flood and coastal erosion risk management across the North 
West Region: The Environment Agency, Local Authorities and United Utilities . The committee has 
several functions, firstly, to ensure there are coherent plans for managing flood and coastal erosion, 
secondly, to encourage effective investment that benefits local communities and thirdly, to provide a 

Page 215

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 4

link between regional organisations involved in flood and coastal erosion risk management. The North 
West RFCC produces a three-year Business Plan which sets out the risks, challenges and actions for 
the region .

1 .2 .3  Merseyside Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Partnership 
Business Plan

A subsidiary of the North West RFCC is the Merseyside Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
(FCERM) Partnership which brings together the organisations that manage flood and coastal erosion 
risk in Merseyside . The aim of the partnership is to identify priorities, steer the use of resources and 
support good investments for our communities . The partnership uses the high-level actions outlined 
in the North West RFCC Business Plan to guide local actions . The Merseyside FCERM Business Plan sets 
out key risks, challenges and opportunities that face Merseyside in relation to flooding and coastal 
erosion . The Merseyside Business Plan is updated on a three-year cycle . 

1 .2 .4 Sefton’s 2030 Vision
In addition to the broader national and regional strategies, Sefton Council has a localised 2030 Vision 
which has eight overarching themes that form the founding principles of our work in Sefton (Figure 2) . 
The eight themes of the Sefton Vision incorporate the three pillars of sustainability: people, place and 
productivity . 

The eight themes of Sefton Vision help to guide our current and future actions and are used in the 
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy Business Plan to underpin our proposed future measures for 
flood and coastal erosion risk management. 

Figure 2: Depiction of the eight themes that form the foundation of Sefton’s 2030 Vision .

Page 216

Agenda Item 13

https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/north-west-regional-flood-and-coastal-committee
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/your-local-area/merseyside/#section-4


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 5

1.3 Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk      
 Management
1 .3 .1 What is Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk?
Flooding events can have devastating environmental, social and economic impacts making a 
sustainable flood risk management strategy essential. It is not often economically feasible or even 
desirable to prevent all forms of flooding in all locations. Therefore, Sefton Council uses its powers as 
an LLFA to reduce either the likelihood or consequences of flooding and works with other flood risk 
management authorities to ensure all powers and duties are being enacted .

Flood risk is a balance between probability and consequences . Generally, the less probable (likely) 
an event is the more severe the consequences (impacts) will be . Flood risk is dependent upon the 
presence of a flood source, a route for the flooding and an area that would be affected by the water. 
Without a route linking the floodwaters to a vulnerable area of human infrastructure, the flood would 
be a hazard but not a risk . 

Return periods are often used to describe the frequency of a flood event and are an average of how 
often a flood event of a given magnitude will occur in a year. These return periods are a form of 
probability or chance – a 1 in 50 return period has a 2% probability of occurring in any one year .

Table 1 outlines the commonly used return periods with their equivalent percentage probabilities . 
High probability flood events are generally smaller in magnitude and are more likely to have localised 
impacts when compared to low probability flood events which are likely to have broader reaching and 
more severe impacts .

Table 1: Explanation of flood return periods

Coastal erosion describes the persistent wearing away of the coastline. Land lost to erosion is difficult 
to recover and, once gone, has a lasting impact on the shape of the coastline . Erosion is generally a 
gradual process but can be dramatically increased during storm events . Larger scale erosion events 

Page 217

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 6

are a combination of extreme weather, tidal conditions and the susceptibility of a coastline to erosion . 
As climate change continues to raise sea levels and increase the severity and frequency of storms the 
management of coastal erosion and flood risk will become ever more challenging. 

1 .3 .2 Who is Responsible?
Flooding can be caused by different sources and there are designated risk management authorities 
that are responsible for flooding from certain sources. However, flooding can occur from a complex 
interplay of sources (combination of sources) meaning flood risk management authorities must work 
collaboratively to reduce and prevent flood impacts (National FCERM Strategy for England, 2020).   

‘Local Flood Risk’ (the subject of this document) refers to flooding from ordinary watercourses, 
groundwater and surface water. Detail on who is responsible for the management of flooding from 
other sources and coastal erosion can be found in Table 2 . More information can also be found on the 
The Flood Hub website .

The coast is a particularly dynamic environment and can be a risk for those living and working by the 
sea. The Environment Agency have a national strategic overview of coastal flood and erosion risks and 
sets the direction for how these risks should be managed . The North West coast is managed by the 
North West and North Wales Coastal Group which oversees the management of the coast through the 
delivery of the Shoreline Management Plan (SMP). The SMP identifies the most sustainable approach 
to manage the coastline and aims to reduce risk to people and the environment in the short-term 
(0-20 years), medium-term (20-50 years) and long-term (50-100 years) . The SMP is reviewed every 
10 years and has four policy options: Hold the Line, Advance the Line, Managed Realignment and No 
Active Intervention . Sefton Council is the coastal protection authority for the borough of Sefton and 
seeks to deliver the actions as set out in the SMP . 

Page 218

Agenda Item 13

https://thefloodhub.co.uk/am-i-at-risk/?term=responsibility#section-2


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 7

The North West Coastal Group website provides information on the relevant coastal risk management 
authorities and how we work in partnership to manage the coast sustainably .

Table 2: Flood sources and coastal erosion events defined plus the responsible authority.          
Highlighted are the events that are relevant to the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy.

Event Responsible Authority Description 
Surface Water Flooding              
(Local Flood Risk)

Sefton Council Occurs when water is forced to flow over land or ponds in 
low spots as it is unable to be absorbed by the soil or drain 
into the drainage network . This can occur after a heavy 
rainfall event . 

Ground Water Flooding             
(Local Flood Risk)

Sefton Council Occurs when water is forced to flow out of the ground due 
to high water tables in the surrounding area .

Flooding from Ordinary 
Watercourses (Local Flood Risk)

Sefton Council Occurs when water flows out of smaller watercourses such 
as streams, brooks and drainage ditches . This can occur 
when the capacity is exceeded or due to a blockage .

Coastal Flooding Environment Agency Occurs when coastal areas are inundated by the sea . This 
can occur due to extremely high water levels or failure of 
raised coastal defences 

Coastal Erosion Coastal Protection Authority - 
Sefton Council 

Occurs through the constant wearing away of the land or 
beach . 

River Flooding Environment Agency Occurs when flood water originates from main river 
channels (designated by the Environment Agency), this 
can occur due to overtopping of river banks or a failure of a 
raised embankment

Sewer Flooding United Utilities Occurs when foul water surcharges from sewers . This can 
occur due to capacity exceedance or blockages .

Road, Drain or Gully flooding Highways England (Trunk Roads), 
Sefton Council Highways (Locally 
adopted highway)

Flooding or ponding on the highway . This can occur due to 
capacity exceedance or blockages .

Canal Flooding Canal & River Trust Flood water originates from a canal . This can occur when 
the level of the water in the canal becomes too high and 
overtops or if there is a breach .

Page 219

Agenda Item 13

https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 8

1 .3 .3 A Joint Approach to Managing Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk
The varied responsibilities for flood risk management and nature of flooding mean that Sefton Council 
works with other risk management authorities, communities and riparian owners to reduce flood and 
coastal erosion risk across Sefton . 

Merseyside Partnership

We work in partnership with all Merseyside LLFAs and other partner risk management authorities 
to ensure we manage flood risk collectively. We also collaborate with wider stakeholders and 
groups (please refer to Section 6 of the Business Plan) to provide a broadscale approach to flood 
risk management . Figure 3 depicts the working relationships between these organisations across 
Merseyside and beyond . 

Figure 3: Partnership working to deliver Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management across Merseyside

The Strategic Merseyside Flood Partnership Group coordinates flood risk management across 
Merseyside and is supported by a Tactical Officers Group that coordinates activity and shares best 
practice . Furthermore, each Local Authority hosts a Local Operational Group where local issues are 
discussed in detail .

Individuals and Communities

Individual property and business owners have a responsibility to protect their property from flooding. 
Land, property and business owners should take appropriate steps to ensure that their property and 
contents are protected .

The Flood Hub is a North West regionally funded website to support our communities in 
understanding how they can become more resilient and resistant to flooding. 

Page 220

Agenda Item 13

https://thefloodhub.co.uk/


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 9

Riparian Owners

Under common law, riparian owners have responsibilities for the stretch of watercourse they own . 
A riparian owner possesses land in which a watercourse runs on, through, beneath or adjacent to it . 
If the land is adjacent to a watercourse it is assumed that the landowner owns up to the centre of 
the watercourse, unless it is owned by someone else (confirmation through a land registry check). 
Under the Land Drainage Act (1991), riparian landowners have a legal responsibility to maintain 
the free passage of water through the section of watercourse that flows through their land. The 
responsibilities of landowners are outlined in the GOV .UK webpage . The Flood Hub provides advice and 
guidance on riparian ownership .

Developers

Developers have a responsibility to ensure developments are sustainably drained . Sustainable 
drainage must be considered both during and post-construction . It is the responsibility of the 
developer to demonstrate that new developments do not increase flood risk to the site or surrounding 
area . It is then for the Local Planning Authority, and associated statutory consultees, to determine 
whether suitable flood risk mitigation has been demonstrated or not. The type and location of the 
development will determine whether a flood risk assessment and/or sustainable drainage strategy is 
required to manage flood risk. The LLFA is a statutory consultee on all major planning applications (≥ 
10 properties) . The Local Planning Authority is responsible for ensuring the development is undertaken 
in accordance with the approved plans such as Sefton’s Local Plan . The Local Plan is used to shape 
development in Sefton between 2015 and 2030 . The plan encourages sustainable development and 
economic growth and it gives current and future generations more opportunities to live and work in 
Sefton’s outstanding environment . Sefton Council’s robust planning procedures ensure developments 
do not increase flood risk elsewhere, but instead attempt to deliver betterment to the flood risk in the 
area . 

Page 221

Agenda Item 13

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/owning-a-watercourse
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/landowner/?term=riparian


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 10

2 Flood and Coastal Erosion in Sefton
2 .1 Sefton’s Recent History of Flooding and Erosion
Sefton has experienced several significant flooding and erosion events over recent decades. The 
borough is within a low-lying pumped catchment which contains three estuaries, a canal and is 
bordered by the Irish Sea – all these factors place Sefton at increased risk of flooding and erosion. 
Table 3 details some of the significant events to occur in the last 60 years:

Table 3: Historic flood and erosion events in Sefton

Period Event
1970s The breach of a secondary sea defence in Crossens resulted in the inundation of 110 properties .

1990s The Leeds and Liverpool Canal burst its banks flooding over 200 properties in Maghull.

2010 50 properties were flooded in Seaforth after heavy and prolonged rainfall

2012 40 properties in Maghull were flooded after heavy and prolonged rainfall.

2013/2014 Winter storms resulted in the loss of 11 m of coastline at Crosby (average erosion rate of approximately 1-2 m per 
year) .

2015 Extensive flooding across the borough was prevented from entering properties due to actions undertaken by the 
local community and fire service.

2019 Significant flooding from Dover’s Brook, Maghull, as a result of heavy rainfall causing the highest recorded water 
levels on the brook since a gauge was installed in 2012 at 2 .51m . Flood waters were prevented from damaging 
properties due to quick action from the local community, Sefton Council and the Environment Agency

2020 - High groundwater levels in the borough and flooding incidents in Formby and Maghull following the wettest 
February on record for the UK .

- Storm Ciara caused a loss of approximately 10 .3 m of coastline from Cabin Hill, south of Formby point . 

-Summer storms caused significant flooding in Maghull and Thornton.

2021 Two Severe Flood Warnings were issued to 439 properties on the evening of 20 January 2021, with evacuations 
proceedings initiated from some residents . 

A new peak level was recorded at Dover’s Bridge gauging station of 2 .55m on 20 January 2021 which saw Dover’s 
Brook overtop its embankments at low points flooding Sefton Lane. The increased river levels also prevented surface 
water drains discharging into Dover’s Brook and flooding Sefton Drive.

The record river levels experienced during Storm Christoph breached flood defences on the River Alt next to the 
Environment Agency’s Lunt Meadows Flood Storage Basin and nature reserve, managed by Lancashire Wildlife Trust . 
The breach resulted in river levels dropping rapidly .

The Severe Warnings were downgraded in the early hours of 21 January as we received less rain than forecast, 
along with river levels dropping rapidly. This appears to have been key in preventing the extensive flooding forecast 
in Maghull .  

Flood risk is not equal across the Sefton borough – Figure 4 displays the current understanding of 
borough-wide flood risk in Sefton (more detail can be found on the GOV .UK website) . Figure 4 displays 
the extent of flood risk based on a 1 in 1000 event (0.1% probability in any given year) taking into 
account climate change allowances and the number of houses at risk of inundation . Furthermore, a 
1 in 100 event (1% probability in any given year) (includes climate change allowance) could result in 
approximately 72,000 being impacted by external flooding in their gardens or adjacent roads and 

Page 222

Agenda Item 13

https://www.gov.uk/check-flood-risk


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 11

Figure 4: Flood risk from all sources in Sefton for a 1 in 1000 (0 .1%) event .

15,600 are at risk of internal flooding. Areas at higher risk of flooding are Maghull, Formby, Crosby 
(Figure 4) .

Page 223

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 12

Sefton currently has both an eroding and accreting coastline - Figure 5 displays the areas currently 
at risk of erosion . The coast is protected by a variety of hard and soft sea defences . Soft defences, 
such as the sand dunes in Formby, offer a degree of protection but can be vulnerable during storm 
events, which can erode several metres of dunes during a single event . Saltmarsh environments, 
such as those present in Southport, also offer useful natural defence by reducing the energy of 
incoming waves . Current hard defences, such as the sea wall in Crosby, has provided excellent 
protection to local communities but some of these assets are reaching the end of their design 
life and potentially pose a risk if they are not maintained or replaced . The SMP provides the policy 
context for the long term future of these assets . 

In addition to erosion, there is also large sections of accretion where sediment gathers and builds 
out towards the Irish Sea . These accreting sections cause beach levels to rise, sand dunes to 
increase and saltmarshes to form and improve the coastal defences function they provide .

Figure 5: Coastal erosion risk in Sefton (Red lines show areas at highest risk) . Please see SMP for more details .

Page 224

Agenda Item 13

https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans/


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 13

2 .2 Challenges to Risk Management in Sefton
Flooding and coastal erosion are significant risks to our borough. These risks can be influenced and 
exacerbated by several overarching factors which make flood and coastal erosion risk management in 
Sefton more challenging . These are:

Climate Change 

Climate change is having a significant impact on future river flows, rainfall and coastal dynamics. The 
UK’s average temperature has increased by 0 .8 degrees since 1961-1990, with a sea-level rise of 16 
cm for the UK since 1900 (National FCERM Strategy for England, 2020) . The UK Climate Projections 
2018 (UKCP18) illustrate a range of future climate scenarios up to 2100 which are relevant to the 
management of flood and coastal erosion risk: 

 ■ Sea levels are projected to rise over the 21st century and beyond under all emission scenarios . 
Therefore, we can expect to see an increase in both the frequency and magnitude of extreme 
water levels around the UK coastline . 

 ■ Average summer rainfall could decrease by up to 47% by 2070, while there could be up to 35% 
more precipitation in winter . What rainfall does occur is predicted to be more intense over a 
shorter duration, which could lead to an increase in surface water flood risk. 

The projections provided in UKCP18 can be used as a tool to guide national and local decision-making 
and boost resilience – whether that is aiding future developments plans, increasing flood defences, 
designing new infrastructure or adjusting land management for drier summers .

As a result of the UKCP18 projections, several Merseyside Local Authorities, including Sefton and 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, have declared a climate emergency . The declaration 
commits us to tackle carbon emissions, raising awareness of climate change and activating change 
through local action . This strategy will support the delivery of adaptation where necessary . 

Page 225

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 14

Predominant Surface Water Flood Risk 

Surface water flooding has the potential to occur anywhere but is particularly prevalent following 
short, intense storms. These surface water flood events can occur in all areas of Sefton. Sefton has 
the highest number of properties at high risk of surface water flooding, both in Merseyside and in the 
North West. The increased risk of surface water is largely a result of Sefton’s naturally flat topography, 
coastal boundary, large areas of urban development and the reliance on pumping stations to drain 
the catchment .  

Ageing Drainage Infrastructure 

Sefton has a large network of ageing culverts, sewers and drains which may need significant 
investment to replace or upgrade them . This ageing infrastructure, along with pressures from 
development and a tendency for increased paving, such as driveways, poses problems to the drainage 
network. Furthermore, ad-hoc modifications to watercourses such as culverting and flow redirection 
can increase pressure on the ageing network, particularly when modifications are undertaken without 
consent .

Rising Groundwater Levels 

Merseyside is situated on an aquifer that, for approximately 150 years, was heavily exploited . The 
water table was drawn considerably below its natural level . Upon cessation of pumping, the aquifer 
has undergone recharge, which has resulted in rising groundwater levels in some areas . The rising 
groundwater can cause groundwater flooding which also means that there is less capacity for the 
absorption of rainfall into the ground which can also exacerbate surface water flooding. Groundwater 
levels also interact with tidal levels along the coast resulting in variability in the level of dune aquifers 
and subsequent flooding. 

Coastline Dynamics 

Coastal flooding and erosion are serious considerations for the management of Sefton’s 22-mile 
coastline . Sefton’s coastline varies between hard engineered defence structures and natural soft sea 
defences . 

The North West and North Wales Shoreline Management Plan (SMP) provides recommendations on 
whether to maintain Sefton’s current coastal defences (‘hold the line’), whether to allow to coast to 
evolve naturally (‘no active intervention’) or whether defences should be set back further (‘managed 
realignment’). Current sea walls and embankments are designed to protect against both flooding and 
erosion . Coastal erosion does pose a risk to the sustainability of current natural defences, as well as 
the potential loss of important habitats (e .g . dune systems at Formby point) . Furthermore, some of 
Sefton’s hard defences are reaching the end of their design life and potentially pose a risk if they are 
not sufficiently maintained or replaced. The coastline is also susceptible to changes in the coastal 
process dynamics driven by climate change . Rising sea levels and changes to weather patterns will 
likely see the eroding areas expand and a reduction in those that are accreting .

Page 226

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 15

3 Future Ambitions for Sefton
When looking to Sefton’s future the vision and ambitions for FCERM must take a holistic approach by 
integrating national and local ambitions .  

The Local Flood Risk Management Strategy is aligned to the Sefton Vision 2030 and the work 
delivered through the strategy will aid all aspects of life in the borough . The Sefton Vision 2030 has 
a clear commitment to sustainability and all our future FCERM actions must incorporate this vision 
to ensure long-term viability . By working with and supporting local communities and businesses we 
aim to ensure a strong, knowledgeable and resilient community . By continually seeking technological 
advances we aim to be at the forefront of a sustainable future that uses evidence-based decision 
making in the management of flood and coastal erosion risk. 

On a local level, the Sefton 2030 Vision provides the ambitions for a sustainable Sefton Borough and 
these are combined with the ambitions of the National Flood Risk Management Strategy for England . 
The integration of national and local agendas provides a locally sustainable but nationally coherent 
approach to flood risk management in Sefton. 

The Business plan details the specific actions that will be delivered to reduce the risk of flood and 
coastal erosion in Sefton . It also gives information on the relevant funding sources and timescales 
on when these actions will be completed . The Business Plan is kept as a separate document so it 
can be updated regularly to reflect changes in revenue budgets, funding progress and new scheme 
identification. The Business Plan provides transparency for our communities but is primarily aimed at 
Council decision-makers and partnered agencies . 

Page 227

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 16

4 Potential Funding Sources
Under the FWMA 2010, Sefton Council has allocated annual revenue funding to undertake its duties 
and maintain watercourses in its ownership . The annual funding is spread across several services 
depending upon who is responsible for the land or watercourse .

However, Sefton Council seeks additional funding to enable it to better manage the risk of flooding 
and coastal erosion . The following funding sources are available:

 ■ Flood Defence Grant in Aid (GiA): This is money from Defra which is administered by the 
Environment Agency . The amount of GiA a scheme is eligible for is determined by the outcomes 
and benefits it will deliver, with a focus on homes being better protected from flooding and 
coastal erosion. Outcome Measures reflect financial, environmental, health, social and FCERM 
benefits. Where there is a shortfall in GiA, partnership funding contributions from other sources 
or a reduction in costs is required to achieve project viability . Funding allocations for these 
sources are subject to a successful and approved business case . 

 ■ Local Levy: The North West RFCC can choose to support projects that are either not eligible for 
GiA, or to support projects where there is a shortfall in GiA by the allocation of Local Levy . 

 ■ Partnership Funding: Where GiA in Aid and/or Local Levy does not fully support the delivery of 
a project, the LLFA can provide additional funding through their contributions or by seeking 
external contributions from partners and communities who may benefit from the project. 
Funding allocations for these sources are subject to a successful, approved business cases . 

 ■ Quick Win Funding: The Merseyside FCERM Partnership has an annual allocation of £50,000 for 
small interventions that can improve the management of risk .

 ■ Prudential Borrowing: The Council may undertake prudential borrowing to enable an essential 
capital scheme to progress, but this is dependent upon identifying revenue budget efficiencies 
in future years to make funding available to meet the cost of repaying the loan . 

 ■ Other Grants: Sefton Council will seek to secure funding from other grants as and when they 
become available .

 ■ Highways Funding: The Council is responsible for keeping the highway free from flooding and 
invests money in its Highway Drainage Asset to achieve this . There are opportunities to use this 
funding to achieve wider outcomes relating to flooding as well as keeping the highway free from 
flooding.

Page 228

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 17

5 Monitor and Review
The Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy will remain in place up to 2030 with 
bi-annual reviews that will allow new regulations or evidence to be incorporated to ensure the 
Strategy remains fit for purpose. The Strategy will also be subject to annual review by Sefton Council’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee . Furthermore, each of the actions proposed in the accompanying 
Business Plan will have a project programme which will be reviewed monthly .

Our knowledge base will be kept up to date through our asset inspections and survey programme for 
both coastal and inland assets . Information on coastal evolution will be provided by the North West 
Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme . 

Page 229

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 18

6 Wider Environmental Context
This Local Flood Risk Management Strategy has been produced based on the principle of 
sustainability . Therefore, Sefton Council aims to ensure any actions outlined in these documents 
do not produce detrimental impacts to the environment and, instead, encourage sustainability .
Consequently, a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and a Strategic Environmental Assessment 
(SEA) Screening Opinion were required to highlight any potential areas of concern . 

The HRA found that due to the strategic high level of the Strategy and nature of supporting Business 
Plan actions, it is concluded that the Strategy will have no likely significant effects on the national 
site network and Ramsar sites. It is, however, recommended, where appropriate, subsequent plan / 
project-level HRAs will likely be required (the HRA is available on request) .

The SEA Screening Opinion was undertaken to establish whether a full SEA would be required for 
the Strategy and Business Plan . The screening opinion considered whether the Sefton Local Flood 
and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy and Business Plan is likely to lead to significant 
environmental effects in conjunction with the SEA Regulations . The screening has considered a 
number of potential environmental effects that may arise as a result of the Strategy and Business 
Plan . Whilst some limited environmental effects have the potential to take place as a result of the 
Strategy and Business Plan, it is considered that these are unlikely to be significant in the context of 
the SEA Regulations and their requirements .

The SEA topics where effects have the most potential to be significant relates to climatic factors. 
This is unsurprising given that the remit of the Plan is to manage flooding and coastal erosion (which 
should help to improve resilience) . However, the effects would no doubt be positive, and further 
examination of the strategy through an SEA process would offer little insight into the nature of 
effects . A key factor in determining this SEA screening opinion is the high level nature of the Strategy 
and Business Plan; meaning that there are no policies or measures that will directly affect land use . 
Where there are references to specific projects and actions, these are related to existing Plan actions 
or will be delivered in lower tier plans, programmes, strategies and projects . As was concluded in the 
HRA screening, it is considered that a more appropriate level for assessment would be for subsequent 
plan / project level SEA / EIA. 

For these reasons, it is considered that the Strategy and Business Plan is not subject to the 
requirements of the SEA Regulations . As such, a full SEA process meeting the requirements of the SEA 
Regulations is not deemed to be required to accompany the development of the Sefton Flood and 
Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy and Business Plan (the SEA is available on request) .

Page 230

Agenda Item 13



Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 19

7 Useful Links
 ■ Flood and Water Management Act 2010:         

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents

 ■ Water Industry 1991 Act:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents

 ■ Town and Country Planning Act 1990:         
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents

 ■ Water Resources Act 1991:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/57/contents

 ■ Reservoirs Act 1975:             
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1975/23

 ■ Land Drainage Act 1991:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/59/contents

 ■ Public Health Act 1936:           
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo5and1Edw8/26/49

 ■ Environment Bill 2020:            
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-2020

 ■ Agriculture Bill 2019-2021:           
https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2019-21/agriculture.html

 ■ Civil Contingencies Act 2004:            
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents

 ■ National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England:                             
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-
management-strategy-for-england--2

 ■ Flood Risk Regulations 2009:            
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3042/contents/made

 ■ National Planning Policy Framework 2012:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2

 ■ 25 Year Environment Plan 2018:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan

 ■ Drainage and Wastewater Management Plan Framework:       
https://www.water.org.uk/policy-topics/managing-sewage-and-drainage/drainage-and-
wastewater-management-plans

 ■ The Water Environment Regulations 2017:         
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made

 ■ North West Regional Flood and Coastal Committee Business Plan:                                               
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/north-west-regional-flood-and-coastal-committee

Page 231

Agenda Item 13

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/56/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/57/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1975/23
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1991/59/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/Geo5and1Edw8/26/49
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-2020
https://services.parliament.uk/bills/2019-21/agriculture.html
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/36/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-strategy-for-england--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flood-and-coastal-erosion-risk-management-strategy-for-england--2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/3042/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan
https://www.water.org.uk/policy-topics/managing-sewage-and-drainage/drainage-and-wastewater-management-plans
https://www.water.org.uk/policy-topics/managing-sewage-and-drainage/drainage-and-wastewater-management-plans
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/407/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/north-west-regional-flood-and-coastal-committee


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 20

 ■ Flood Risk Management Plans:          
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-management-plans-frmps-responsibilities

 ■ Catchment Flood Management Plans:         
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/catchment-flood-management-plans

 ■ River Basin Management Plans:          
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans-2015

 ■ Shoreline Management Plans:          
https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans

 ■ Merseyside FCERM Partnership Business Plan:        
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Merseyside-FCERM-Partnership-
Business-Plan-2019-2022-Version-1-June-2019-4 .pdf

 ■ Sefton Vision 2030:            
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/vision-and-core-purpose/

 ■ Preliminary Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Management Plan:     
www.sefton.gov.uk/advice-benefits/crime-and-emergencies/flooding-advice.aspx

 ■ Strategic Flood Risk Assessment:         
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/2389/en3-strategic-flood-risk-assessment-capita-symonds-
march-2013 .pdf

 ■ Surface Water Management Plan:         
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1442/sefton_swmp.pdf

 ■ Multi Agency Resilience Framework:         
https://merseysideprepared.org.uk

 ■ Sefton Coast Plan:           
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s70764/Appendix%201.%20Sefton%20
Coast%20Plan .pdf

 ■ Local Plan:             
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/localplan

 ■ Consenting and Enforcement Policy:          
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s72513/Enc.%203%20for%20Flood%20and%20
Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20Policies .pdf

 ■ Flood Investigation Policy:           
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s71150/Enc.%204%20for%20Flood%20
and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20draft%20policies .pdf

 ■ Climate Emergency Declaration:          
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/environmental-protection/energy-and-environment/climate-
emergency

Page 232

Agenda Item 13

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-management-plans-frmps-responsibilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/catchment-flood-management-plans
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans-2015
https://www.mycoastline.org.uk/shoreline-management-plans
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Merseyside-FCERM-Partnership-Business-Plan-2019-2022-Version-1-June-2019-4.pdf
https://thefloodhub.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Merseyside-FCERM-Partnership-Business-Plan-2019-2022-Version-1-June-2019-4.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/your-council/vision-and-core-purpose/
www.sefton.gov.uk/advice-benefits/crime-and-emergencies/flooding-advice.aspx
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/2389/en3-strategic-flood-risk-assessment-capita-symonds-march-2013.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/2389/en3-strategic-flood-risk-assessment-capita-symonds-march-2013.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/1442/sefton_swmp.pdf
https://merseysideprepared.org.uk
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s70764/Appendix%201.%20Sefton%20Coast%20Plan.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s70764/Appendix%201.%20Sefton%20Coast%20Plan.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/localplan
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s72513/Enc.%203%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20Policies.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/documents/s72513/Enc.%203%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20Policies.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s71150/Enc.%204%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20draft%20policies.pdf
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s71150/Enc.%204%20for%20Flood%20and%20Coastal%20Erosion%20Risk%20Management%20draft%20policies.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/environmental-protection/energy-and-environment/climate-emergency
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/environmental-protection/energy-and-environment/climate-emergency


Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy

PAGE 21Page 233

Agenda Item 13



Page 234

Agenda Item 13



NOTICE OF MOTION

TO BE PUT TO THE COUNCIL MEETING ON 3 MARCH 2022

PROPOSED BY: Councilor Dave Irving

SECONDED BY: Councilor Maria Bennett

TITLE:       Tree Preservation Orders – Removal of Trees for Financial Gain  

                                                                   

In May 2021 Sefton Council amended the constitution for dealing with applications for 
works under Tree Preservation Orders or for tree works in Conservation Areas.  This 
means that all applications are excluded from the Planning Committee irrespective of 
any member’s written request.  We agree up to a point with this ruling, however, when 
an application is received which could be considered as a reason for financial gain, 
we believe that for transparency any such application should be considered by the 
Planning Committee at the request of the ward councilor. 

This anomaly was highlighted recently when a Planning Application was received from 
a Golf Club in Formby requesting to remove eleven healthy mature trees all with tree 
preservation orders.  This was to make one of the fair-ways longer on the course by 
forty yards.   The applicant claimed it would create a new championship tee for 
members and visitors to enjoy.  In light of the current concern over climate change and 
the detrimental effect that the removal of so many mature trees would have on the 
environment we believe such applications that appear to be for financial gain to be 
inappropriate  We believe that the application should have been heard by the Planning 
Committee in order for them to make the ultimate decision as it was obvious that the 
application was for financial reasons.   I therefore ask this council to support this 
motion,

Council Resolution:

That Planning Applications received for the removal of Trees, which have tree 
preservation orders on them for financial gain should be heard by a Planning 
Committee if requested by the Ward Councilor.

Page 235

Agenda Item 15



This page is intentionally left blank



SEFTON LABOUR GROUP

NOTICE OF MOTION

TO BE PUT TO THE COUNCIL MEETING ON 3 MARCH 2022

Moved by: Councillor Ian Maher

Seconded by: Councillor John Fairclough

MERSEYSIDE FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE IS ‘OUTSTANDING’ AT PREVENTING 
FIRES, RESPONDING TO MAJOR INCIDENTS AND MAKING THE BEST USE OF 
RESOURCES

This Council:-

puts on record its thanks and congratulations to the Merseyside Fire and Rescue 

Authority and all the dedicated staff of the service for, yet again, achieving the highest 

national marking, being awarded three levels of outstanding, from HM Inspector of Fire 

and Rescue Services.    

In the face of Government financial cuts and indifference, they have kept Merseyside, 

and Sefton in particular, safer than any other part of the Country.

Page 237

Agenda Item 16



This page is intentionally left blank



SEFTON LABOUR GROUP

NOTICE OF MOTION

TO BE PUT TO THE COUNCIL MEETING ON 3 MARCH 2022

Moved by: Councillor Carla Thomas

Seconded by: 

Policy of Mandatory Disability Pay Gap Reporting 

Council notes:-

1. the Trade Union Congress (TUC) has declared 31st October 2021 to be Disability 
Pay Gap Day.  The TUC used data from the Office of National Statistics Labour 
Force Survey to show disabled workers effectively work for free for the last 60 
days (around 8 and a half weeks) of the year and stop getting paid on 1 November.  
The study found that the pay gap for disabled workers was £3,800 per year with 
median hourly pay for a disabled worker £11.55, whilst for non-disabled workers 
it was £13.45.  This shows a Disability Pay Gap of 16.5%.  Disabled women face 
a bigger gap being paid on average 36% (£3.68 an hour, or around £6,700 a  year) 
less than non-disabled men.

2. factors contributing to low pay are that disabled workers are over-represented in 
lower paid jobs like caring, leisure and other services and sales and customer 
services, and under-represented in senior and managerial roles.  Disabled 
workers have an increased likelihood of being in part time work, which is generally 
paid less than full-time jobs.  Some disabled people leave education earlier than 
non-disabled people, but even when disabled workers have the same or 
equivalent skill set as a non-disabled person they are still paid less.

3. the TUC has asked government to make disability pay gap reporting mandatory 
for all employers with more than 50 employees, with a duty to produce targeted 
action plans identifying the stops they will take to address any gaps.

This council believes:

1. disabled workers should have equal parity with non-disabled workers and the 
disability pay gap must be reduced as far as possible; and

2. the TUC are right to ask central government to make mandatory disability pay gap 
reporting mandatory and that Sefton Council should set a good example by 
reporting on any disability pay gap and produce targeted action plans to address 
identified gaps.

Council, therefore, is asked to:

a) request the Chief Executive of Sefton Council to commence disability pay gap 
reporting and to produce targeted action plans identifying the steps to be taken to 
address any gaps that may be identified as soon as possible, whilst recognising 
that the Council is a Disability Confident Employer and provides support for 
disabled employees through providing reasonable adjustments and Occupational 

Page 239

Agenda Item 17



Health support where necessary. The issues around reporting, support and the 
overall agenda should be taken to the Council’s Corporate Equalities Group.

b) write to the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Metro Mayor asking that 
the rest of the Liverpool City Region Authorities be encouraged to implement a 
policy of disability pay gap reporting.

Page 240

Agenda Item 17



COUNCIL MOTION

3 MARCH 2022

PROPOSED BY: Councillor Pugh

SECONDED BY: Councillor Lewis

Outcome of Levelling up Bid

This council expresses its regret and bewilderment at the outcome of the Levelling 
up bids for Bootle and Crosby.

Page 241

Agenda Item 18



This page is intentionally left blank



SEFTON LABOUR GROUP

NOTICE OF MOTION

TO BE PUT TO THE COUNCIL MEETING ON 3 MARCH 2022

Moved by: Councillor Trish Hardy

Seconded by: 

Elections Bill 

Sefton Council recognises the importance of ensuring that elections fair and accessible 
for all voters. 

Sefton Council notes that the Elections Bill is set to bring in major changes to national 
elections, including the introduction of compulsory photographic ID to vote. 

Council believes that this change will act a barrier to people voting and increase 
inequality in the electoral process. 

Council notes with concern that currently 3.5 million people in the UK do not have any 
form of expensive photographic ID. 

Council notes that these changes are estimated to cost the taxpayer £180 million and 
will create unnecessary bureaucracy to Councils. 

Council believes that at a time when voter turnout is declining, we should be doing all we 
can to make it easier not harder for people to vote. 

Sefton Council doesn’t want to see people being turned away at the ballot box because 
of these changes and resolves to support the #HandsOffOurVote campaign by:
 
1. Writing to Rt Hon Michael Gove MP, Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing 

and Communities to highlight our opposition to these changes.
 
2. Writing to Sefton’s local MPs asking them to raise these concerns in Parliament. 

Page 243

Agenda Item 19



This page is intentionally left blank



SEFTON LABOUR GROUP

NOTICE OF MOTION

TO BE PUT TO THE COUNCIL MEETING ON 3 MARCH 2022

Moved by: Councillor Diane Roscoe

Seconded by: Councillor 

The Real Truth Legacy Project and Hillsborough Day

Sefton Council commends survivors and the families of the ninety-seven fans who lost 
their lives as a result of the Hillsborough disaster for their three-decade campaign for 
justice. 

Council also notes that Kevin Sampson’s recent drama for ITV, Anne - considered a 
masterpiece by many - has highlighted once again the fact that, despite the ninety-
seven having been unlawfully killed, to date no individuals or organisations have been 
held accountable for their deaths.

Council further notes that the impact of the campaign of lies, smears and propaganda 
orchestrated by South Yorkshire Police in 1989 and promoted by willing politicians and 
media continues to this day, with far too many members of the public even now 
parroting discredited lies about the behaviour of Liverpool fans in attendance at 
Hillsborough on 15 April 1989. 

It is not surprising to council that many families of the ninety-seven and Hillsborough 
survivors have expressed despair at this continuation of lies about Hillsborough.

Sefton Council therefore undertakes to support the ‘Real Truth Legacy Project’ led by 
Ian Byrne in conjunction with many Hillsborough families and survivors. This is a 
campaign which seeks to ensure that current and future generations learn the truth 
about Hillsborough, and to ensure that schoolchildren in Liverpool City Region initially 
have access to a definitive account of the disaster and the subsequent cover-up. 

Council hereby notes its support for a key element of The Real Truth Legacy Project 
which is to have education about Hillsborough added to the National Curriculum, 
including a dedicated “Hillsborough Day” in the Liverpool City Region, to take place on 
the nearest Friday to the anniversary of the tragedy on 15th April each year.

The Hillsborough Day would see every Liverpool City Region primary and secondary 
school taking part in a special assembly to mark the anniversary and to learn more 
about the disaster, the cover-up and the fight for justice through dedicated teaching 
resource packs made available to every school in the city region by local education 
leads.

For the sake of past and future generations, this is something Sefton Council feels it 
must get behind and calls on all councils in the Liverpool City Region and beyond to 
add their support to the Real Truth Legacy Project.

Page 245

Agenda Item 20



This page is intentionally left blank



NOTICE OF MOTION

TO BE PUT TO THE COUNCIL MEETING ON 3 MARCH 2022

Moved by: Councillor Wilson

Seconded by: Councillor Carr

A Fair Deal for Lydiate, Maghull and Aintree – Return the Double Rating Rebate 
to the Town and Parish Councils

This Council notes that as part of the overall council tax precepts for this year, that in 
addition to Sefton Precept, the precepts agreed by both Lydiate Parish Council 
(8.67%) and Maghull Town Council (12%) are significantly in excess of inflation rates.

Parish and Town councils are now having to significantly increase the precept and 
adjust budgets because of the continued inequity in the funding of Parks within the 
Borough.

Unlike other areas of the Borough (Bootle, Crosby, Formby and Southport) there are 
no Sefton maintained Parks in Lydiate, Maghull and Aintree and these are paid for by 
separate Parish and Town Council precepts. This has been the case for many years 
and was initially accepted by the Parishes as all Councils were hit with Austerity 
measures. This can no longer be accepted without a challenge, as it is no longer 
sustainable.

Previously this inequity in Parks funding was accepted by the Council and Town/Parish 
Councils were given a financial rebate but this ended some years back. This rebate 
amounts to approximately £140,000 per year to Maghull and £46,000 to Lydiate

With a multi £Million-pound budget it is not beyond the wit of Council Officers and 
Members to make good this lost provision and right a wrong to the residents and 
Council Tax-payers of Lydiate, Maghull and Aintree

Accordingly, the Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services 
be requested to look at this inequity and report back to Council in due course on 
proposals that will be a Fair Deal for Lydiate and Maghull as well as Aintree.

Page 247

Agenda Item 21



This page is intentionally left blank



NOTICE OF MOTION

TO BE PUT TO THE COUNCIL MEETING ON 3 MARCH 2022

Moved by: Councillor Carr

Seconded by: Councillor Wilson

Worker’s Rights - Licensed Private Hire Operator UBER 

We bring this motion to Council to highlight the recent Supreme Court ruling 
identifying workers’ rights within the gig economy brought by the GMB union against 
the licensed private hire operator UBER. We recognise and accept the ruling that 
drivers operating on this and similar operating platforms can be said 
to hold worker rights. As such it is the responsibility of operators who engage drivers 
as workers to ensure they provide written terms which reference the 
entitlement to social protections including the national minimum wage, holiday pay, 
sick pay and national insurance, PAYE and right to a pension contribution, to those 
drivers who fall in to the category of workers. These rights should be enforced by 
way of attaching requirements as a condition of the Operators’ Licence granted 
under S.55 of the Local Government and Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976.
 
The condition would simply require relevant operators to ensure all drivers who fall in 
to the category of a worker are aware of their legal rights as a worker.

This Supreme Court judgement has shown once again that trade unions are a force 
for good in society. We congratulate GMB on bringing the case on behalf of its 
members and call on all workers in Sefton to join a union.

Page 249

Agenda Item 22



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	7 Annual Review of Asset Management Strategy and Asset Disposal Policy
	Enc. 1 for Annual Review of Asset Management Strategy and Asset Disposal Policy
	Enc. 2 for Annual Review of Asset Management Strategy and Asset Disposal Policy

	8 Prudential Indicators 2022/23
	9 Treasury Management Policy and Strategy 2022/23
	10 Capital Strategy 2022/23 to 2026/27
	11 Robustness of the 2022/23 Budget Estimates and the Adequacy of Reserves – Local Government Act 2003 - Section 25
	12 Revenue and Capital Budget Plan 2022/23 – 2024/25 and Council Tax 2022/23
	Appendix A - Individual School Budgets 2022-23
	Appendix B - Draft Council Budget Summary 2022/23
	Appendix C - Capital Programme 2022-23 - 2024-25

	13 Adoption of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy and Business Plan
	Enc. 2 for Adoption of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management strategy and business plan
	1. Introduction 
	2. National & Local Integration
	3. Funding
	4. FCERM Actions
	5. Summary of Projects

	Enc. 1 for Adoption of the Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management strategy and business plan
	1 	Introduction
	1.1	�What is a Local Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy?
	1.2	Legislative Context
	1.2.1	�National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England (2020)
	1.2.2	North West Regional Flood & Coastal Committee Business Plan
	1.2.3	�Merseyside Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk Management Partnership Business Plan
	1.2.4	Sefton’s 2030 Vision
	1.3.1	What is Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk?
	1.3.2	Who is Responsible?
	1.3.3	A Joint Approach to Managing Flood & Coastal Erosion Risk


	2	Flood and Coastal Erosion in Sefton
	2.1	Sefton’s Recent History of Flooding and Erosion
	2.2	Challenges to Risk Management in Sefton

	3	Future Ambitions for Sefton
	4	Potential Funding Sources
	5	Monitor and Review
	6	Wider Environmental Context
	7	Useful Links


	15 Motion Submitted by Councillor Irving - Tree Preservation Orders - Removal of Trees for Financial Gain
	16 Motion Submitted by Councillor Ian Maher - Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service
	17 Motion Submitted by Councillor Thomas - Policy of Mandatory Disability Pay Gap Reporting
	18 Motion Submitted by Councillor Pugh - Outcome of Levelling Up Bids
	19 Motion Submitted by Councillor Hardy - Elections Bill
	20 Motion Submitted by Councillor Roscoe - The Real Truth Legacy Project and Hillsborough Day
	21 Motion Submitted by Councillor Wilson - A Fair Deal for Lydiate, Maghull and Aintree - Return the Double Rating Rebate to the Town and Parish Councils
	22 Motion Submitted by Councillor Carr - Worker's Rights - Licensed Private Hire Operator UBER

